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RAYTHEON COMPANY 
 
PART I.    FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
 
ITEM 1.    FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
RAYTHEON COMPANY 
- ---------------- 
BALANCE SHEETS (Unaudited) 
 
 
 
                                                                          June 30, 2002       Dec. 31, 2001 
                                                                          -------------       ------------- 
                                                                                    (In millions) 
                                                                                         
ASSETS 
Current assets 
    Cash and cash equivalents                                               $    1,642          $    1,214 
    Accounts receivable, less allowance for 
       doubtful accounts                                                           461                 480 
    Contracts in process                                                         3,563               3,204 
    Inventories                                                                  2,083               2,030 
    Deferred federal and foreign income taxes                                      649                 669 
    Prepaid expenses and other current assets                                      119                 309 
    Assets from discontinued operations                                            105               1,631 
                                                                            ----------          ---------- 
       Total current assets                                                      8,622               9,537 
Property, plant, and equipment, net                                              2,319               2,196 
Goodwill, net                                                                   11,168              11,370 
Other assets, net                                                                3,588               3,572 
                                                                            ----------          ---------- 
           Total assets                                                     $   25,697          $   26,675 
                                                                            ==========          ========== 
 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Current liabilities 
    Notes payable and current portion 
       of long-term debt                                                    $    1,783          $    1,363 
    Advance payments, less contracts in 
       process                                                                     845                 883 
    Accounts payable                                                               767                 910 
    Accrued salaries and wages                                                     560                 573 
    Other accrued expenses                                                       1,468               1,529 
    Liabilities from discontinued operations                                       609                 550 
                                                                            ----------          ---------- 
       Total current liabilities                                                 6,032               5,808 
Accrued retiree benefits and other 
    long-term liabilities                                                        1,269               1,283 
Deferred federal and foreign income taxes                                          835                 563 
Long-term debt                                                                   6,038               6,874 
Mandatorily redeemable equity securities                                           857                 857 
Stockholders' equity                                                            10,666              11,290 
                                                                            ----------          ---------- 
           Total liabilities and stockholders' equity                       $   25,697          $   26,675 
                                                                            ==========          ========== 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
 
 



 
 
RAYTHEON COMPANY 
- ---------------- 
STATEMENTS OF INCOME (Unaudited) 
 
 
 
                                                                Three Months Ended                Six Months Ended 
                                                         June 30, 2002   July 1, 2001      June 30, 2002    July 1, 2001 
                                                         -------------   ------------      -------------    ------------ 
                                                                     (In millions, except per share amounts) 
                                                                                                 
Net sales                                                   $  4,095         $  4,097        $  8,006          $  7,869 
                                                            --------         --------        --------          -------- 
 
Cost of sales                                                  3,207            3,283           6,367             6,355 
Administrative and selling expenses                              313              296             607               566 
Research and development expenses                                121              123             225               245 
                                                            --------         --------        --------          -------- 
 
Total operating expenses                                       3,641            3,702           7,199             7,166 
                                                            --------         --------        --------          -------- 
Operating income                                                 454              395             807               703 
                                                            --------         --------        --------          -------- 
 
Interest expense                                                 131              183             270               372 
Interest income                                                  (10)             (12)            (17)              (21) 
Other expense (income), net                                       13              (18)             21               (48) 
                                                            --------         --------        --------          -------- 
 
Non-operating expense, net                                       134              153             274               303 
                                                            --------         --------        --------          -------- 
 
Income from continuing operations before taxes                   320              242             533               400 
Federal and foreign income taxes                                  97              106             161               170 
                                                            --------         --------        --------          -------- 
 
Income from continuing operations                                223              136             372               230 
 
Discontinued operations 
    Loss from discontinued operations                           (530)            (508)           (546)             (839) 
    Tax benefit (provision)                                      171              180             (37)              293 
                                                            --------         --------        --------          -------- 
                                                                (359)            (328)           (583)             (546) 
                                                            --------         --------        --------          -------- 
 
Loss before extraordinary item and accounting change            (136)            (192)           (211)             (316) 
 
Extraordinary gain from debt repurchases, net of tax               -                4               1                 4 
 
Change in accounting principle, net of tax                         -                -            (509)                - 
                                                            --------         --------        --------          -------- 
 
Net loss                                                    $   (136)        $   (188)       $   (719)         $   (312) 
                                                            ========         ========        ========          ======== 
 
Earnings per share from continuing operations 
    Basic                                                   $   0.56         $   0.39        $   0.94          $   0.67 
    Diluted                                                 $   0.54         $   0.38        $   0.91          $   0.66 
 
Loss per share 
    Basic                                                   $  (0.34)        $  (0.54)       $  (1.81)         $  (0.90) 
    Diluted                                                 $  (0.33)        $  (0.53)       $  (1.76)         $  (0.89) 
 
Dividends declared per share                                $   0.20         $   0.20        $   0.40          $   0.40 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
 



 
 
RAYTHEON COMPANY 
- ----------------- 
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited) 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                                 Six Months Ended 
                                                                                       June 30, 2002           July 1, 2001 
                                                                                       -------------           ------------ 
                                                                                                 (In millions) 
                                                                                                          
Cash flows from operating activities 
    Income from continuing operations                                                   $       372            $       230 
    Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing operations 
      to net cash used in operating activities, net of the 
      effect of divestitures 
        Depreciation and amortization                                                           175                    333 
        Net gain on sale of operating units                                                       -                    (74) 
        Increase in accounts receivable                                                         (41)                   (78) 
        (Increase) decrease in contracts in process                                            (355)                    56 
        Increase in inventories                                                                 (74)                  (395) 
        Decrease (increase) in current deferred federal and foreign 
            income taxes                                                                         44                   (159) 
        Decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets                                   144                     24 
        Decrease in advance payments                                                            (27)                  (109) 
        (Decrease) increase in accounts payable                                                (115)                    13 
        Decrease in accrued salaries and wages                                                  (13)                   (15) 
        Increase (decrease) in other accrued expenses                                            50                   (161) 
        Other adjustments, net                                                                  303                    260 
                                                                                        -----------            ----------- 
    Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities from 
        continuing operations                                                                   463                    (75) 
    Net cash used in operating activities from discontinued operations                         (483)                  (215) 
                                                                                        -----------            ----------- 
Net cash used in operating activities                                                           (20)                  (290) 
                                                                                        -----------            ----------- 
Cash flows from investing activities 
        Sale of financing receivables, net of repurchases                                         7                    334 
        Origination of financing receivables                                                   (141)                  (394) 
        Collection of financing receivables not sold                                             68                     55 
        Expenditures for property, plant, and equipment                                        (190)                  (187) 
        Proceeds from sales of property, plant, and equipment                                     9                      7 
        Expenditures for internal use software                                                  (52)                   (78) 
        Increase in other assets                                                                (27)                    (5) 
        Hughes defense settlement                                                               134                      - 
        Proceeds from sales of operating units and investments                                1,123                    266 
                                                                                        -----------            ----------- 
    Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities from continuing 
        operations                                                                              931                     (2) 
    Net cash used in investing activities from discontinued operations                            -                    (13) 
                                                                                        -----------            ----------- 
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities                                             931                    (15) 
                                                                                        -----------            ----------- 
Cash flows from financing activities 
        Dividends                                                                              (159)                  (136) 
        Decrease in short-term debt                                                            (356)                  (822) 
        Decrease in long-term debt                                                              (98)                  (304) 
        Issuance of equity security units                                                         -                    837 
        Issuance of common stock                                                                 61                    376 
        Proceeds under common stock plans                                                        69                     12 
                                                                                        -----------            ----------- 
Net cash used in financing activities                                                          (483)                   (37) 
                                                                                        -----------            ----------- 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                                            428                   (342) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year                                                1,214                    871 
                                                                                        -----------            ----------- 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period                                              $     1,642            $       529 
                                                                                        ===========            =========== 
 
    The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
 
 



 
 
RAYTHEON COMPANY 
- ---------------- 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Unaudited) 
 
1.  Basis of Presentation 
- ------------------------- 
 
The accompanying unaudited financial statements of Raytheon Company (the 
"Company") have been prepared on substantially the same basis as the Company's 
annual consolidated financial statements. These interim unaudited financial 
statements should be read in conjunction with the Company's Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001 and the Company's Current Report 
on Form 8-K, filed on June 28, 2002. The information furnished has been prepared 
from the accounts of the Company without audit. In the opinion of management, 
these financial statements reflect all adjustments, which are of a normal 
recurring nature, necessary for a fair presentation of the financial statements 
for the interim periods. The financial statements for all periods presented have 
been restated to reflect the disposition of Aircraft Integration Systems (AIS) 
as disclosed in Note 10, Discontinued Operations. Certain prior year amounts 
have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation. 
 
2.  Inventories 
- --------------- 
 
Inventories consisted of the following at: 
 
 
 
 
                                                                         June 30, 2002           Dec. 31, 2001 
                                                                         -------------           ------------- 
                                                                                   (In millions) 
                                                                                            
Finished goods, including used aircraft                                  $       634             $       642 
Work in process                                                                1,224                   1,111 
Materials and purchased parts                                                    372                     424 
Excess of current cost over LIFO values                                         (147)                   (147) 
                                                                         -----------             ----------- 
Total                                                                    $     2,083             $     2,030 
                                                                         ===========             =========== 
 
 
3.  Other Assets 
- ---------------- 
 
In 1994, the Company invested in Space Imaging and currently has a 31 percent 
equity investment in Space Imaging LLC. Since 1996, the Company has guaranteed a 
portion of Space Imaging's debt and currently guarantees 50 percent of a $300 
million Space Imaging loan facility that matures in 2003. There were $260 
million of Space Imaging borrowings outstanding under this facility at June 30, 
2002. To date, Space Imaging has purchased a significant amount of equipment 
from its primary investors, including the Company. The Company's investment in 
and other assets related to Space Imaging totaled $68 million at June 30, 2002. 
Space Imaging is pursuing its business plan, including assessments relative to 
future investment in replacement satellites and related financing requirements, 
and the Company, as an investor and partner, is working with its other partners 
and Space Imaging in this regard. In light of current capital market conditions, 
there can be no assurance that Space Imaging will be successful in attracting 
additional outside funding. 
 
In March 2002, the Company formed a joint venture with Flight Options, Inc. 
whereby the Company contributed its Raytheon Travel Air fractional ownership 
business and loaned the new entity $20 million. The Company's investment in and 
other assets related to the joint venture totaled $85 million at June 30, 2002. 
The new entity, Flight Options, LLC, is pursuing additional equity financing. In 
light of current capital market conditions, there can be no assurance that 
Flight Options will be successful in attracting additional outside funding. If 
Flight Options is not successful in attracting additional outside funding, the 
Company's ability to realize its investment may be impaired. 
 
In the second quarter of 2002, the Company agreed to provide $30 million of 
financing to JT3, L.L.C., a joint venture formed by the Company, under which $21 
million was outstanding at June 30, 2002. 
 
In connection with the sale of receivables, Raytheon Aircraft Receivables 
Corporation, a special purpose entity, continued in existence at June 30, 2002. 
The outstanding balance in the Company's off balance sheet receivables facility 
at June 30, 2002 was $1,218 million versus $1,448 million at December 31, 2001. 
No material gain or loss resulted from the sales of receivables. 
 
In the third quarter of 2001, the Company recorded a charge of $345 million to 
establish a reserve for estimated exposures on customer-financed assets due to 
defaults, refinancings, and remarketing of used commuter aircraft. The balance 
of this reserve was $361 million at December 31, 2001. In the first six months 
of 2002, the Company utilized $77 million of this reserve, leaving a balance of 
$284 million at June 30, 2002. 
 
4.  Notes Payable and Long-term Debt 
- ------------------------------------ 
 
In the first quarter of 2002, the Company repurchased debt with a par value of 
$96 million and recorded an extraordinary gain of $1 million, net of tax. In the 
second quarter of 2001, the Company repurchased debt with a par value of $633 
million and recorded an extraordinary gain of $4 million, net of tax. 



 
The Company's most restrictive bank agreement covenant is an interest coverage 
ratio that currently requires earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and 
amortization (EBITDA), excluding certain charges, be at least 2.5 times net 
interest expense for the prior four quarters. In July 2002, the covenant was 
amended to exclude charges of $450 million related to discontinued operations. 
The Company was in compliance with the interest coverage ratio covenant, as 
amended, during the first six months of 2002. 
 



 
 
 
5.   Equity Security Units 
- -------------------------- 
 
At June 30, 2002 and December 31, 2001, there were 17,250,000 equity security 
units outstanding. Each equity security unit consists of a contract to purchase 
shares of the Company's common stock on May 15, 2004 which will result in cash 
proceeds to the Company of $863 million, and a mandatorily redeemable equity 
security, with a stated liquidation amount of $50 due on May 15, 2006 which will 
require a cash payment by the Company of $863 million. The contract obligates 
the holder to purchase, for $50, shares of common stock equal to the settlement 
rate. The settlement rate is equal to $50 divided by the average market value of 
the Company's common stock at that time. The settlement rate cannot be greater 
than 1.8182 or less than 1.4903 shares of common stock per purchase contract. 
Using the treasury stock method, there is no effect on the computation of shares 
for diluted earnings per share if the average market value of the Company's 
common stock is between $27.50 and $33.55 per share. During the second quarter 
of 2002 the average market value was $41.95 per share, therefore, the Company 
included 5.2 million shares related to the equity security units in its 
computation of shares for diluted earnings per share. During the first six 
months of 2002, the average market value was $39.50 per share, therefore, the 
Company included 3.9 million shares in its computation of shares for diluted 
earnings per share. The contract requires a quarterly distribution, which is 
recorded as a reduction in additional paid-in capital, of 1.25% per year of the 
stated amount of $50 per purchase contract. The mandatorily redeemable equity 
security pays a quarterly distribution, which is included in interest expense, 
of 7% per year of the stated liquidation amount of $50 per mandatorily 
redeemable equity security until May 15, 2004. On May 15, 2004, following a 
remarketing of the mandatorily redeemable equity securities, the distribution 
rate will be reset at a rate equal to or greater than 7% per year. 
 
6.   Stockholders' Equity 
- ------------------------- 
 
Stockholders' equity consisted of the following at: 
 
 
 
                                                                       June 30, 2002         Dec. 31, 2001 
                                                                       -------------         ------------- 
                                                                                  (In millions) 
                                                                                        
Preferred stock, no outstanding shares                                   $        --           $        -- 
Common stock, outstanding shares                                                   4                     4 
Additional paid-in capital                                                     7,960                 7,723 
Accumulated other comprehensive income                                          (193)                 (212) 
Treasury stock                                                                    (3)                   (1) 
Retained earnings                                                              2,898                 3,776 
                                                                         -----------           ----------- 
Total                                                                    $    10,666           $    11,290 
                                                                         ===========           =========== 
 
Outstanding shares of common stock                                             402.9                 395.4 
 
 
During the first six months of 2002, the Company issued 4.2 million shares of 
common stock related to its savings and investment plans and 3.3 million shares 
in connection with stock plan activity. 
 
The weighted average shares outstanding for basic and diluted earnings per share 
(EPS) were as follows: 
 



 
 
 
 
                                                              Three Months Ended                    Six Months Ended 
                                                       June 30, 2002       July 1, 2001      June 30, 2002      July 1, 2001 
                                                       -------------       ------------      -------------      ------------ 
                                                                                 (In thousands) 
                                                                                                     
 
Average common shares outstanding for basic 
 EPS                                                      399,970              349,872           397,827            344,961 
Dilutive effect of stock options and 
 restricted stock                                           7,733                4,433             6,891              4,749 
Dilutive effect of equity security units                    5,150                    -             3,870                  - 
                                                       ----------          -----------       -----------        ----------- 
Shares for diluted EPS                                    412,853              354,305           408,588            349,710 
                                                       ==========          ===========       ===========        =========== 
 
 
Options to purchase 23.2 million and 21.8 million shares of common stock for the 
three months ended June 30, 2002 and July 1, 2001, respectively, and options to 
purchase 23.4 million and 21.8 million shares of common stock for the six months 
ended June 30, 2002 and July 1, 2001, respectively, did not affect the 
computation of diluted EPS. The exercise prices for these options were greater 
than the average market price of the Company's common stock during the 
respective periods. 
 
Options to purchase 20.5 million and 19.4 million shares of common stock for the 
three months ended June 30, 2002 and July 1, 2001 respectively, and options to 
purchase 20.3 million and 19.4 million shares of common stock for the six months 
ended June 30, 2002 and July 1, 2001, respectively, had exercise prices that 
were less than the average market price of the Company's common stock during the 
respective periods and are included in the dilutive effect of stock options and 
restricted stock in the table above. 
 
The Company applies Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for 
Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations, in accounting for its 
stock-based compensation plans. Accordingly, no compensation expense has been 
recognized for its stock-based compensation plans other than for restricted 
stock. The Company has adopted the disclosure-only provisions of Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation 
(SFAS No. 123), therefore, no compensation expense was recognized for the 
Company's stock option plans. Had compensation expense for the Company's stock 
option plans been determined based on the fair value at the grant date for 
awards under these plans, consistent with the methodology prescribed under SFAS 
No. 123, the Company estimates that its net income (loss) and diluted earnings 
(loss) per share would have approximated $(149) million and $(0.36) and $(200) 
million and $(0.56) in the second quarter of 2002 and 2001, respectively, and 
$(745) million and $(1.82) and $(337) million and $(0.96) in the first six 
months of 2002 and 2001, respectively. The weighted average fair value of each 
stock option granted in 2002, 2001, 2000, and 1999, which are included in the 
preceding amounts, was estimated using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. 
The effects of applying SFAS No. 123 in this disclosure are not indicative of 
future amounts and are not representative of the amounts that would be reported 
if the Company adopted SFAS No. 123 in this period. 
 
The components of other comprehensive income for the Company generally include 
foreign currency translation adjustments, minimum pension liability adjustments, 
unrealized gains and losses on marketable securities classified as 
available-for-sale, and unrealized gains and losses on effective hedges. The 
computation of comprehensive income is as follows: 
 
 
 
                                                            Three Months Ended                    Six Months Ended 
                                                     June 30, 2002        July 1, 2001    June 30, 2002      July 1, 2001 
                                                     -------------        ------------    -------------      ------------ 
                                                                                 (In millions) 
                                                                                                  
Net loss                                             $    (136)          $    (188)        $    (719)         $    (312) 
Other comprehensive income (loss)                           25                 (13)               19                (21) 
                                                     ---------           ---------         ---------          --------- 
Total comprehensive loss                             $    (111)          $    (201)        $    (700)         $    (333) 
                                                     =========           =========         =========          ========= 
 
 



 
 
7.  Restructuring 
- ----------------- 
 
All previously disclosed restructuring actions have been essentially completed, 
except for ongoing idle facility costs for which the Company spent $3 million in 
the first six months of 2002. The restructuring-related accrued liability at 
June 30, 2002 was $21 million. 
 
8.  Business Segment Reporting 
- ------------------------------ 
 
The Company operates in five segments: Electronic Systems; Command, Control, 
Communication and Information Systems; Technical Services; Commercial 
Electronics; and Aircraft. Segment net sales and operating income include 
intersegment sales and profit recorded at cost plus a specified fee, which may 
differ from what the selling entity would be able to obtain on external sales. 
Corporate and Eliminations includes Company-wide accruals and over/under applied 
overhead that have not been attributed to a particular segment and intersegment 
sales and profit eliminations. In addition, the AIS segment was discontinued. 
 
In July 2002, the Company announced plans to realign its defense businesses. As 
part of the realignment, the Company will streamline operations and restructure 
some existing business units. 
 
Segment financial results were as follows: 
 
 
 
                                                                   Net Sales                      Operating Income 
                                                              Three Months Ended                 Three Months Ended 
                                                       June 30, 2002      July 1, 2001    June 30, 2002      July 1, 2001 
                                                       -------------      ------------    -------------      ------------ 
                                                                                (In millions) 
                                                                                                    
Electronic Systems                                       $     2,201       $     2,055        $     300         $     266 
Command, Control, Communication and 
    Information Systems                                        1,025               931              106                95 
Technical Services                                               505               499                9                42 
Commercial Electronics                                           105               117               (4)              (15) 
Aircraft                                                         526               768               22                27 
Corporate and Eliminations                                      (267)             (273)              21               (20) 
                                                         -----------       -----------        ---------         --------- 
Total                                                    $     4,095       $     4,097        $     454         $     395 
                                                         ===========       ===========        =========         ========= 
 
 
                                                                   Net Sales                      Operating Income 
                                                               Six Months Ended                   Six Months Ended 
                                                       June 30, 2002      July 1, 2001    June 30, 2002      July 1, 2001 
                                                       -------------      ------------    -------------      ------------ 
                                                                                (In millions) 
                                                                                                    
Electronic Systems                                        $    4,311        $    3,952        $     595         $     503 
Command, Control, Communication and 
    Information Systems                                        1,995             1,786              208               179 
Technical Services                                             1,033               982               46                77 
Commercial Electronics                                           204               238              (10)              (21) 
Aircraft                                                       1,020             1,405              (19)               23 
Corporate and Eliminations                                      (557)             (494)             (13)              (58) 
                                                          ----------        ----------        ---------         --------- 
Total                                                     $    8,006        $    7,869        $     807         $     703 
                                                          ==========        ==========        =========         ========= 
 
 



 
 
 
 
                                                                               Identifiable Assets 
                                                                      June 30, 2002           Dec. 31, 2001 
                                                                      -------------           ------------- 
                                                                                  (In millions) 
                                                                                         
Electronic Systems                                                       $   10,824             $  10,483 
Command, Control, Communication and 
    Information Systems                                                       5,225                 5,113 
Technical Services                                                            1,557                 1,670 
Commercial Electronics                                                          673                   683 
Aircraft                                                                      3,172                 3,126 
Corporate                                                                     4,141                 3,969 
                                                                         ----------             --------- 
Total                                                                    $   25,592             $  25,044 
                                                                         ==========             ========= 
 
 
Net sales includes intersegment sales during the three months ended June 30, 
2002 and July 1, 2001, respectively, of $73 million and $52 million for 
Electronic Systems, $23 million and $28 million for Command, Control, 
Communication and Information Systems, $141 million and $164 million for 
Technical Services, $29 million and $28 million for Commercial Electronics, and 
$1 million and $1 million for Aircraft. 
 
Net sales includes intersegment sales during the six months ended June 30, 2002 
and July 1, 2001, respectively, of $147 million and $101 million for Electronic 
Systems, $55 million and $56 million for Command, Control, Communication and 
Information Systems, $298 million and $282 million for Technical Services, $55 
million and $53 million for Commercial Electronics, and $2 million and $2 
million for Aircraft. 
 
9.  Other Income and Expense 
- ---------------------------- 
 
The components of other expense (income), net were as follows: 
 
 
 
                                                              Three Months Ended                  Six Months Ended 
                                                      June 30, 2002       July 1, 2001    June 30, 2002      July 1, 2001 
                                                      -------------       ------------    -------------      ------------ 
                                                                                  (In millions) 
                                                                                                  
Gain on sale of the recreational marine business        $       -            $      -         $     -          $    (38) 
Gain on sale of Raytheon Aerospace                              -                 (35)              -               (35) 
Equity losses in unconsolidated affiliates                     10                   9              16                14 
Other                                                           3                   8               5                11 
                                                        ---------            --------         -------          -------- 
Total                                                   $      13            $    (18)        $    21          $    (48) 
                                                        =========            ========         =======          ======== 
 
 
Equity losses in unconsolidated affiliates include losses related to Space 
Imaging, Flight Options, Raytheon Aerospace, and Exostar. 
 
 
10. Discontinued Operations 
- --------------------------- 
 
In March 2002, the Company completed the sale of AIS for approximately $1,123 
million, net, subject to purchase price adjustments. As part of the transaction, 
the Company remained the prime contractor for the Airborne Stand-Off Radar 
(ASTOR) program and retained the responsibility for performance of the Boeing 
Business Jet (BBJ) program, which is nearing completion. The Company also 
retained $106 million of BBJ-related assets, $18 million of receivables and 
other assets, and rights to a $25 million jury award related to a 1999 claim 
against Learjet. Schedule delays, cost growth, and other variables could 
continue to have a negative effect on the BBJ-related assets. The timing and 
amount of net realizable value of these retained assets are uncertain and 
subject to a number of unpredictable market forces. The Company recorded a net 
$2 million pretax gain on the sale of AIS. Due to the non-deductible goodwill 
associated with AIS, the Company 
 



 
 
recorded a tax provision of $213 million, resulting in a $211 million net loss 
on the sale of AIS. 
 
In the second quarter of 2002, the Company recorded an additional loss on 
disposal of AIS of $14 million, which included a $23 million write-down of a 
BBJ-related aircraft owned by the Company, offset by a $13 million gain 
resulting from the finalization of the 1999 claim, described above. The 
write-down of the BBJ-related aircraft resulted from the Company's decision to 
market this aircraft unfinished due to the current environment of declining 
prices for BBJ-related aircraft. The Company was previously marketing this 
aircraft as a customized executive BBJ. In addition, the Company recorded a $4 
million charge for cost growth on one of the two BBJ aircraft not yet delivered. 
 
The summary of operating results for AIS was as follows: 
 
 
 
                                                           Three Months Ended                    Six Months Ended 
                                                     June 30, 2002        July 1, 2001    June 30, 2002      July 1, 2001 
                                                     -------------        ------------    -------------      ------------ 
                                                                                 (In millions) 
                                                                                                  
Net sales                                            $       -           $     210         $     202          $     406 
Operating expenses                                           -                 248               198                436 
                                                     ---------           ---------         ---------          --------- 
Operating (loss) income                                      -                 (38)                4                (30) 
Other expense, net                                           -                   -                 -                  - 
                                                     ---------           ---------         ---------          --------- 
Income (loss) before taxes                                   -                 (38)                4                (30) 
Tax (benefit) provision                                      -                 (15)                1                (10) 
                                                     ---------           ---------         ---------          --------- 
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 
                                                     $       -           $     (23)        $       3          $     (20) 
                                                     =========           =========         =========          ========= 
 
 
The components of assets and liabilities for AIS were as follows: 
 
 
 
                                                                   June 30, 2002           Dec. 31, 2001 
                                                                   -------------           ------------- 
                                                                                   (In millions) 
                                                                                      
Current assets                                                         $     105              $      495 
Noncurrent assets                                                              -                   1,136 
                                                                       ---------              ---------- 
Total assets                                                           $     105              $    1,631 
                                                                       =========              ========== 
 
Current liabilities                                                    $      46              $       52 
Noncurrent liabilities                                                         -                      16 
                                                                       ---------              ---------- 
Total liabilities                                                      $      46              $       68 
                                                                       ==========             ========== 
 
 
In 2000, the Company sold its Raytheon Engineers & Constructors (RE&C) business 
to Washington Group International (WGI). At the time of the sale, the Company 
had, either directly or through a subsidiary that it still owns, outstanding 
letters of credit, performance bonds, and parent guarantees of performance and 
payment (the "Support Agreements") on over 100 long-term construction contracts. 
The Support Agreements were provided to owners at the time of contract award as 
security to the owners for the underlying contract obligations. Often the total 
security was capped at the value of the contract price to secure full 
performance, including the payment of liquidated damages available under the 
contract. Some of these contingent obligations and guarantees include warranty 
provisions and extend for a number of years. 
 



 
 
In March 2001, WGI abandoned two Massachusetts construction projects, triggering 
the Company's guarantees to the owners. The Company honored the guarantees and 
commenced work on these projects. In the second quarter of 2002, the Company 
revised its estimated cost to complete (ETC) for the two projects and recorded a 
charge of $450 million. The previous ETC resulted in a total charge of $814 
million in 2001, of which $633 million was recorded in the first six months of 
2001. The revised ETC results from declining productivity, schedule delays, 
misestimates of field engineered materials, and unbudgeted hours worked on the 
two projects. Further deterioration in labor productivity or additional schedule 
delays could have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial position 
and results of operations. The Company expects to complete construction on the 
two projects in 2002. The significant milestones related to the Mystic project 
include for Mystic Block 8, customer acceptance in December 2002, and for Mystic 
Block 9, back feed testing in August 2002, first fire in October 2002, and 
customer acceptance in December 2002. The significant milestones related to the 
Fore River project include chemical cleaning in August 2002, first fire in 
October 2002, and customer acceptance in December 2002. 
 
In May 2001, WGI filed for bankruptcy protection. In the course of the 
bankruptcy proceeding, WGI rejected some ongoing construction contracts and 
assumed others. For those contracts rejected, the Company's obligation to the 
owners depends on the extent to which the Company has any outstanding Support 
Agreements. The WGI rejected contracts included four large fixed price 
international turnkey projects that were close to completion. Of the four 
projects, construction has been completed on three, which are now in the claims 
resolution phase. The fourth is nearing completion. In the second quarter of 
2002, the Company recorded a charge of $14 million related to warranty and 
startup costs associated with the fourth project. In 2001, the Company recorded 
a total charge of $54 million, all of which was recorded in the first six months 
of 2001, related to these projects. Additional risks and exposures on the three 
completed projects are final resolution of contract closeout issues. Additional 
risks and exposures on the fourth project include engineering support, equipment 
performance, schedule delays, and contract closeout. The significant milestone 
related to the fourth project is customer acceptance in September 2002. 
 
Two WGI construction projects on which the Company has Support Agreements have 
ongoing construction activity. The Company is paying to complete these projects 
pursuant to its guarantees and the Company will receive the benefit of the 
remaining contract payments from the owners. In the second quarter of 2002, the 
Company recorded a charge of $21 million resulting from a contract adjustment on 
one of these projects due to turbine-related delays. In 2001, the Company 
recorded a total charge of $156 million, of which $49 million was recorded in 
the first six months of 2001, related to these and the other WGI construction 
projects on which the Company has Support Agreements. Additional risks and 
exposures on the two projects with ongoing construction activity include labor 
productivity, equipment performance, subcontractor performance, and schedule 
delays. Additional risks and exposures on the other projects with Support 
Agreements include adverse claim resolution and non-performance on projects 
assumed by WGI and are subject to the letters of credit, performance bonds, and 
parent guarantees noted above. One of the two projects has been provisionally 
accepted by the customer. The significant milestone related to the other project 
is customer acceptance in August 2002. 
 
The Company is heavily dependent upon third parties, including WGI, to perform 
construction management and other tasks that require industry expertise the 
Company no longer possesses. In addition, there are risks that the ultimate 
costs to complete and close-out the projects will increase beyond the Company's 
current estimates due to factors such as labor productivity and availability of 
labor, the nature and complexity of the work to be performed, the impact of 
change orders, the recoverability of claims included in the ETC, and the outcome 
of defending claims asserted against the Company. A significant change in an 
estimate on one or more of the projects could have a material adverse effect on 
the Company's financial position and results of operations. 
 
 



 
 
In accordance with the purchase and sale agreement, the Company retained the 
financial risks and rewards of certain claims, equity investments, and 
receivables totaling $159 million that were sold to WGI. In addition, the 
Company retained certain obligations and liabilities totaling $88 million 
related to the purchase and sale agreement. As a result of WGI's bankruptcy 
filing, the realization of these various assets through WGI was no longer 
probable, however, the retained obligations and liabilities could be set off 
against the retained assets pursuant to the terms of the purchase and sale 
agreement. In the second quarter of 2001, the Company recorded a charge of $71 
million to write off these assets and liabilities. 
 
In the first six months of 2002, the Company recorded a charge of $30 million 
for interest expense related to RE&C versus $2 million in the first six months 
of 2001. Interest expense has been allocated to RE&C based upon actual cash 
outflows since the date of disposition. Also in the first six months of 2002, 
the Company recorded charges of $23 million for legal, management, and other 
costs. 
 
Liabilities from discontinued operations included current liabilities for RE&C 
of $563 million and $482 million at June 30, 2002 and December 31, 2001, 
respectively. 
 
In the second quarter of 2002 the total loss from discontinued operations was 
$530 million pretax, $359 million after-tax, or $0.87 per diluted share versus 
$508 million pretax, $328 million after-tax, or $0.93 per diluted share in the 
second quarter of 2001. 
 
In the first six months of 2002 the total loss from discontinued operations was 
$546 million pretax, $583 million after-tax, or $1.43 per diluted share versus 
$839 million pretax, $546 million after-tax, or $1.56 per diluted share in the 
first six months of 2001. 
 
11.  Commitments and Contingencies 
- ---------------------------------- 
 
Defense contractors are subject to many levels of audit and investigation. 
Agencies that oversee contract performance include: the Defense Contract Audit 
Agency, the Department of Defense Inspector General, the General Accounting 
Office, the Department of Justice, and Congressional Committees. The Department 
of Justice, from time to time, has convened grand juries to investigate possible 
irregularities by the Company in U.S. government contracting. Except as noted in 
the following paragraphs, individually and in the aggregate, these 
investigations are not expected to have a material adverse effect on the 
Company's financial position or results of operations. 
 
In June 2002, the Company received service of a grand jury subpoena issued by 
the United States District Court for the District of California. The subpoena 
seeks documents relating to the activities of an international sales 
representative engaged by the Company relating to a foreign military sales 
contract in Korea in the late 1990s. The Company has in place appropriate 
compliance policies and procedures, and believes its conduct has been consistent 
with those policies and procedures. The Company is cooperating fully with the 
investigation. 
 
The Department of Justice has informed the Company that the U.S. government has 
concluded its investigation of the contemplated sale by the Company of 
troposcatter radio equipment to a customer in Pakistan. The Company has produced 
documents in response to grand jury subpoenas and grand jury appearances have 
taken place. The Company has cooperated fully with the investigation. The U.S. 
government has not informed the Company of a final decision with respect to this 
matter. An adverse decision in this matter could have a material adverse effect 
on the Company's financial position and results of operations. 
 
The Company is permitted to charge to its U.S. government contracts an allocable 
portion of the amount that the Company accrues for self-insurance. There is a 
disagreement between the Company and the U.S. government about the way the 
Company allocated self-insurance charges for product liability risks at Raytheon 
Aircraft. The government 
 



 
 
has not asserted a claim for a specific amount, but since the allocation 
practice at issue was adopted in 1988, the government claim could have 
a material adverse effect on the Company's financial position and results of 
operations. 
 
The Company is involved in various stages of investigation and cleanup related 
to remediation of various environmental sites. The Company's estimate of total 
environmental remediation costs expected to be incurred is $138 million. On a 
discounted basis, the Company estimates the liability to be $86 million before 
U.S. government recovery and has accrued this amount at June 30, 2002. A portion 
of these costs are eligible for future recovery through the pricing of products 
and services to the U.S. government. The recovery of environmental cleanup costs 
from the U.S. government is considered probable based on the Company's long 
history of receiving reimbursement for such costs. Accordingly, the Company has 
recorded an unbilled receivable in contracts in process of $40 million at June 
30, 2002 for the estimated future recovery of these costs from the U.S. 
government. Due to the complexity of environmental laws and regulations, the 
varying costs and effectiveness of alternative cleanup methods and technologies, 
the uncertainty of insurance coverage, and the unresolved extent of the 
Company's responsibility, it is difficult to determine the ultimate outcome of 
these matters, however, any additional liability is not expected to have a 
material adverse effect on the Company's financial position or results of 
operations. 
 
The Company has been advised by the staff of the Securities and Exchange 
Commission (SEC) that an investigation, which began and was disclosed in May 
2001, related to the Company's former engineering and construction business and 
related accounting and other matters has been closed without action. 
 
The Company is also involved in other legal matters as more fully described in 
"Legal Proceedings" in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2001. An adverse resolution of any of these matters could 
have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial position or results of 
operations in the period in which they are resolved. 
 
In addition, various claims and legal proceedings generally incidental to the 
normal course of business are pending or threatened against the Company. While 
the ultimate liability from these proceedings is presently indeterminable, any 
additional liability is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the 
Company's financial position or results of operations. 
 
12.  Accounting Standards 
- ------------------------- 
 
In June 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with 
Exit or Disposal Activities (SFAS No. 146) which nulifies Emerging Issues Task 
Force (EITF) Issue No. 94-3, Liability Recognition for Certain Employee 
Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain 
Costs Incurred in a Restructuring). This accounting standard, which is effective 
for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002, 
addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or 
disposal activities. The adoption of SFAS No. 146 is not expected to have a 
material effect on the Company's financial position or results of operations. 
 
In April 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 145, Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, 
and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections (SFAS No. 
145). This accounting standard, which is effective for fiscal years beginning 
after May 15, 2002, requires, among other things, that debt extinguishments used 
as a part of an entity's risk management strategy no longer meet the criteria 
for classification as extraordinary items. The adoption of SFAS No. 145 is not 
expected to have a material effect on the Company's financial position or 
results of operations. 
 
In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 
(SFAS No. 142). This accounting standard addresses financial accounting and 
reporting for goodwill and other intangible assets and requires that goodwill 
amortization be discontinued and replaced with periodic tests of impairment. 
SFAS No. 142 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, 
and is required to be applied at the beginning of the fiscal year. Impairment 
losses that arise due to the initial application of this standard will be 
reported as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle as of 
January 1, 2002. 
 



 
 
     In the first quarter of 2002, the Company recorded a goodwill impairment of 
     $360 million related to AIS as a cumulative effect of change in accounting 
     principle. The fair value of AIS was determined based upon the proceeds 
     received by the Company in connection with the sale of AIS. Due to the 
     non-deductibility of this goodwill, the Company did not record a tax 
     benefit in connection with this impairment. During the second quarter of 
     2002, the Company completed its transitional review for potential goodwill 
     impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 142, whereby the Company utilized a 
     market multiple approach to determine the fair value of reporting units 
     within the defense businesses and a discounted cash flow approach to 
     determine the fair value of the commercial business reporting units. As a 
     result, the Company recorded a goodwill impairment of $185 million pretax, 
     $149 million after-tax, which represented all of the goodwill at Raytheon 
     Aircraft, as a cumulative effect of change in accounting principle. The 
     Company has also determined that there is no impairment of goodwill related 
     to any of its defense businesses beyond the $360 million recorded in 
     connection with the sale of AIS. The total goodwill impairment charge for 
     the six months ended June 30, 2002 was $545 million pretax, $509 million 
     after-tax, or $1.25 per diluted share. The Company will perform the annual 
     impairment test in the fourth quarter of each year. 
 
     The amount of remaining goodwill by segment, as determined in accordance 
     with SFAS No. 142, was $7,641 million, $2,650 million, $856 million, and 
     $21 million for Electronic Systems; Command, Control, Communication and 
     Information Systems; Technical Services; and Commercial Electronics, 
     respectively, at June 30, 2002. 
 
     Intangible assets subject to amortization consisted primarily of drawings 
     and intellectual property totaling $24 million (net of $28 million of 
     accumulated amortization) at June 30, 2002 and $24 million (net of $34 
     million of accumulated amortization) at December 31, 2001. Amortization 
     expense is expected to approximate $2 million for each of the next five 
     years. 
 
     In accordance with SFAS No. 142, goodwill amortization was discontinued as 
     of January 1, 2002. The following adjusts reported income from continuing 
     operations and basic and diluted EPS from continuing operations to exclude 
     goodwill amortization: 
 
 
 
                                                                        Three Months Ended                     Six Months Ended 
                                                                June 30, 2002       July 1, 2001     June 30, 2002      July 1, 2001
                                                                -------------       ------------     -------------      ------------
                                                                              (In millions, except per share amounts) 
 
                                                                                                             
Reported income from continuing operations                        $     223           $    136           $   372          $    230 
Goodwill amortization, net of tax                                         -                 76                 -               146 
                                                                  ---------           --------           -------          -------- 
Adjusted income from continuing operations                        $     223           $    212           $   372          $    376 
                                                                  =========           ========           =======          ======== 
 
Reported basic EPS from continuing operations                     $    0.56           $   0.39           $  0.94          $   0.67 
Goodwill amortization, net of tax                                         -               0.22                 -              0.42 
                                                                  ---------           --------           -------          -------- 
Adjusted basic EPS from continuing operations                     $    0.56           $   0.61           $  0.94          $   1.09 
                                                                  =========           ========           =======          ======== 
 
Reported diluted EPS from continuing operations                   $    0.54           $   0.38           $  0.91          $   0.66 
Goodwill amortization, net of tax                                         -               0.22                 -              0.42 
                                                                  ---------           --------           -------          -------- 
Adjusted diluted EPS from continuing operations                   $    0.54           $   0.60           $  0.91          $   1.08 
                                                                  =========           ========           =======          ======== 
 
 
 



 
 
ITEM 2.  MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
         CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
Consolidated Results of Operations - Second Quarter 2002 Compared with Second 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Quarter 2001 
- ------------ 
 
Net sales were $4.1 billion in the second quarter of 2002 and 2001. Sales in the 
second quarter of 2001 included $162 million related to businesses that have 
since been sold. The increase in sales was primarily due to continued sales 
growth in the defense businesses offset by lower volume at Raytheon Aircraft. 
Sales to the U.S. Department of Defense were 62 percent of sales in the second 
quarter of 2002 versus 63 percent of sales in the second quarter of 2001. Total 
sales to the U.S. government, including foreign military sales, were 72 percent 
of sales in the second quarter of 2002 versus 68 percent of sales in the second 
quarter of 2001. Total international sales, including foreign military sales, 
were 21 percent of sales in the second quarter of 2002 and 2001. 
 
Gross margin, net sales less cost of sales, in the second quarter of 2002 was 
$888 million or 21.7 percent of sales versus $814 million or 19.9 percent of 
sales in the second quarter of 2001. Excluding goodwill amortization, which was 
discontinued January 1, 2002 as a result of the adoption of SFAS 142, described 
below, gross margin was $898 million or 21.9 percent of sales in the second 
quarter of 2001. Included in gross margin was pension income of $25 million and 
$74 million in the second quarter of 2002 and 2001, respectively. 
 
Administrative and selling expenses were $313 million or 7.6 percent of sales in 
the second quarter of 2002 versus $296 million or 7.2 percent of sales in the 
second quarter of 2001. The increase was primarily due to the timing of 
expenditures related to new proposals. 
 
Research and development expenses were $121 million or 3.0 percent of sales in 
the second quarter of 2002 versus $123 million or 3.0 percent of sales in the 
second quarter of 2001. 
 
Operating income was $454 million or 11.1 percent of sales in the second quarter 
of 2002 versus $395 million or 9.6 percent of sales in the second quarter of 
2001. Excluding goodwill amortization, operating income was $479 million or 11.7 
percent of sales in the second quarter of 2001. Included in operating income is 
pension income of $25 million and $74 million in the second quarter of 2002 and 
2001, respectively. The changes in operating income by segment are discussed 
below. 
 
Interest expense from continuing operations in the second quarter of 2002 was 
$131 million versus $183 million in the second quarter of 2001. The decrease was 
due to lower average debt and lower weighted average cost of borrowing due to 
the interest rate swaps entered into in 2001. In the second quarter of 2002 and 
2001, the Company allocated $17 million and $2 million, respectively, of 
interest expense to discontinued operations. Total interest expense in the 
second quarter of 2002 was $148 million versus $185 million in the second 
quarter of 2001. 
 
Interest income in the second quarter of 2002 was $10 million versus $12 million 
in the second quarter of 2001. 
 



 
 
Other expense, net in the second quarter of 2002 was $13 million versus other 
income, net of $18 million in the second quarter of 2001. Included in the second 
quarter of 2001 was a gain of $35 million recorded in connection with the sale 
of a majority interest in the Company's aviation support business (Raytheon 
Aerospace). 
 
The effective tax rate was 30.3 percent in the second quarter of 2002 reflecting 
the United States statutory rate of 35 percent reduced by foreign sales 
corporation tax credits and ESOP dividend deductions. The effective tax rate was 
43.8 percent in the second quarter of 2001 reflecting the United States 
statutory rate of 35 percent reduced by foreign sales corporation tax credits 
and research and development tax credits applicable to certain government 
contracts and increased by non-deductible amortization of goodwill. Excluding 
the effect of goodwill amortization, the effective tax rate was 35.0 percent in 
the second quarter of 2001. The lower effective tax rate in the second quarter 
of 2002 was due primarily to the timing of the legislation for ESOP dividend 
deductions that were not available in the second quarter of 2001 and the write 
off of nondeductible goodwill related to the sale of a majority interest in 
Raytheon Aerospace. 
 
Income from continuing operations was $223 million in the second quarter of 
2002, or $0.54 per diluted share on 412.9 million average shares outstanding 
versus $136 million in the second quarter of 2001, or $0.38 per diluted share on 
354.3 million average shares outstanding. Excluding goodwill amortization, 
income from continuing operations was $212 million in the second quarter of 
2001, or $0.60 per diluted share. The increase in average shares outstanding was 
due primarily to the issuance of 14,375,000 and 31,578,000 shares of common 
stock in May and October 2001, respectively. 
 
The loss from discontinued operations, described below, was $359 million 
after-tax, or $0.87 per diluted share in the second quarter of 2002 versus a 
loss of $328 million after-tax, or $0.93 per diluted share in the second quarter 
of 2001. 
 
The net loss in the second quarter of 2002 was $136 million, or $0.33 per 
diluted share versus $188 million in the second quarter of 2001, or $0.53 per 
diluted share. Excluding goodwill amortization, the net loss was $112 million in 
the second quarter of 2001, or $0.32 per diluted share. 
 
Electronic Systems had sales of $2.2 billion in the second quarter of 2002 
versus $2.1 billion in the second quarter of 2001. The increase in sales was 
primarily due to higher volume in classified programs. Operating income was $300 
million in the second quarter of 2002 versus $266 million a year ago. Excluding 
goodwill amortization, operating income was $314 million in the second quarter 
of 2001. Included in operating income was pension income of $11 million and $38 
million in the second quarter of 2002 and 2001, respectively. The decrease in 
operating income was primarily due to lower pension income offset by higher 
volume. 
 
Command, Control, Communication and Information Systems had sales of $1.0 
billion in the second quarter of 2002 compared with $931 million in the second 
quarter of 2001. The second quarter of 2002 included approximately $31 million 
of sales which were reclassified from Electronic Systems to Command, Control, 
Communication and Information Systems in connection with the formation of Thales 
Raytheon Systems in 2001. In addition, there was higher volume across most 
business units. Operating income was $106 million in the second quarter of 2002 
versus $95 million in the second quarter of 2001. Excluding goodwill 
amortization, operating income was $120 million in the second quarter of 2001. 
Included in operating income was pension income of $1 
 



 
 
million and $11 million in the second quarter of 2002 and 2001, respectively. 
Operating income was negatively affected by lower pension income in the second 
quarter of 2002 and positively affected by higher volume. 
 
Technical Services had second quarter 2002 sales of $505 million compared with 
$499 million in the second quarter of 2001. Operating income was $9 million in 
the second quarter of 2002 compared with $42 million in the second quarter of 
2001. Excluding goodwill amortization, operating income was $48 million in the 
second quarter of 2001. Included in operating income was pension income of $4 
million and $8 million in the second quarter of 2002 and 2001, respectively. The 
decrease in operating income was due primarily to a $28 million write-off of 
contract costs that the Company determined were unbillable. The decrease was 
offset by a similarly sized reserve at corporate established by the Company in 
the second half of 2001 to address the issue. 
 
Commercial Electronics had sales of $105 million in the second quarter of 2002 
compared with second quarter 2001 sales of $117 million. The operating loss was 
$4 million in the second quarter of 2002 versus $15 million in the second 
quarter of 2001. Excluding goodwill amortization, the operating loss was $13 
million in the second quarter of 2001. The decrease in operating loss was due 
primarily to the closure of certain unprofitable businesses and cost reduction 
actions taken. There was no pension income included in the second quarter 2002 
operating loss versus $1 million in the second quarter of 2001. 
 
Raytheon Aircraft had second quarter 2002 sales of $526 million compared with 
$768 million in the second quarter of 2001. The decrease was due to lower 
aircraft deliveries in the second quarter of 2002 and the divestiture of a 
majority interest in Raytheon Aerospace in June 2001, partially offset by a $15 
million favorable contract adjustment recorded in the second quarter of 2002. 
Operating income was $22 million in the second quarter of 2002 versus $27 
million in the second quarter of 2001. Excluding goodwill amortization, 
operating income was $30 million in the second quarter of 2001. Included in 
operating income was pension income of $8 million and $14 million in the second 
quarter of 2002 and 2001, respectively. 
 
Six Months 2002 Compared With Six Months 2001 
- --------------------------------------------- 
 
Net sales in the first six months of 2002 were $8.0 billion versus $7.9 billion 
for the same period in 2001. Sales in the first six months of 2001 included $307 
million related to businesses that have since been sold. The increase in sales 
was primarily due to continued sales growth in the defense businesses offset by 
lower volume at Raytheon Aircraft. Sales to the U.S. Department of Defense were 
63 percent of sales in the first six months of 2002 versus 60 percent of sales 
in the first six months of 2001. Total sales to the U.S. government in the first 
six months of 2002 and 2001, including foreign military sales, were 73 percent 
and 68 percent of sales, respectively. Total international sales, including 
foreign military sales, were 20 percent of sales in the first six months of 2002 
versus 22 percent of sales in the first six months of 2001. 
 



 
 
Gross margin, net sales less cost of sales, in the first six months of 2002 was 
$1.6 billion or 20.5 percent of sales versus $1.5 billion or 19.2 percent of 
sales in the first six months of 2001. Excluding goodwill amortization, gross 
margin was $1.7 billion or 21.4 percent of sales in the first six months of 
2001. Included in gross margin was pension income of $49 million and $148 
million in the first six months of 2002 and 2001, respectively. 
 
Administrative and selling expenses were $607 million or 7.6 percent of sales in 
the first six months of 2002 versus $566 million or 7.2 percent of sales in the 
first six months of 2001. The increase was due primarily to the timing of 
expenditures related to new proposals. The Company expects administrative and 
selling expenses to approximate 7.0 percent of sales in the full year 2002. 
 
Research and development expenses decreased to $225 million or 2.8 percent of 
sales in the first six months of 2002 from $245 million or 3.1 percent of sales 
in the first six months of 2001. The decrease was primarily due to the timing of 
expenditures. 
 
Operating income was $807 million or 10.1 percent of sales in the first six 
months of 2002 versus $703 million or 8.9 percent of sales in the first six 
months of 2001. Excluding goodwill amortization, operating income was $872 
million or 11.1 percent of sales in the first six months of 2001. Included in 
operating income was pension income of $49 million and $148 million in the first 
six months of 2002 and 2001, respectively. The changes in operating income by 
segment are discussed below. 
 
Interest expense from continuing operations in the first six months of 2002 was 
$270 million versus $372 million in the first six months of 2001. The decrease 
was due primarily to lower average debt and lower weighted average cost of 
borrowing due to the interest rate swaps entered into in 2001. In the first six 
months of 2002 and 2001, the Company allocated $30 million and $2 million, 
respectively of interest expense to discontinued operations. The Company expects 
to allocate approximately $78 million of interest to discontinued operations in 
2002. Total interest expense in the first six months of 2002 was $300 million 
versus $374 million in the first six months of 2001. 
 
Interest income in the first six months of 2002 was $17 million versus $21 
million in the first six months of 2001. 
 
Other expense, net in the first six months of 2002 was $21 million versus other 
income, net of $48 million in the first six months of 2001. Included in the 
first six months of 2001 were pretax gains of $38 million related to the 
divestiture of the Company's recreational marine business and $35 million 
related to the divestiture of a majority interest in Raytheon Aerospace support 
business. 
 
The effective tax rate was 30.2 percent in the first six months of 2002 
reflecting the United States statutory rate of 35 percent reduced by foreign 
sales corporation tax credits and ESOP dividend deductions. The effective tax 
rate was 42.5 percent in the first six months of 2001 reflecting the United 
States statutory rate of 35 percent reduced by foreign sales corporation tax 
credits and research and development tax credits applicable to certain 
government contracts and increased by non-deductible amortization of goodwill. 
Excluding the effect of goodwill amortization, the effective tax rate was 33.9 
percent in the first six months of 2001. The lower effective tax rate in the 
first six months of 2002 was due primarily to the timing of the legislation for 
ESOP dividend deductions that were not available in the first six months of 2001 
and the write off of nondeductible goodwill related to the sale of a majority 
interest in Raytheon Aerospace in 2001. In the first six months of 2002, the 
Company's net operating loss carryforwards that expire in 2020 and 2021 
decreased by approximately $500 million as a result of the Job Creation and 
Worker Assistance Act of 
 



 
 
2002, which permitted the Company to carry back losses to 1996. 
 
Income from continuing operations was $372 million in the first six months of 
2002, or $0.91 per diluted share on 408.6 million average shares outstanding 
versus $230 million in the first six months of 2001, or $0.66 per diluted share 
on 349.7 million average shares outstanding. Excluding goodwill amortization, 
income from continuing operations was $376 million in the first six months of 
2001, or $1.08 per diluted share. The increase in average shares outstanding was 
due primarily to the issuance of 14,375,000 and 31,578,900 shares of common 
stock in May and October 2001, respectively. 
 
The loss from discontinued operations, described below, was $583 million 
after-tax, or $1.43 per diluted share in the first six months of 2002 versus 
$546 million after-tax, or $1.56 per diluted share in the first six months of 
2001. 
 
The net loss in the first six months of 2002 was $719 million, or $1.76 per 
diluted share versus $312 million in the first six months of 2001, or $0.89 per 
diluted share. Excluding goodwill amortization, the net loss was $166 million in 
the first six months of 2001, or $0.47 per diluted share. 
 
Total employment related to continuing operations was 77,500 at June 30, 2002 
and 81,100 at December 31, 2001. 
 
Electronic Systems had sales of $4.3 billion in the first six months of 2002 
compared with $4.0 billion in the first six months of 2001. The increase in 
sales was primarily due to higher volume across all business units. Operating 
income was $595 million or 13.8 percent of sales in the first six months of 2002 
versus $503 million or 12.7 percent of sales a year ago. Excluding goodwill 
amortization, operating income was $599 million or 15.2 percent of sales in the 
first six months of 2001. Included in operating income was pension income of $21 
million and $75 million in the first six months of 2002 and 2001, respectively. 
The decrease in operating income was primarily due to lower pension income 
offset by higher volume. 
 
Command, Control, Communication and Information Systems had sales of $2.0 
billion in the first six months of 2002 compared with $1.8 billion in the first 
six months of 2001. The first six months of 2002 included approximately $71 
million of sales which were reclassified from Electronic Systems to Command, 
Control, Communication and Information Systems in connection with the formation 
of Thales Raytheon Systems in 2001. In addition, there was higher volume across 
most business units. Operating income was $208 million or 10.4 percent of sales 
in the first six months of 2002 compared with $179 million or 10.0 percent of 
sales in the first six months of 2001. Excluding goodwill amortization, 
operating income was $230 million or 12.9 percent of sales in the first six 
months of 2001. Included in operating income was pension income of $4 million 
and $22 million in the first six months of 2002 and 2001, respectively. The 
decrease in operating income was primarily due to cost growth on certain 
programs and lower pension income offset by higher volume. 
 
Technical Services had sales of $1.0 billion in the first six months of 2002 
versus $982 million in the first six months of 2001. The increase in sales was 
primarily due to higher volume from new programs. Operating income was $46 
million or 4.5 percent of sales in the first six months of 2002 compared with 
$77 million or 7.8 percent of sales in the first six months of 2001. Excluding 
goodwill amortization, operating income was $90 million or 9.2 percent of sales 
in the first six months of 2001. Included in operating income was 
 



 
 
pension income of $6 million and $17 million in the first six months of 2002 and 
2001, respectively. The decrease in operating income was due primarily to a $28 
million write-off of contract costs that the Company determined were 
unbillable. The decrease was offset by a similarly sized reserve at corporate 
established by the Company in the second half of 2001 to address the issue. 
 
Commercial Electronics had sales of $204 million in the first six months of 2002 
compared with $238 million in the first six months of 2001. The decrease in 
sales was due to further weakness in Commercial Electronics end markets and to 
the divestiture of the recreational marine business in January 2001. The 
operating loss of $10 million in the first six months of 2002 compares to $21 
million in the first six months of 2001. Excluding goodwill amortization, the 
operating loss was $17 million in the first six months of 2001. Included in the 
operating losses was pension income of $1 million and $3 million in the first 
six months of 2002 and 2001, respectively. The Company remains concerned about 
the market outlook for Commercial Electronics. 
 
Raytheon Aircraft had sales of $1.0 billion in the first six months of 2002 
compared with $1.4 billion in the first six months of 2001. The decrease was due 
to lower aircraft deliveries in the first six months of 2002 and the divestiture 
of a majority interest in Raytheon Aerospace in June 2001, partially offset by a 
$15 million favorable contract adjustment recorded in the second quarter of 
2002. The operating loss of $19 million in the first six months of 2002 compares 
to operating income of $23 million in the first six months of 2001. Excluding 
goodwill amortization, operating income was $28 million in the first six months 
of 2001. Included in operating income was pension income of $16 million and $29 
million in the first six months of 2002 and 2001, respectively. The increase in 
the operating loss was primarily due to lower volume partially offset by a $15 
million favorable contract adjustment recorded in the second quarter of 2002. 
The Company remains concerned about the market outlook for both new and used 
aircraft and continues to monitor the production and delivery schedule for the 
Premier I aircraft and the development cost of the Horizon aircraft. Demand for 
general aviation aircraft remains weak and could adversely affect volume in the 
remainder of 2002 and 2003. 
 
Backlog consisted of the following at: 
 
                                          June 30, 2002         Dec. 31, 2001 
                                          -------------         ------------- 
                                                     (In millions) 
 
Electronic Systems                         $    12,795           $    13,423 
Command, Control, Communication 
    and Information Systems                      5,021                 5,592 
Technical Services                               1,816                 1,958 
Commercial Electronics                             435                   467 
Aircraft                                         4,672                 4,165 
                                           -----------           ----------- 
Total                                      $    24,739           $    25,605 
                                           ===========           =========== 
 
U.S. government backlog 
    included above                         $    16,669           $    16,943 
                                           ===========           =========== 
 
Included in Aircraft backlog at June 30, 2002 was approximately $850 million 
related to an order received from Flight Options, a related entity, in the first 
quarter of 2002. 
 
Bookings were as follows: 
 
                                       Six Months Ended 
                                       ---------------- 
 



 
 
 
 
                                                       June 30, 2002           July 1, 2001 
                                                       -------------           ------------ 
                                                                 (In millions) 
                                                                          
Electronic Systems                                     $     3,547             $      3,967 
Command, Control, Communication and Information 
Systems                                                      1,445                    1,925 
Technical Services                                             571                      402 
Commercial Electronics                                         117                      197 
Aircraft                                                     1,527                    1,245 
                                                       -----------             ------------ 
Total                                                  $     7,207             $      7,736 
                                                       ===========             ============ 
 
 
Bookings for ES in 2002 are expected to be below the 2001 level due primarily to 
two large bookings received in 2001. In addition, in the first six months of 
2002, due to the protest of a large contract award, ES is slightly behind both 
prior year and plan but expects to meet or exceed the full year plan. 
 
Bookings for C3I are expected to be higher in the full year 2002 than in 2001 
but are down in the first six months of 2002 versus the first six months of 2001 
due to contract booking delays and lost contract awards. 
 
Discontinued Operations 
- ----------------------- 
 
In March 2002, the Company completed the sale of AIS for approximately $1,123 
million, net, subject to purchase price adjustments. As part of the transaction, 
the Company remained the prime contractor for the Airborne Stand-Off Radar 
(ASTOR) program and retained the responsibility for performance of the Boeing 
Business Jet (BBJ) program, which is nearing completion. The Company also 
retained $106 million of BBJ-related assets, $18 million of receivables and 
other assets, and rights to a $25 million jury award related to a 1999 claim 
against Learjet. Schedule delays, cost growth, and other variables could 
continue to have a negative effect on the BBJ-related assets. The timing and 
amount of net realizable value of these retained assets are uncertain and 
subject to a number of unpredictable market forces. The Company recorded a net 
$2 million pretax gain on the sale of AIS. Due to the non-deductible goodwill 
associated with AIS, the Company recorded a tax provision of $213 million, 
resulting in a $211 million net loss on the sale of AIS. 
 
In the second quarter of 2002, the Company recorded an additional loss on 
disposal of AIS of $14 million, which included a $23 million write-down of a 
BBJ-related aircraft owned by the Company, offset by a $13 million gain 
resulting from the finalization of the 1999 claim, described above. The 
write-down of the BBJ-related aircraft resulted from the Company's decision to 
market this aircraft unfinished due to the current environment of declining 
prices for BBJ-related aircraft. The Company was previously marketing this 
aircraft as a customized executive BBJ. The settlement of the 1999 claim and the 
sale of the BBJ-related aircraft are expected to result in a cash inflow of 
approximately $59 million in 2002. In addition, the Company recorded a $4 
million charge for cost growth on one of the two BBJ aircraft not yet delivered. 
 
In 2000, the Company sold its Raytheon Engineers & Constructors (RE&C) business 
to Washington Group International (WGI). At the time of the sale, the Company 
had, either directly or through a subsidiary that it still owns, outstanding 
letters of credit, performance bonds, and parent guarantees of performance and 
payment (the "Support Agreements") on over 100 long-term construction contracts. 
The Support Agreements were provided to owners at the time of contract award as 
security to the owners for the 
 



 
 
underlying contract obligations. Often the total security was capped at the 
value of the contract price to secure full performance, including the payment of 
liquidated damages available under the contract. Some of these contingent 
obligations and guarantees include warranty provisions and extend for a number 
of years. 
 
In March 2001, WGI abandoned two Massachusetts construction projects, triggering 
the Company's guarantees to the owners. The Company honored the guarantees and 
commenced work on these projects. In the second quarter of 2002, the Company 
revised its estimated cost to complete (ETC) for the two projects and recorded a 
charge of $450 million. The previous ETC resulted in a total charge of $814 
million in 2001, of which $633 million was recorded in the first six months of 
2001. The revised ETC results from declining productivity, schedule delays, 
misestimates of field engineering materials, and unbudgeted hours worked on the 
two projects. Further deterioration in labor productivity or additional schedule 
delays could have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial position 
and results of operations. The Company expects to complete construction on the 
two projects in 2002. The significant milestones related to the Mystic project 
include for Mystic Block 8, customer acceptance in December 2002, and for Mystic 
Block 9, back feed testing in August 2002, first fire in October 2002, and 
customer acceptance in December 2002. The significant milestones related to the 
Fore River project include chemical cleaning in August 2002, first fire in 
October 2002, and customer acceptance in December 2002. 
 
In May 2001, WGI filed for bankruptcy protection. In the course of the 
bankruptcy proceeding, WGI rejected some ongoing construction contracts and 
assumed others. For those contracts rejected, the Company's obligation to the 
owners depends on the extent to which the Company has any outstanding Support 
Agreements. The WGI rejected contracts included four large fixed price 
international turnkey projects that were close to completion. Of the four 
projects, construction has been completed on three, which are now in the claims 
resolution phase. The fourth is nearing completion. In the second quarter of 
2002, the Company recorded a charge of $14 million related to warranty and 
startup costs associated with the fourth project. In 2001, the Company recorded 
a total charge of $54 million, all of which was recorded in the first six months 
of 2001, related to these projects. Additional risks and exposures on the three 
completed projects are final resolution of contract closeout issues. Additional 
risks and exposures on the fourth project include engineering support, equipment 
performance, schedule delays, and contract closeout. The significant milestone 
related to the fourth project is customer acceptance in September 2002. 
 
Two WGI construction projects on which the Company has Support Agreements have 
ongoing construction activity. The Company is paying to complete these projects 
pursuant to its guarantees and the Company will receive the benefit of the 
remaining contract payments from the owners. In the second quarter of 2002, the 
Company recorded a charge of $21 million resulting from a contract adjustment on 
one of these projects due to turbine-related delays. In 2001, the Company 
recorded a total charge of $156 million, of which $49 million was recorded in 
the first six months of 2001, related to these and other WGI construction 
projects on which the Company has Support Agreements. Additional risks and 
exposures on the two projects with ongoing construction activity include labor 
productivity, equipment performance, subcontractor performance, and schedule 
delays. Additional risks and exposures on the other projects with Support 
Agreements include adverse claim resolution and non-performance on projects 
assumed by WGI and are subject to the letters of credit, performance bonds, and 
parent guarantees noted above. One of the two projects has been provisionally 
accepted by the customer. The significant milestone related to the other project 
is customer acceptance in August 2002. 
 
The Company is heavily dependent upon third parties, including WGI, to perform 
construction management and other tasks that require industry expertise the 
Company no longer possesses. In addition, there are risks that the ultimate 
costs to complete and close-out the projects will increase beyond the Company's 
current estimates due to factors such as labor productivity and availability of 
labor, the nature and complexity of the work to be performed, the impact of 
change orders, the recoverability of claims 
 



 
 
included in the ETC, and the outcome of defending claims asserted against the 
Company. A significant change in an estimate on one or more of the projects 
could have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial position and 
results of operations. 
 
In accordance with the purchase and sale agreement, the Company retained the 
financial risks and rewards of certain claims, equity investments, and 
receivables totaling $159 million that were sold to WGI. In addition, the 
Company retained certain obligations and liabilities totaling $88 million 
related to the purchase and sale agreement. As a result of WGI's bankruptcy 
filing, the realization of these various assets through WGI was no longer 
probable, however, the retained obligations and liabilities could be set off 
against the retained assets pursuant to the terms of the purchase and sale 
agreement. In the second quarter of 2001, the Company recorded a charge of $71 
million to write off these assets and liabilities. 
 
In the first six months of 2002, the Company recorded a charge of $30 million 
for interest expense related to RE&C versus $2 million in the first six months 
of 2001. Also in the first six months of 2002, the Company recorded charges of 
$23 million for legal, management, and other costs. These costs are expected to 
continue through the end of 2002. If there are delays in project completion or 
contract closeout, some of these costs may continue into 2003. 
 
Liabilities from discontinued operations included current liabilities for RE&C 
of $563 million and $482 million at June 30, 2002 and December 31, 2001, 
respectively. 
 
In the second quarter of 2002 the total loss from discontinued operations was 
$530 million pretax, $359 million after-tax, or $0.87 per diluted share versus 
$508 million pretax, $328 million after-tax, or $0.93 per diluted share in the 
second quarter of 2001. 
 
In the first six months of 2002 the total loss from discontinued operations was 
$546 million pretax, $583 million after-tax, or $1.43 per diluted share versus 
$839 million pretax, $546 million after-tax, or $1.56 per diluted share in the 
first six months of 2001. 
 
Net cash used in operating activities from discontinued operations was $457 
million and $26 million related to RE&C and AIS, respectively, in the first six 
months of 2002 versus net cash used of $180 million and $35 million related to 
RE&C and AIS, respectively, in the first six months of 2001. The Company expects 
its operating cash flow to be negatively affected by approximately $1.1 billion 
(excluding the benefit of tax deductions for the Company) during 2002 which 
includes project completion costs, legal and management costs, and interest 
related to RE&C. Further increases to project costs may increase the estimated 
operating cash outflow for RE&C in 2002. 
 
Financial Condition and Liquidity 
- --------------------------------- 
 
Net cash used in operating activities was $20 million in the first six months of 
2002 versus $290 million in the first six months of 2001. Net cash provided from 
operating activities from continuing operations was $463 million in the first 
six months of 2002 versus net cash used of $75 million in the first six months 
of 2001. The improvement was due primarily to changes in inventory levels at 
Raytheon Aircraft and a $156 million tax refund received in 2002 as a result of 
the change in tax law described above. 
 
Net cash provided by investing activities in the first six months of 2002 was 
$931 million due primarily to the sale of AIS described above, versus net cash 
used of $15 million in the first six months of 2001. Origination of financing 
receivables in the first six months of 2002 was $141 million versus $394 million 
in the first six months of 2001. Sale of 
 



 
 
financing receivables, net of repurchases included sales of $244 million and 
repurchases of $237 million in the first six months of 2002 versus sales of $396 
million and repurchases of $62 million in the first six months of 2001. Capital 
expenditures were $190 million in the first six months of 2002 versus $187 
million in the first six months of 2001. Capital expenditures for the full year 
2002 are expected to be approximately $450 million. Expenditures for internal 
use software were $52 million and $78 million in the first six months of 2002 
and 2001, respectively. Expenditures for internal use software are expected to 
be approximately $95 million in 2002 as the Company continues to convert 
significant portions of its existing financial systems to a new integrated 
financial package. In March 2002, the Company received $134 million from Hughes 
Electronics representing the balance due on an October 2001 settlement regarding 
the purchase price adjustment related to the Company's merger with the defense 
business of Hughes Electronics (Hughes Defense). Proceeds from sales of 
operating units and investments were $1,123 million and $266 million in the 
first six months of 2002 and 2001, respectively. 
 
Net cash used in financing activities was $483 million in the first six months 
of 2002 versus net cash used of $37 million in the first six months of 2001. 
Dividends paid to stockholders were $159 million and $136 million in the first 
six months of 2002 and 2001, respectively. The quarterly dividend rate was $0.20 
per share for the first two quarters of 2002 and 2001. 
 
In the first six months of 2002 total debt decreased by $454 million versus $1.1 
billion in the first six months of 2001. Payments on the outstanding lines of 
credit were $140 million for the first six months of 2002. There were maturities 
of the current portion of long-term debt of $200 million for the first six 
months of 2002 versus $500 million for the first six months of 2001. In 
addition, the Company repurchased debt with a par value of $96 million and $633 
million, respectively, for the first six months of 2002 and 2001. In May 2001, 
the Company issued 17,250,000 equity security units with net proceeds of $837 
million and 14,375,000 shares of common stock with net proceeds of $376 million. 
The Company expects to utilize existing cash and cash equivalents to fund the 
repayment of $1.0 billion of debt that matures in August 2002. 
 
The investment performance of the Company's pension plan assets during the first 
half of 2002 has not met the Company's long-term return on asset (ROA) 
assumption under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 87, Employers' 
Accounting for Pensions. As a result, it seems likely that the return on assets 
for the entire measurement period ending October 31, 2002, will be below the 
Company's ROA assumption of 9.5% per annum. There are a number of potential 
consequences of that. First, an actual ROA below 9.5% would increase pension 
expense for 2003 and thereby adversely affect earnings per share. Second, if 
asset returns are significantly below 9.5% for 2002, following the unfavorable 
investment performance of the pension fund in 2001, the Company would likely 
reconsider its long-term ROA assumption for 2003 and beyond. That could have an 
additional adverse effect on earnings per share in 2003 and beyond. Third, asset 
returns below 9.5% could also increase the funding requirements of the pension 
plans and adversely affect operating cash flow in 2004 and beyond. Since pension 
funding requirements are generally recoverable costs under government 
contracting regulations, the net cash flow impact of future increases in pension 
funding is estimated to be 20-25 percent of the funding requirement and is not 
considered to be material to the liquidity or financial resources of the Company 
overall. 
 
Capital Structure and Resources 
- ------------------------------- 
 
Total debt was $7.8 billion at June 30, 2002 compared with $8.2 billion at 
December 31, 2001. Cash and cash equivalents were $1.6 billion at June 30, 2002 
and $1.2 billion at December 31, 2001. Total debt, as a percentage of total 
capital, was 40.4 percent at June 30, 2002 and December 31, 2001. 
 
In 2001, the Company entered into various interest rate swaps that correspond to 
a portion of the Company's fixed rate debt in order to effectively hedge the 
interest rate risk. The total notional value of the interest rate swaps, which 
expire on various dates between July 2005 and August 2007, is $1.2 billion, 
effectively converting approximately 15 percent of the Company's total debt to 
variable rate debt. 
 
The Company's most restrictive bank agreement covenant is an interest coverage 
ratio that currently requires earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and 
amortization (EBITDA), excluding certain charges, be at least 2.5 times net 
interest expense for the prior four quarters. In July 2002, the covenant was 
amended to exclude certain charges of $450 million related to discontinued 
operations. The Company was in compliance with the interest coverage ratio 
covenant, as amended, during the first six months of 2002. 
 
Lines of credit with certain commercial banks exist to provide short-term 
liquidity. The lines of credit bear interest based upon LIBOR and were $2.3 
billion at June 30, 2002 and $2.4 billion at December 31, 2001. There were no 
borrowings under these lines of credit at June 30, 2002. There was $140 million 
outstanding under these lines of credit at December 31, 2001. 
 



 
 
The outstanding balance in the Company's off balance sheet receivables facility 
was $1,218 million at June 30, 2002 and $1,448 million at December 31, 2001. The 
decline has primarily resulted from repurchases and restructurings of commuter 
aircraft receivables consistent with the charge taken in the third quarter of 
2001. The Company expects this balance to continue to decline through this 
activity as well as loan sales to a point at which it may no longer be practical 
to maintain this facility and may result in a decision to discontinue its use. 
If that were to occur, any remaining assets financed by the Company and the 
associated off balance sheet borrowing would be reflected in the consolidated 
financial statements of the Company. 
 
In 1994, the Company invested in Space Imaging and currently has a 31 percent 
equity investment in Space Imaging LLC. Since 1996, the Company has guaranteed a 
portion of Space Imaging's debt and currently guarantees 50 percent of a $300 
million Space Imaging loan facility that matures in 2003. There were $260 
million of Space Imaging borrowings outstanding under this facility at June 30, 
2002. 
 
The Company's need for, cost of, and access to funds are dependent on future 
operating results, as well as conditions external to the Company. Cash and cash 
equivalents, cash flow from operations, sale of financing receivables, proceeds 
from divestitures, and other available financing resources are expected to be 
sufficient to meet anticipated operating, capital expenditure, and debt service 
requirements. 
 
Accounting Standards 
- -------------------- 
 
In June 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with 
Exit or Disposal Activities (SFAS No. 146) which nulifies Emerging Issues Task 
Force (EITF) Issue No. 94-3, Liability Recognition for Certain Employee 
Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain 
Costs Incurred in a Restructuring). This accounting standard, which is effective 
for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002, 
addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or 
disposal activities. The adoption of SFAS No. 146 is not expected to have a 
material effect on the Company's financial position or results of operations. 
 
In April 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 145, Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, 
and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections (SFAS No. 
145). This accounting standard, which is effective for fiscal years beginning 
after May 15, 2002, requires, among other things, that debt extinguishments used 
as a part of an entity's risk management strategy no longer meet the criteria 
for classification as extraordinary items. The adoption of SFAS No. 145 is not 
expected to have a material effect on the Company's financial position or 
results of operations. 
 
In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 
(SFAS No. 142). This accounting standard addresses financial accounting and 
reporting for goodwill and other intangible assets and requires that goodwill 
amortization be discontinued and replaced with periodic tests of impairment. 
SFAS No. 142 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2001, 
and is required to be applied at the beginning of the fiscal year. Impairment 
losses that arise due to the initial application of this standard will be 
reported as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle as of 
January 1, 2002. 
 
In accordance with SFAS No. 142, goodwill amortization was discontinued as of 
January 1, 2002. In the first quarter of 2002, the Company recorded a goodwill 
impairment of $360 million related to AIS as a cumulative effect of change in 
accounting principle. Due to the non-deductibility of this goodwill, the Company 
did not record a tax benefit in connection with this impairment. During the 
second quarter of 2002, the Company completed its transitional review for 
potential goodwill impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 142. As a result, the 
Company recorded a goodwill impairment of $185 million pretax, $149 million 
after-tax, which represented all of the goodwill at Raytheon Aircraft, as a 
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle. The Company has also 
determined that there is no impairment of goodwill related to any of its defense 
businesses beyond the $360 million recorded in connection with the sale of AIS. 
The total goodwill impairment charge for the six months ended June 30, 2002 was 
$545 million pretax, $509 million after-tax, or $1.25 per diluted share. 
 
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Financial Market Risks 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
The following discussion covers quantitative and qualitative disclosures about 
the Company's market risk. The Company's primary market exposures are to 
interest rates and foreign exchange rates. 
 



 
 
The Company meets its working capital requirements with a combination of 
variable rate short-term and fixed rate long-term financing. The Company enters 
into interest rate swap agreements with commercial and investment banks 
primarily to manage interest rates associated with the Company's financing 
arrangements. The Company also enters into foreign currency forward contracts 
with commercial banks only to fix the dollar value of specific commitments and 
payments to international vendors and the value of foreign currency denominated 
receipts. The market-risk sensitive instruments used by the Company for hedging 
are entered into with commercial and investment banks and are directly related 
to a particular asset, liability, or transaction for which a firm commitment is 
in place. The Company also sells receivables through a special purpose entity 
(described in Note 3 - Other Assets) and retains a partial interest that may 
include servicing rights, interest only strips, and subordinated certificates. 
 
Financial instruments held by the Company which are subject to interest rate 
risk include notes payable, long-term debt, long-term receivables, investments, 
and interest rate swap agreements. The aggregate hypothetical loss in earnings 
for one year of those financial instruments held by the Company at June 30, 2002 
and July 1, 2001, which are subject to interest rate risk resulting from a 
hypothetical increase in interest rates of 10 percent, was $2 million and $3 
million, respectively, after-tax. The hypothetical loss was determined by 
calculating the aggregate impact of a 10 percent increase in the interest rate 
of each variable rate financial instrument held by the Company at June 30, 2002 
and July 1, 2001, which was subject to interest rate risk. Fixed rate financial 
instruments were not evaluated, as the risk exposure is not material. 
 
Forward-Looking Statements 
- -------------------------- 
 
Certain statements made in this report, including any statements relating to the 
Company's future plans, objectives, and projected future financial performance, 
contain or are based on, forward-looking statements within the meaning of the 
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Specifically, statements that 
are not historical facts, including statements accompanied by words such as 
"believe," "expect," "estimate," "intend," or "plan," variations of these words 
and similar expressions, are intended to identify forward-looking statements and 
convey the uncertainty of future events or outcomes. The Company cautions 
readers that any such forward-looking statements are based on assumptions that 
the Company believes are reasonable, but are subject to a wide-range of risks, 
and actual results may differ materially. Given these uncertainties, readers 
should not rely on forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements also 
represent the Company's estimates and assumptions only as of the date that they 
were made. The Company expressly disclaims any current intention to provide 
updates to forward-looking statements, and the estimates and assumptions 
associated with them, after the date of this report. Important factors that 
could cause actual results to differ include, but are not limited to: 
differences in anticipated and actual program results; risks inherent with large 
long-term fixed price contracts, particularly the ability to contain cost 
growth; the ultimate resolution of contingencies and legal matters, including 
investigations; risks associated with equity investments in third party or joint 
ventures; the ability to realize anticipated cost efficiencies; timely 
development and certification of new aircraft; the effect of market conditions, 
particularly in relation to the general aviation and commuter aircraft markets; 
the impact of changes in the collateral values of financed aircraft, 
particularly commuter aircraft; the ability to finance ongoing operations at 
attractive rates; government customers' budgetary constraints; government import 
and export policies; and other government regulations; termination of government 
contracts; financial and governmental risks related to international 
transactions; the ability to recruit and retain qualified employees; delays and 
uncertainties regarding the timing of the 
 



 
 
award of international programs; changes in government or customer priorities 
due to program reviews or revisions to strategic objectives; difficulties in 
developing and producing operationally advanced technology systems; economic, 
business, and political conditions domestically and internationally; program 
performance and timing of contract payments; the performance of critical 
subcontractors and the ability to obtain adequate insurance; the timing and 
customer acceptance of product deliveries; the impact of competitive products 
and pricing; the uncertainty of the timing and amount of net realizable value of 
Boeing Business Jet-related assets; and risks associated with the continuing 
project obligations and retained assets and retained liabilities of RE&C, 
including timely completion of two Massachusetts construction projects, among 
other things. Further information regarding the factors that could cause actual 
results to differ materially from projected results can be found in the 
Company's filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including "Item 
1-Business" in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2001. 
 



 
 
PART II. OTHER INFORMATION 
 
ITEM 1.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
 
The Company is a party to or has property subject to litigation and other 
proceedings referenced in "Note 11 - Commitments and Contingencies" of the Notes 
to Financial Statements (Unaudited) included in this Form 10-Q and in the 
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, or 
arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of management, except 
as otherwise indicated in the Form 10-K, it is unlikely that the outcome of any 
such litigation or other proceedings will have a material adverse effect on the 
Company's financial position or results of operations. 
 
See the "Legal Proceedings" section of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K 
for the year ended December 31, 2001 for detailed descriptions of previously 
filed actions. 
 
The Company is primarily engaged in providing products and services under 
contracts with the U.S. government and, to a lesser degree, under direct foreign 
sales contracts, some of which are funded by the U.S. government. These 
contracts are subject to extensive legal and regulatory requirements and, from 
time to time, agencies of the U.S. government investigate whether the Company's 
operations are being conducted in accordance with these requirements. Agencies 
which oversee contract performance include: the Defense Contract Audit Agency, 
the Department of Defense Inspector General, the General Accounting Office, the 
Department of Justice, and Congressional Committees. U.S. government 
investigations of the Company, whether relating to these contracts or conducted 
for other reasons, could result in administrative, civil, or criminal 
liabilities, including repayments, fines or penalties being imposed upon the 
Company, the suspension of government export licenses, or the suspension or 
debarment from future U.S. government contracting. U.S. government 
investigations often take years to complete and many result in no adverse action 
against the Company. 
 
New Matters 
- ----------- 
 
On June 17, 2002, the Company received service of a grand jury subpoena issued 
by the United States District Court for the District of California. The subpoena 
seeks documents relating to the activities of an international sales 
representative engaged by the Company relating to a foreign military sales 
contract in Korea in the late 1990s. The Company has in place appropriate 
compliance policies and procedures, and believes its conduct has been consistent 
with those policies and procedures. The Company is cooperating fully with the 
Government's investigation. 
 
Previously Reported Matters 
- --------------------------- 
 
As previously reported, in June 2001, a purported class action lawsuit entitled, 
Muzinich & Co., Inc. et al v. Raytheon Company, et. al., (Civil Action No. 
- ------------------------------------------------------- 
01-0284-S-BLW) was filed in federal court in Boise, Idaho allegedly on behalf of 
all purchasers of common stock or senior notes of WGI during the period April 
17, 2000 through March 1, 2001 (the class period). The putative plaintiff class 
claims to have suffered harm by purchasing WGI securities because the Company 
and certain of its officers allegedly violated federal securities laws by 
purportedly misrepresenting the true financial condition of RE&C in order to 
sell RE&C to WGI at an artificially inflated price. An amended complaint was 
filed on October 1, 2001 alleging similar claims. The Company and the individual 
defendants filed a motion seeking to dismiss the action in mid-November 2001. On 
April 30, 2002, the Court denied the Company's and the individual defendants' 
motion to dismiss the complaint. Thereafter, the defendants filed a motion with 
the District Court requesting permission to seek an immediate appeal of the 
District Court's decision to the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth 
Circuit, which the District Court granted on July 1, 2002. The Company's and the 
individual defendants' motion asking the Ninth Circuit to accept their immediate 
appeal is now pending before the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. 
 
As previously reported, the Company has been named as a nominal defendant and 
members of its Board of Directors and several current and former officers have 
been named as defendants in another purported shareholder derivative action 
entitled Richard J. Kager v. Daniel P. Burnham, et. al., (Civil Action No. 
         ---------------------------------------------- 
01-11180-JLT) filed in July 2001 in the U. S. District Court in Massachusetts. 
The Kager derivative complaint contains allegations similar to those included in 
    ----- 
the Muzinich complaint, and further alleges that the individual defendants 
    -------- 
breached fiduciary duties to the Company and purportedly failed to maintain 
systems necessary for prudent management and control of the Company's 
operations. On June 28, 2002, all of the defendants in the Kager matter filed a 
                                                           ----- 
motion to dismiss the complaint which has not yet been heard by the Court. 
 
The Company has been advised by the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") 
Staff that the investigation commenced by the SEC into the Company's former 
engineering and construction business on May 2, 2001, which was previously 
disclosed, has been closed without action. 
 
ITEM 4.  SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY-HOLDERS 
 
At the annual meeting of stockholders held on April 24, 2002, the stockholders 
of the Company took the following action: 
 



1.   Elected the following four directors for terms of office expiring at the 
     annual meeting of stockholders in 2005: 
 
     Name                              For                   Withhold 
     ----                              ---                   -------- 
     Daniel P. Burnham             296,387,074              40,753,586 
     Barbara M. Barrett            296,529,579              40,611,082 
     Frederic M. Poses             296,540,146              40,600,516 
     John H. Tilelli, Jr.          329,477,508               7,649,507 
 
     The following directors continued in office after the meeting: Ferdinand 
     Colloredo-Mansfeld, Thomas E. Everhart, L. Dennis Kozlowski, Warren B. 
     Rudman, John M. Deutch, Henrique de Campos Meirelles, Michael C. Ruettgers, 
     and William R. Spivey. 
 
2.   Rejected a stockholder proposal regarding Offsets. The vote was 22,547,436 
     for, 253,846,900 against, 7,797,605 abstentions and 52,948,726 broker 
     non-votes. 
 
3.   Approved a stockholder proposal regarding Annual Election of Directors. The 
     vote was 174,902,705 for, 107,517,707 against, 1,760,099 abstentions and 
     52,960,156 broker non-votes. 
 
4.   Approved a stockholder proposal regarding the Shareholder Rights Plan. The 
     vote was 176,887,671 for, 105,135,779 against, 2,156,957 abstentions and 
     52,960,260 broker non-votes. 
 
5.   Rejected a stockholder proposal regarding Independent Directors. The vote 
     was 54,035,831 for, 225,270,485 against, 4,874,197 abstentions and 
     52,960,154 broker non-votes. 
 
6.   Rejected a stockholder proposal regarding Golden Parachutes. The vote was 
     53,397,048 for, 228,662,315 against, 2,121,148 abstentions and 52,960,156 
     broker non-votes. 
 
7.   Rejected a stockholder proposal regarding Performance-based Stock Options. 
     The vote was 35,412,120 for, 244,067,837 against, 4,712,921 abstentions and 
     52,947,789 broker non-votes. 
 
8.   Rejected a stockholder proposal regarding Severance Agreements. The vote 
     was 125,249,831 for, 156,635,832 against, 2,294,848 abstentions and 
     52,960,156 broker non-votes. 
 
9.   Rejected a stockholder proposal regarding MacBride Principles. The vote was 
     36,380,375 for, 241,006,743 against, 6,805,752 abstentions and 52,947,797 
     broker non-votes. 
 
 
 
 



 
 
ITEM 6.  EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K 
 
     (a)  Exhibits 
 
10.1     First Amendment to the Fourth Amended and Restated Purchase and Sale 
         Agreement dated as of March 8, 2002 among Raytheon Aircraft Credit 
         Corporation, Raytheon Aircraft Receivables Corporation and the 
         Purchasers named therein. 
 
10.2     First Amendment to the 364 Day Competitive Advance and Revolving Credit 
         Facility dated as of November 28, 2001, among Raytheon Company, as 
         Borrower, Raytheon Technical Services Company and Raytheon Aircraft 
         Company, as Guarantors, the lenders named therein, and J.P. Morgan 
         Chase Bank as Administrative Agent for the lenders. 
 
10.3     First Amendment to the Five-Year Competitive Advance and Revolving 
         Credit Facility dated as of November 28, 2001, among Raytheon Company, 
         as Borrower, Raytheon Technical Services Company and Raytheon Aircraft 
         Company, as Guarantors, the lenders named therein, and J.P. Morgan 
         Chase Bank as Administrative Agent for the lenders. 
 
10.4     Raytheon Savings and Investment Plan, as amended and restated effective 
         January 1, 2000. 
 
12       Statement Regarding Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Combined Fixed 
         Charges and Preferred Dividends. 
 
99.1     Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant 
         to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
 
99.2     Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant 
         to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
 
     (b)  Reports on Form 8-K 
 
On June 28, 2002, the Company filed a Current Report on Form 8-K with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission. 
 



 
 
SIGNATURE 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the 
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 
 
                                             RAYTHEON COMPANY (Registrant) 
 
 
                                             By: /s/ Franklyn A. Caine 
                                                 ------------------------------- 
                                                 Franklyn A. Caine 
                                                 Senior Vice President and 
                                                 Chief Financial Officer 
 
                                             By: /s/ Edward S. Pliner 
                                                 ------------------------------- 
                                                 Edward S. Pliner 
                                                 Vice President and 
                                                 Corporate Controller 
                                                 (Chief Accounting Officer) 
 
August 14, 2002 
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10.1                First Amendment to the Fourth Amended and Restated Purchase 
                    and Sale Agreement dated as of March 8, 2002 among Raytheon 
                    Aircraft Credit Corporation, Raytheon Aircraft Receivables 
                    Corporation and the Purchasers named therein. 
 
10.2                First Amendment to the 364 Day Competitive Advance and 
                    Revolving Credit Facility dated as of November 28, 2001, 
                    among Raytheon Company, as Borrower, Raytheon Technical 
                    Services Company and Raytheon Aircraft Company, as 
                    Guarantors, the lenders named therein, and J.P. Morgan Chase 
                    Bank as Administrative Agent for the lenders. 
 
10.3                First Amendment to the Five-Year Competitive Advance and 
                    Revolving Credit Facility dated as of November 28, 2001, 
                    among Raytheon Company, as Borrower, Raytheon Technical 
                    Services Company and Raytheon Aircraft Company, as 
                    Guarantors, the lenders named therein, and J.P. Morgan Chase 
                    Bank as Administrative Agent for the lenders. 
 
10.4                Raytheon Savings and Investment Plan, as amended and 
                    restated effective January 1, 2000. 
 
12                  Statement Regarding Computation of Ratio of Earnings to 
                    Combined Fixed Charges and Preferred Dividends. 
 
99.1                Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted 
                    Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
 
99.2                Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted 
                    Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
 



 
 
                                                                    Exhibit 10.1 
 
                                 FIRST AMENDMENT 
 
         FIRST AMENDMENT, dated as of July __, 2002 (this "Amendment"), to the 
FOURTH AMENDED AND RESTATED PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT, dated as of March 8, 
2002 (the "Purchase and Sale Agreement"), among RAYTHEON AIRCRAFT RECEIVABLES 
CORPORATION, a Kansas corporation (the "Seller"), RAYTHEON AIRCRAFT CREDIT 
CORPORATION ("Raytheon Credit"), as Servicer, the financial institutions and 
special purpose corporations from time to time parties thereto (the 
"Purchasers"), BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Managing Facility Agent for the 
Purchasers (in such capacity, the "Managing Facility Agent"), JPMORGAN CHASE 
BANK and BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as Co-Administrative Agents for the Purchasers 
(each in such capacity, a "Co-Administrative Agent"), J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES 
INC., as Syndication Agent (in such capacity, the "Syndication Agent"), 
CITIBANK, N.A., CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON and FLEET SECURITIES, INC., as 
Co-Documentation Agents (each in such capacity, a "Co-Documentation Agent") and 
each Administrative Agent referred to therein. 
 
                              W I T N E S S E T H: 
                              - - - - - - - - - - 
 
         WHEREAS, pursuant to the Purchase and Sale Agreement, the Purchasers 
have agreed to purchase, and have purchased, certain Receivables from the 
Seller; 
 
         WHEREAS, the Seller has requested that the Purchasers and the Managing 
Facility Agent amend the Purchase and Sale Agreement in certain ways; and 
 
         WHEREAS, the Purchasers, the Seller, the Servicer, the Managing 
Facility Agent, RAC and Raytheon desire to amend the Purchase and Sale Agreement 
in the manner specified herein. 
 
         NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows: 
 
          1. Defined Terms. Terms defined in the Purchase and Sale Agreement and 
used herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Purchase and Sale 
Agreement. 
 
          2. Amendments to Section 1.1 of the Purchase and Sale Agreement 
(Defined Terms). The definition of "Consolidated Net Income" appearing in 
Section 1.1 of the Purchase and Sale Agreement is hereby amended by (i) deleting 
the word "and" appearing before the third clause thereof and by inserting, in 
lieu thereof, a comma and (ii) by adding to the end thereof, before the period 
mark, the following: 
 
     "(iv) for the fiscal quarter of Raytheon and its consolidated Subsidiaries 
     ending June 30, 2002, such Consolidated Net Income shall be increased by an 
     aggregate amount not to exceed $450,000,000 for such quarter, representing 
     one-time charges to the extent recorded in connection with the discontinued 
     operations of Raytheon Engineers and Constructors with respect to such 
     fiscal quarter". 
 
          3. Waiver. The Required Purchasers hereby waive compliance with 
Section 8.1(h) of the Purchase and Sale Agreement through the date hereof solely 
to the extent that the failure to comply with such Section is remedied by the 
amendment contained in Section 2 hereof with respect to the definition of 
"Consolidated Net Income". 
 



 
 
            4. Affirmation of Repurchase Agreement. RAC hereby consents to the 
foregoing amendment to the Purchase and Sale Agreement set forth herein and 
reaffirms its obligations under the Repurchase Agreement. 
 
            5. Affirmation of Guarantee. The Guarantor hereby consents to the 
foregoing amendment to the Purchase and Sale Agreement set forth herein and 
reaffirms its obligations under the Guarantee. 
 
            6. Conditions to Effectiveness. This Amendment shall become 
effective on the date (the "Amendment Effective Date") on which (i) the Seller, 
the Servicer, RAC, Raytheon, the Managing Facility Agent and the Required 
Purchasers shall have executed and delivered this Amendment to the Managing 
Facility Agent and (ii) the Managing Facility Agent shall have received, for the 
account of each Required Purchaser executing this Amendment, an amendment fee 
equal to 0.05% of such Purchaser's Commitment. 
 
            7. Representation and Warranties. (a) By the Seller. To induce the 
Managing Facility Agent and the Purchasers to enter into this Amendment, the 
Seller hereby represents and warrants to the Managing Facility Agent and the 
Purchasers as of the Amendment Effective Date that: 
 
               (i) Reaffirmation. As of the date hereof and after giving effect 
     to this Amendment, the representations and warranties set forth in Section 
     4 of the Purchase and Sale Agreement and Sections 3.1(b) and 3.2 of the 
     Intercompany Purchase Agreement are true and correct in all material 
     respects; and 
 
               (ii) No Amortization Event. After giving effect to this 
     Amendment, no Amortization Event shall have occurred and be continuing. 
 
            (b) By the Servicer. To induce the Managing Facility Agent and the 
Purchasers to enter into this Amendment, the Servicer hereby represents and 
warrants to the Managing Facility Agent and the Purchasers as of the Amendment 
Effective Date that: 
 
               (i) Reaffirmation. As of the date hereof and after giving effect 
     to this Amendment, the representations and warranties set forth in Section 
     4 of the Purchase and Sale Agreement and Sections 3.1(b) and 3.2 of the 
     Intercompany Purchase Agreement are true and correct in all material 
     respects; and 
 
               (ii) No Amortization Event. After giving effect to this 
     Amendment, no Amortization Event shall have occurred and be continuing. 
 
            (c) By RAC. To induce the Managing Facility Agent and the Purchasers 
to enter into this Amendment, RAC hereby represents and warrants to the Managing 
Facility Agent and the Purchasers as of the Amendment Effective Date that as of 
the date hereof and after giving effect to this Amendment, the representations 
and warranties set forth in Section 9 of the Repurchase Agreement are true and 
correct in all material respects. 
 
            (d) By Raytheon. To induce the Managing Facility Agent and the 
Purchasers to enter into this Amendment, Raytheon hereby represents and warrants 
to the Managing Facility 
 
 



 
 
Agent and the Purchasers as of the Amendment Effective Date that as of the date 
hereof and after giving effect to this Amendment, the representations and 
warranties set forth in Section 9 of the Guarantee are true and correct in all 
material respects. 
 
         8. Payment of Expenses. Raytheon agrees to pay or reimburse the 
Managing Facility Agent and each Co-Administrative Agent for all its respective 
out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred in connection with the development, 
preparation and execution of, and any amendment, supplement or modification to, 
this Amendment and any other documents prepared in connection herewith or 
therewith, and the consummation and administration of the transactions 
contemplated hereby and thereby, including, without limitation, the reasonable 
fees and disbursements of counsel to the Managing Facility Agent and the 
Co-Administrative Agents. 
 
         9. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed by one or more of the 
parties to this Amendment on any number of separate counterparts, and all of 
said counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same 
instrument. A set of the copies of this Amendment signed by all the parties 
shall be lodged with the Seller and the Managing Facility Agent. 
 
         10. Severability; Headings. Any provision of this Amendment which is 
prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, 
be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without 
invalidating the remaining provisions hereof, and any such prohibition or 
unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or render 
unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction. The section and 
subsection headings used in this Amendment are for convenience of reference only 
and are not to affect the construction hereof or to be taken into consideration 
in the interpretation hereof. 
 
         11. Continuing Effect of Other Documents. This Amendment shall not 
constitute an amendment or waiver of any other provision of the Purchase and 
Sale Agreement not expressly referred to herein and shall not be construed as a 
waiver or consent to any further or future action on the part of the Seller or 
the Servicer that would require a waiver or consent of the Purchasers or the 
Managing Facility Agent. Except as expressly amended, modified and supplemented 
hereby, the provisions of each Purchase Document and the other documents 
executed pursuant to the Purchase Documents are and shall remain in full force 
and effect. 
 
         12. GOVERNING LAW. THIS AMENDMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE 
PARTIES UNDER THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH, THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. 
 



 
 
         IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be 
duly executed and delivered in New York, New York by their proper and duly 
authorized officers as of the day and year first above written. 
 
                                    RAYTHEON AIRCRAFT RECEIVABLES CORPORATION, 
                                    as Seller 
 
                                    By:   ______________________________________ 
                                          Name: 
                                          Title: 
 
 
                                    RAYTHEON AIRCRAFT CREDIT CORPORATION, 
                                    as Servicer 
 
                                    By:   ______________________________________ 
                                          Name: 
                                          Title: 
 
 
 
                                    RAYTHEON COMPANY 
 
 
                                    By:     ____________________________________ 
                                    Name: 
                                    Title: 
 
 
 
                                    RAYTHEON AIRCRAFT COMPANY 
 
 
                                    By:     ____________________________________ 
                                    Name: 
                                    Title: 
 



 
 
                          BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., 
                          as Managing Facility Agent and Co-Administrative Agent 
 
                          By:     ______________________________________________ 
                                  Name: 
                                  Title: 
 
 
                          JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, 
                           as Co-Administrative Agent and Syndication Agent 
 
                          By:     ______________________________________________ 
                                  Name: 
                                  Title: 
 



 
 
                                   JPMORGAN CHASE BANK 
 
 
                                   By:    __________________________________ 
                                   Name: 
                                   Title: 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                   SPC: RECEIVABLES CAPITAL CORPORATION 
 
                                     By: _____________________________ 
                                         Name: 
                                         Title: 
 
 
 
 
                                   SPC BANK:  BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. 
 
                                     By: _____________________________ 
                                         Name: 
                                         Title: 
 



 
 
                                   SPC: CHARTA CORPORATION 
 
 
                                   By:  CITICORP NORTH AMERICA, INC., 
                                        as Attorney-in-Fact 
 
                                        By: ______________________________ 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
 
 
 
 
 
                                   SPC BANK: CITIBANK, N.A. 
 
                                   By:  ________________________________ 
                                        Name: 
                                        Title: 
 



 
 
                                   CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON, CAYMAN ISLANDS 
                                   BRANCH 
 
                                   By: __________________________________ 
                                       Name: 
                                       Title: 
 
                                   By: __________________________________ 
                                       Name: 
                                       Title: 
 



 
 
                                        SPC: EAGLEFUNDING CAPITAL CORP. 
 
 
                                        By: FLEET SECURITIES, INC. 
                                        as Attorney-in-Fact 
 
                                        By: __________________________________ 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
 
 
 
 
                                        SPC BANK:  FLEET NATIONAL BANK 
 
                                        By: __________________________________ 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
 



 
 
                                        SPC: STARBIRD FUNDING CORPORATION 
 
                                        By: ___________________________ 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
 
 
 
 
                                        SPC BANK: BNP PARIBAS, NEW YORK BRANCH 
 
                                        By: ___________________________ 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
 
 
                                        By: ___________________________ 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
 



 
 
                                   SPC: ATLANTIC ASSET SECURITIZATION CORP. 
 
                                   By: CREDIT LYONNAIS NEW YORK BRANCH, 
                                       as Attorney-in-Fact 
 
                                       By: _________________________________ 
                                           Name: 
                                           Title: 
 
 
 
 
                                   SPC BANK: CREDIT LYONNAIS NEW YORK BRANCH 
 
                                   By: _________________________________ 
                                       Name: 
                                       Title: 
 



 
 
                                   THE INDUSTRIAL BANK OF JAPAN, LIMITED 
 
                                   By: __________________________________ 
                                       Name: 
                                       Title: 
 



 
 
                                   THE ROYAL BANK OF SCOTLAND PLC 
 
                                   By: ________________________________ 
                                       Name: 
                                       Title: 
 



 
 
                                   SOCIETE GENERALE 
 
                                   By: __________________________________ 
                                       Name: 
                                       Title: 
 



 
 
                                       WACHOVIA BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION 
 
                                       By:    _________________________________ 
                                              Name: 
                                              Title: 
 



 
 
                                       SPC:  THREE RIVERS FUNDING CORPORATION 
 
                                       By:    __________________________________ 
                                              Name: 
                                              Title: 
 



 
 
                                      SPC:  VICTORY RECEIVABLES CORPORATION 
 
                                      By:   ____________________________________ 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
 
 
 
                                      SPC BANK: BANK OF TOKYO - MITSUBISHI, LTD. 
 
                                      By:   ____________________________________ 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
 



 
 
                                   SPC:  FALCON ASSET SECURITIZATION CORPORATION 
 
                                   By:  ________________________________________ 
                                        Name: 
                                        Title: 
 
                                   By:  ________________________________________ 
                                        Name: 
                                        Title: 
 
 
 
 
                                   SPC BANK: BANK ONE, NA 
 
                                   By:  ________________________________________ 
                                        Name: 
                                        Title: 
 



 
 
                                       BAYERISCHE LANDESBANK GIROZENTRALE 
 
                                       By:    __________________________________ 
                                              Name: 
                                              Title: 
 
                                       By:    __________________________________ 
                                              Name: 
                                              Title: 
 



 
 
                                      SPC: BAVARIA UNIVERSAL FUNDING CORPORATION 
 
                                      By:  _____________________________________ 
                                           Name: 
                                           Title: 
 
 
 
 
                                      SPC BANK:  BAYERISCHE HYPO-UND VEREINSBANK 
                                      AG 
 
                                      By:  _____________________________________ 
                                           Name: 
                                           Title: 
 
                                       By: _____________________________________ 
                                           Name: 
                                           Title: 
 



 
 
                                      KBC BANK NV 
 
                                      By:  _____________________________________ 
                                           Name: 
                                           Title: 
 
                                       By: _____________________________________ 
                                           Name: 
                                           Title: 
 



 
 
                                      THE BANK OF NEW YORK 
 
                                      By:  _____________________________________ 
                                           Name: 
                                           Title: 
 



 
 
                                      THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA 
 
                                      By:  _____________________________________ 
                                           Name: 
                                           Title: 
 



 
 
                                      SPC: PARADIGM FUNDING LLC 
 
                                      By:  _____________________________________ 
                                           Name: 
                                           Title: 
 
 
 
 
                                      SPC BANK:  WESTDEUTSCHE LANDESBANK 
                                      GIROZENTRALE, NEW YORK BRANCH 
 
                                      By:  _____________________________________ 
                                           Name: 
                                           Title: 
 
                                      By:  _____________________________________ 
                                           Name: 
                                           Title: 
 



 
 
                                      BANCA NAZIONALE DEL LAVORO SPA 
 
                                      By:  _____________________________________ 
                                           Name: 
                                           Title: 
 



 
 
                                                                    Exhibit 10.2 
 
                                                        364-Day Credit Agreement 
 
                                 FIRST AMENDMENT 
 
     FIRST AMENDMENT, dated as of July __, 2002 (this "Amendment"), to the 
364-DAY COMPETITIVE ADVANCE AND REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of November 
28, 2001 (the "Credit Agreement"), among RAYTHEON COMPANY, a Delaware 
corporation (the "Borrower"), RAYTHEON TECHNICAL SERVICES COMPANY, a Delaware 
corporation, and RAYTHEON AIRCRAFT COMPANY, a Kansas corporation, each as a 
Guarantor (in such capacity, each a "Guarantor" and, collectively, the 
"Guarantors"), the several Lenders from time to time parties thereto (the 
"Lenders"), J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES INC. and BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC, as 
joint lead arrangers and joint bookrunners (in such capacity, the "Arrangers"), 
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as syndication agent (in such capacity, the "Syndication 
Agent"), CITICORP USA, INC., CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON and MIZUHO FINANCIAL 
GROUP, as documentation agents (in such capacity, each a "Documentation Agent" 
and, collectively, the "Documentation Agents"), and JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, as 
administrative agent (in such capacity, the "Administrative Agent" and, 
collectively with the Syndication Agent and the Documentation Agents, the 
"Agents") for the Lenders. 
 
                              W I T N E S S E T H: 
                              - - - - - - - - - - 
 
     WHEREAS, pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Borrower has requested that 
the Lenders, and the Lenders have agreed, to extend credit to the Borrower 
subject to the terms and conditions contained therein; 
 
     WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested that the Lenders amend the Credit 
Agreement in certain ways; and 
 
     WHEREAS, the Lenders and the Borrower desire to amend the Credit Agreement 
in the manner specified herein. 
 
     NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows: 
 
          1. Defined Terms. Terms defined in the Credit Agreement and used 
herein shall have the meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement. 
 
          2. Amendments to Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement (Defined Terms). 
The definition of "Consolidated Net Income" appearing in Section 1.01 of the 
Credit Agreement is hereby amended by (i) deleting the word "and" appearing 
before the third clause thereof and by inserting, in lieu thereof, a comma and 
(ii) by adding to the end thereof, before the period mark, the following: 
 
     "(iv) for the fiscal quarter of Raytheon and its consolidated Subsidiaries 
     ending June 30, 2002, such Consolidated Net Income shall be increased by an 
     amount not to exceed $450,000,000 for such fiscal quarter, representing 
     one-time charges to the extent recorded 
 
 



 
 
     in connection with the discontinued operations of Raytheon Engineers and 
     Constructors with respect to such fiscal quarter". 
 
          3. Waiver. The Required Lenders hereby waive compliance with Section 
6.05(b) and any related Event of Default pursuant to paragraph (d) of Article 
VII of the Credit Agreement through the date hereof solely to the extent that 
the failure to comply with such provisions is remedied by the amendment 
contained in Section 2 hereof with respect to the definition of "Consolidated 
Net Income". 
 
          4. Affirmation of Guarantee. Each Guarantor hereby consents to the 
foregoing amendment to the Credit Agreement set forth herein and reaffirms its 
obligations under the Guarantee provided by such Guarantor pursuant to Article 
IX of the Credit Agreement. 
 
          5. Conditions to Effectiveness. This Amendment shall become effective 
on the date (the "Amendment Effective Date") on which (i) the Borrower and the 
Required Lenders shall have executed and delivered this Amendment to the 
Administrative Agent and (ii) the Administrative Agent shall have received, for 
the account of each Required Lender executing this Amendment, an amendment fee 
equal to 0.05% of such Lender's Commitment. 
 
          6. Representation and Warranties. To induce the Lenders to enter into 
this Amendment, the Borrower hereby represents and warrants to the Lenders as of 
the Amendment Effective Date that: 
 
             (a) Reaffirmation. As of the date hereof and after giving effect to 
     this Amendment, the representations and warranties set forth in Article III 
     of the Credit Agreement are true and correct in all material respects; and 
 
             (b) No Default. After giving effect to this Amendment, no Default 
     or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing. 
 
          7. Payment of Expenses. The Borrower agrees to pay or reimburse the 
Administrative Agent for all its respective out-of-pocket costs and expenses 
incurred in connection with the development, preparation and execution of, and 
any amendment, supplement or modification to, this Amendment and any other 
documents prepared in connection herewith or therewith, and the consummation and 
administration of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, including, 
without limitation, the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel to the 
Administrative Agent. 
 
          8. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed by one or more of the 
parties to this Amendment on any number of separate counterparts, and all of 
said counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same 
instrument. A set of the copies of this Amendment signed by all the parties 
shall be lodged with the Borrower and the Administrative Agent. 
 
          9. Severability; Headings. Any provision of this Amendment which is 
prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, 
be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without 
invalidating the remaining provisions hereof, and any such prohibition or 
unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or 
 
 
 



 
 
render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction. The section and 
subsection headings used in this Amendment are for convenience of reference only 
and are not to affect the construction hereof or to be taken into consideration 
in the interpretation hereof. 
 
          10. Continuing Effect of Other Documents. This Amendment shall not 
constitute an amendment or waiver of any other provision of the Credit Agreement 
not expressly referred to herein and shall not be construed as a waiver or 
consent to any further or future action on the part of the Borrower that would 
require a waiver or consent of the Lenders or the Administrative Agent. Except 
as expressly amended, modified and supplemented hereby, the provisions of the 
Credit Agreement are and shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
          11. GOVERNING LAW. THIS AMENDMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF 
THE PARTIES UNDER THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this 
Amendment to be duly executed and delivered in New York, New York by their 
proper and duly authorized officers as of the day and year first above written. 
 
                                        RAYTHEON COMPANY, 
                                        as the Borrower 
 
                                        By:______________________________ 
                                        Name: 
                                        Title: 
 
                                        RAYTHEON TECHNICAL SERVICES COMPANY, 
                                        as a Guarantor 
 
                                        By:______________________________ 
                                        Name: 
                                        Title: 
 
                                        RAYTHEON AIRCRAFT COMPANY, 
                                        as a Guarantor 
 
                                        By:______________________________ 
                                        Name: 
                                        Title: 
 
                                        JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, 
                                        as Administrative Agent and as a Lender 
 
                                        By:______________________________ 
                                        Name: 
                                        Title: 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                           BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION 
                                           as a Lender 
 
                                           By:______________________________ 
                                           Name: 
                                           Title: 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                               CITICORP USA, INC., 
                                               as a Lender 
 
                                               By:______________________________ 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                               CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON, 
                                               as a Lender 
 
                                               By:______________________________ 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
 
 
                                               By:______________________________ 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                          THE INDUSTRIAL BANK OF JAPAN, LIMITED, 
                                          ON BEHALF OF, MIZUHO FINANCIAL GROUP, 
                                          as a Lender 
 
                                          By:______________________________ 
                                          Name: 
                                          Title: 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                               SOCIETE GENERALE-CHICAGO BRANCH, 
                                               as a Lender 
 
                                               By:______________________________ 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                               THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA, 
                                               as a Lender 
 
                                               By:______________________________ 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                               BARCLAYS BANK PLC, 
                                               as a Lender 
 
                                               By:______________________________ 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                               BNP PARIBAS, 
                                               as a Lender 
 
                                               By:______________________________ 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                               COMMERZBANK AG, NEW YORK BRANCH, 
                                               as a Lender 
 
                                               By:______________________________ 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
 
 
                                               By:______________________________ 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                               FLEET NATIONAL BANK, 
                                               as a Lender 
 
                                               By:______________________________ 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                               WACHOVIA BANK, N.A., 
                                               as a Lender 
 
                                               By:______________________________ 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                          LEHMAN BROTHERS COMMERCIAL PAPER INC., 
                                          as a Lender 
 
                                          By:______________________________ 
                                          Name: 
                                          Title: 
 



 
 
                                          BANK OF TOKYO - MITSUBISHI, LTD., 
                                          as a Lender 
 
                                          By:______________________________ 
                                          Name: 
                                          Title: 
 



 
 
                                          BANK ONE, NA (MAIN OFFICE CHICAGO), 
                                          as a Lender 
 
                                          By:______________________________ 
                                          Name: 
                                          Title 
 



 
 
                                          BAYERISCHE LANDESBANK GIROZENTRALE, 
                                          CAYMAN ISLANDS BRANCH, 
                                          as a Lender 
 
                                          By:______________________________ 
                                          Name: 
                                          Title: 
 
 
                                          By:______________________________ 
                                          Name: 
                                          Title: 
 



 
 
                                          CREDIT LYONNAIS NEW YORK BRANCH, 
                                          as a Lender 
 
                                          By:______________________________ 
                                          Name: 
                                          Title: 
 



 
 
                                               MELLON BANK, N.A., 
                                               as a Lender 
 
                                               By:______________________________ 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
 



 
 
                                               UBS AG, STAMFORD BRANCH, 
                                               as a Lender 
 
                                               By:______________________________ 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
 



 
 
                                               WESTDEUTSCHE LANDESBANK 
                                               GIROZENTRALE, NEW YORK BRANCH, 
                                               as a Lender 
 
                                               By:______________________________ 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
 
 
                                               By:______________________________ 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
 



 
 
                                               THE BANK OF NEW YORK, 
                                               as a Lender 
 
                                               By:______________________________ 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
 



 
 
                                              BANCA NAZIONALE DEL LAVORO S.p.A., 
                                              New York Branch, 
                                              as a Lender 
 
                                              By:______________________________ 
                                              Name: 
                                              Title: 
 
 
                                              By:______________________________ 
                                              Name: 
                                              Title: 
 



 
 
                                               MORGAN STANLEY BANK, as a Lender 
 
                                               By:______________________________ 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
 



 
 
                                                                    Exhibit 10.3 
 
                                                      Five-Year Credit Agreement 
 
                                 FIRST AMENDMENT 
 
     FIRST AMENDMENT, dated as of July __, 2002 (this "Amendment"), to the 
FIVE-YEAR COMPETITIVE ADVANCE AND REVOLVING CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of 
November 28, 2001 (the "Credit Agreement"), among RAYTHEON COMPANY, a Delaware 
corporation (the "Borrower"), RAYTHEON TECHNICAL SERVICES COMPANY, a Delaware 
corporation, and RAYTHEON AIRCRAFT COMPANY, a Kansas corporation, each as a 
Guarantor (in such capacity, each a "Guarantor" and, collectively, the 
"Guarantors"), the several Lenders from time to time parties thereto (the 
"Lenders"), J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES INC. and BANC OF AMERICA SECURITIES LLC, as 
joint lead arrangers and joint bookrunners (in such capacity, the "Arrangers"), 
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., as syndication agent (in such capacity, the "Syndication 
Agent"), CITICORP USA, INC., CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON and MIZUHO FINANCIAL 
GROUP, as documentation agents (in such capacity, each a "Documentation Agent" 
and, collectively, the "Documentation Agents"), and JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, as 
administrative agent (in such capacity, the "Administrative Agent" and, 
collectively with the Syndication Agent and the Documentation Agents, the 
"Agents") for the Lenders. 
 
                              W I T N E S S E T H: 
 
     WHEREAS, pursuant to the Credit Agreement, the Borrower has requested that 
the Lenders, and the Lenders have agreed, to extend credit to the Borrower 
subject to the terms and conditions contained therein; 
 
     WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested that the Lenders amend the Credit 
Agreement in certain ways; and 
 
     WHEREAS, the Lenders and the Borrower desire to amend the Credit Agreement 
in the manner specified herein. 
 
     NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows: 
 
         1. Defined Terms. Terms defined in the Credit Agreement and used herein 
shall have the meanings given to them in the Credit Agreement. 
 
         2. Amendments to Section 1.01 of the Credit Agreement (Defined Terms). 
The definition of "Consolidated Net Income" appearing in Section 1.01 of the 
Credit Agreement is hereby amended by (i) deleting the word "and" appearing 
before the third clause thereof and by inserting, in lieu thereof, a comma and 
(ii) by adding to the end thereof, before the period mark, the following: 
 
     "(iv) for the fiscal quarter of Raytheon and its consolidated Subsidiaries 
     ending June 30, 2002, such Consolidated Net Income shall be increased by an 
     amount not to exceed $450,000,000 for such fiscal quarter, representing 
     one-time charges to the extent recorded 
 



 
 
     in connection with the discontinued operations of Raytheon Engineers and 
     Constructors with respect to such fiscal quarter". 
 
          3. Waiver. The Required Lenders hereby waive compliance with Section 
7.05(b) and any related Event of Default pursuant to paragraph (d) of Article 
VIII of the Credit Agreement through the date hereof solely to the extent that 
the failure to comply with such provisions is remedied by the amendment 
contained in Section 2 hereof with respect to the definition of "Consolidated 
Net Income". 
 
          4. Affirmation of Guarantee. Each Guarantor hereby consents to the 
foregoing amendment to the Credit Agreement set forth herein and reaffirms its 
obligations under the Guarantee provided by such Guarantor pursuant to Article X 
of the Credit Agreement. 
 
          5. Conditions to Effectiveness. This Amendment shall become effective 
on the date (the "Amendment Effective Date") on which (i) the Borrower and the 
Required Lenders shall have executed and delivered this Amendment to the 
Administrative Agent and (ii) the Administrative Agent shall have received, for 
the account of each Required Lender executing this Amendment, an amendment fee 
equal to 0.05% of such Lender's Commitment. 
 
          6. Representation and Warranties. To induce the Lenders to enter into 
this Amendment, the Borrower hereby represents and warrants to the Lenders as 
of the Amendment Effective Date that: 
 
             (a) Reaffirmation. As of the date hereof and after giving effect to 
     this Amendment, the representations and warranties set forth in Article IV 
     of the Credit Agreement are true and correct in all material respects; and 
 
             (b) No Default. After giving effect to this Amendment, no Default 
     or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing. 
 
          7. Payment of Expenses. The Borrower agrees to pay or reimburse the 
Administrative Agent for all its respective out-of-pocket costs and expenses 
incurred in connection with the development, preparation and execution of, and 
any amendment, supplement or modification to, this Amendment and any other 
documents prepared in connection herewith or therewith, and the consummation and 
administration of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, including, 
without limitation, the reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel to the 
Administrative Agent. 
 
          8. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed by one or more of the 
parties to this Amendment on any number of separate counterparts, and all of 
said counterparts taken together shall be deemed to constitute one and the same 
instrument. A set of the copies of this Amendment signed by all the parties 
shall be lodged with the Borrower and the Administrative Agent. 
 
          9. Severability; Headings. Any provision of this Amendment which is 
prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, 
be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability without 
invalidating the remaining provisions hereof, and any such prohibition or 
unenforceability in any jurisdiction shall not invalidate or 
 
 
 
 



 
 
render unenforceable such provision in any other jurisdiction. The section and 
subsection headings used in this Amendment are for convenience of reference only 
and are not to affect the construction hereof or to be taken into consideration 
in the interpretation hereof. 
 
          10. Continuing Effect of Other Documents. This Amendment shall not 
constitute an amendment or waiver of any other provision of the Credit Agreement 
not expressly referred to herein and shall not be construed as a waiver or 
consent to any further or future action on the part of the Borrower that would 
require a waiver or consent of the Lenders or the Administrative Agent. Except 
as expressly amended, modified and supplemented hereby, the provisions of the 
Credit Agreement are and shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
          11. GOVERNING LAW. THIS AMENDMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF 
THE PARTIES UNDER THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK. 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this 
Amendment to be duly executed and delivered in New York, New York by their 
proper and duly authorized officers as of the day and year first above written. 
 
                                  RAYTHEON COMPANY, 
                                  as the Borrower 
 
                                  By:______________________________ 
                                  Name: 
                                  Title: 
 
                                  RAYTHEON TECHNICAL SERVICES COMPANY, 
                                  as a Guarantor 
 
                                  By:______________________________ 
                                  Name: 
                                  Title: 
 
                                  RAYTHEON AIRCRAFT COMPANY, 
                                  as a Guarantor 
 
                                  By:______________________________ 
                                  Name: 
                                  Title: 
 
                                  JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, 
                                  as Administrative Agent and as a Lender 
 
                                  By:______________________________ 
                                  Name: 
                                  Title: 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                        BANK OF AMERICA, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION 
                                        as a Lender 
 
                                        By:______________________________ 
                                        Name: 
                                        Title: 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                            CITICORP USA, INC., 
                                            as a Lender 
 
                                            By:______________________________ 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                           CREDIT SUISSE FIRST BOSTON, 
                                           as a Lender 
 
                                           By:______________________________ 
                                           Name: 
                                           Title: 
 
 
                                           By:______________________________ 
                                           Name: 
                                           Title: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                          THE INDUSTRIAL BANK OF JAPAN, LIMITED, 
                                          ON BEHALF OF, MIZUHO FINANCIAL GROUP, 
                                          as a Lender 
 
                                          By:______________________________ 
                                          Name: 
                                          Title: 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                            SOCIETE GENERALE- CHICAGO BRANCH, 
                                            as a Lender 
 
                                            By:______________________________ 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                             THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA, 
                                             as a Lender 
 
                                             By:______________________________ 
                                             Name: 
                                             Title: 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                             BARCLAYS BANK PLC, 
                                             as a Lender 
 
                                             By:______________________________ 
                                             Name: 
                                             Title: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                         BNP PARIBAS, 
                                         as a Lender 
 
                                         By:______________________________ 
                                         Name: 
                                         Title: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                           COMMERZBANK AG, NEW YORK BRANCH, 
                                           as a Lender 
 
                                           By:______________________________ 
                                           Name: 
                                           Title: 
 
 
                                           By:______________________________ 
                                           Name: 
                                           Title: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                             FLEET NATIONAL BANK, 
                                             as a Lender 
 
                                             By:______________________________ 
                                             Name: 
                                             Title: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                               WACHOVIA BANK, N.A., 
                                               as a Lender 
 
                                               By:______________________________ 
                                               Name: 
                                               Title: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                 LEHMAN BROTHERS COMMERCIAL PAPER INC., 
                                 as a Lender 
 
                                 By:______________________________ 
                                 Name: 
                                 Title: 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                              BANK OF TOKYO - MITSUBISHI, LTD., 
                                              as a Lender 
 
                                              By:______________________________ 
                                              Name: 
                                              Title: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                            BANK ONE, NA (MAIN OFFICE CHICAGO), 
                                            as a Lender 
 
                                            By:______________________________ 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                     BAYERISCHE LANDESBANK GIROZENTRALE, 
                                     CAYMAN ISLANDS BRANCH, 
                                     as a Lender 
 
                                     By:______________________________ 
                                     Name: 
                                     Title: 
 
 
                                     By:______________________________ 
                                     Name: 
                                     Title: 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                          CREDIT LYONNAIS NEW YORK BRANCH, 
                                          as a Lender 
 
                                          By:______________________________ 
                                          Name: 
                                          Title: 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
                                        MELLON BANK, N.A., 
                                        as a Lender 
 
                                        By:______________________________ 
                                        Name: 
                                        Title: 
 



 
 
                                        UBS AG, STAMFORD BRANCH, 
                                        as a Lender 
 
                                        By:______________________________ 
                                        Name: 
                                        Title: 
 



 
 
                                        WESTDEUTSCHE LANDESBANK 
                                        GIROZENTRALE, NEW YORK BRANCH, 
                                        as a Lender 
 
                                        By:______________________________ 
                                        Name: 
                                        Title: 
 
 
                                        By:______________________________ 
                                        Name: 
                                        Title: 
 



 
 
                                        THE BANK OF NEW YORK, 
                                        as a Lender 
 
                                        By:______________________________ 
                                        Name: 
                                        Title: 
 



 
 
                                        BANCA NAZIONALE DEL LAVORO S.p.A., 
                                        New York Branch, 
                                        as a Lender 
 
                                        By:____________________________ 
                                        Name: 
                                        Title: 
 
 
                                        By:____________________________ 
                                        Name: 
                                        Title: 
 



 
 
                                        MORGAN STANLEY BANK, as a Lender 
 
                                        By:___________________________ 
                                        Name: 
                                        Title: 
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                      RAYTHEON SAVINGS AND INVESTMENT PLAN 
 
                                    ARTICLE I 
 
                              Adoption of the Plan 
 
     1.1 Amendment and Restatement. 
 
     (a) Raytheon Company, a corporation organized under the laws of the state 
of Delaware, originally established the Raytheon Savings and Investment Plan 
(the "Plan") effective January 1, 1984. Raytheon Company most recently amended 
and restated the Plan in its entirety effective January 1, 2000, and this 
amendment and restatement is also generally effective January 1, 2000. From 
January 1, 2000 until December 31, 2001, the amended and restated Plan is a 
stock bonus plan that constitutes an employee stock ownership plan within the 
meaning of section 4975(e)(7) of the Code and includes a cash or deferred 
arrangement under section 401(k) of the Code. On and after January 1, 2002, the 
portion of the Plan that is invested in Common Stock and Raytheon Company Class 
A common stock is a stock bonus plan that constitutes an employee stock 
ownership plan within the meaning of section 4975(e)(7) of the Code and includes 
a cash or deferred arrangement under section 401(k) of the Code, and the 
remaining portion of the Plan is a profit sharing plan that includes a cash or 
deferred arrangement under section 401(k) of the Code. 
 
     (b) In accordance with sections 4.8(a) and 15.1 of the Plan, effective 
January 1, 2000, the Raytheon Employee Savings and Investment Plan shall merge 
into and become part of the Plan. The Raytheon Employee Savings and Investment 
Plan shall cease to exist as a separate plan after December 31, 1999. 
 
     (c) The Plan is intended to comply with all of the applicable requirements 
under sections 401(a), 401(k) and, to the extent the Plan is an employee stock 
ownership plan, 4975(e)(7) of the Code, including but not limited to the 
requirement that the Plan is designed to invest primarily in qualifying employer 
securities, and the terms of the Plan shall be interpreted consistent therewith. 
 
     1.2 Trust. The Trust shall be the sole source of benefits under the Plan 
and the Adopting Employers or any Affiliate shall not have any liability for the 
adequacy of the benefits provided under the Plan. 
 
     1.3 Effective Date. The amended and restated Plan shall be effective as of 
January 1, 2000, or such other dates as may be specifically provided herein or 
as otherwise required by law for the Plan to satisfy the requirements of section 
401(a) of the Code. 
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     1.4  Adoption of Plan. With the prior approval of the Senior Vice President 
of Human Resources of the Company or his or her delegate, or other officer to 
whom authority to approve participation by an entity is delegated by the Board 
of Directors, the Plan and Trust may be adopted by any corporation or other 
entity (hereinafter referred to as an Adopting Employer). Such adoption shall be 
made by the Adopting Employer taking the actions designated by the Administrator 
as appropriate to the proper adoption and operation of the Plan and Trust. In 
the event of the adoption of the Plan and Trust by an Adopting Employer, the 
Plan and Trust shall be interpreted in a manner consistent with such adoption. 
The Adopting Employers shall be listed in Exhibit A attached to this Plan. 
 
     1.5  Withdrawal of Adopting Employer. 
 
          (a) An Adopting Employer's participation in this Plan may be 
terminated, voluntarily or involuntarily, at any time, as provided in this 
section. 
 
          (b) An Adopting Employer shall withdraw from the Plan and Trust if the 
Plan and Trust, with respect to that Adopting Employer, fail to qualify under 
sections 401(a) and 501(a) of the Code (or, in the opinion of the Administrator, 
they may fail to so qualify) and the continued sponsorship of that Adopting 
Employer may jeopardize the status with respect to the Company or the remaining 
Adopting Employers, of the Plan and Trust under sections 401(a) and 501(a) of 
the Code. The Adopting Employer shall receive at least thirty (30) days prior 
written notice of a withdrawal under this subsection, unless a shorter period is 
agreed to. 
 
          (c) An Adopting Employer may voluntarily withdraw from the Plan and 
Trust for any reason. Such withdrawal requires at least thirty (30) days written 
notice to the Administrator and the Trustee, unless a shorter period is agreed 
to. 
 
          (d) Upon withdrawal, the Trustee shall segregate the assets 
attributable to Employees of the withdrawn Adopting Employer, the amount thereof 
to be determined by the Administrator and the Trustee. The segregated assets 
shall be held, paid to another trust, distributed or otherwise disposed of as is 
appropriate under the circumstances; provided, however, that any transfer shall 
be for the exclusive benefit of Participants and their Beneficiaries. A 
withdrawal of an Adopting Employer from the Plan is not necessarily a 
termination under ARTICLE XIV. If the withdrawal is a termination, then the 
provisions of ARTICLE XIV shall also be applicable. 
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                                   ARTICLE II 
 
                                   Definitions 
 
     The following terms have the meaning specified below unless the context 
indicates otherwise: 
 
     2.1  Account. The entire interest of a Participant in the Trust Fund. A 
Participant's Account shall consist of the following subaccounts: an Elective 
Deferral Account and, where applicable, an Employee After-Tax Contribution 
Account, a Matching Contribution Account, an ESOP Contribution Account, an 
Employer Contribution Account, a Rollover Contribution Account and a Qualified 
Nonelective Contribution Account. The Administrator may set up such additional 
subaccounts as it deems necessary for the proper administration of the Plan. 
 
     2.2  Acquisition Loan. A loan or other extension of credit used by the 
Trustee to finance the acquisition of Common Stock, which loan may constitute an 
extension of credit to the Trust from a party in interest (as defined in ERISA). 
 
     2.3  Administrator. The person, persons, corporation, committee, group or 
organization designated to be the Administrator of the Plan and to perform the 
duties of the Administrator. Until and unless otherwise designated, the 
Administrator shall be the Company. 
 
     2.4  Adopting Employers. Any corporation or other entity that elects to 
participate in the Plan on account of some or all of its Employees, provided 
that participation in the Plan by such entity is approved by the Senior Vice 
President of Human Resources of the Company or his or her delegate, or other 
officer to whom authority to approve participation by an entity is delegated by 
the Board of Directors. The Adopting Employers, and if applicable, the 
divisions, operations or similar cohesive groups of the Adopting Employers that 
participate in the Plan shall be listed in Exhibit A to this Plan. If an 
adopting entity does not participate in the Plan with respect to all of its 
Eligible Employees, the term "Adopting Employer" shall include only those 
divisions, operations or similar cohesive groups of such entity that participate 
in the Plan. 
 
     2.5  Affiliate. A trade or business that, together with an Adopting 
Employer is a member of (i) a controlled group of corporations within the 
meaning of section 414(b) of the Code; (ii) a group of trades or businesses 
(whether or not incorporated) under common control as defined in section 414(c) 
of the Code, or (iii) an affiliated service group as defined in section 414(m) 
of the Code, or which is an entity otherwise required to be aggregated with the 
Adopting Employer pursuant to section 414(o) of the Code. For purposes of 
ARTICLE X, the determination of controlled groups of corporations and trades or 
businesses under common control shall be made after taking into account the 
modification required under section 415(h) of 
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the Code. All such entities, whether or not incorporated, shall be treated as a 
single employer to the extent required by the Code. 
 
     2.6  Authorized Leave of Absence. An absence approved by an Adopting 
Employer on a uniform and nondiscriminatory basis not exceeding one (1) year for 
any of the following reasons: illness of an Employee or a relative, the death of 
a relative, education of the Employee, or personal or family business of an 
extraordinary nature, provided in each case that the Employee returns to the 
service of the Adopting Employer within the time period specified by the 
Adopting Employer. 
 
     2.7  Beneficiary. The person or persons (including a trust or trusts) who 
are entitled to receive benefits from a deceased Participant's Account after 
such Participant's death (whether or not such person or persons are expressly so 
designated by the Participant). 
 
     2.8  Board of Directors. The Board of Directors of Raytheon Company. 
 
     2.9  Code. The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. 
 
     2.10 Common Stock. Raytheon Company Class B common stock for the period 
ending on May 14, 2001, as of which date Class A common stock and Class B common 
stock were merged; thereafter, Raytheon Company common stock. On and after May 
14, 2001, all references in this Plan to Raytheon Company Class A common stock 
shall no longer be applicable. 
 
     2.11 Company. Raytheon Company. 
 
     2.12 Compensation. 
 
          (a) (1) Except as otherwise provided herein and in Exhibit A, the 
total wages, salaries, and fees for professional services and other amounts 
received (without regard to whether or not an amount is paid in cash) for 
personal services actually rendered in the course of employment with the 
Employer to the extent that the amounts are includible in gross income, 
including, but not limited to (A) commissions paid salesmen, (B) compensation 
for services on the basis of a percentage of profits, (C) commissions on 
insurance premiums, (D) tips, (E) bonuses, (F) fringe benefits, (G) severance 
payments, (H) reimbursements or other expense allowances under a nonaccountable 
plan (as described in Treas. Reg. section 1.62-2(c)), (I) amounts described in 
sections 104(a)(3), 105(h) of the Code, but only to the extent that these 
amounts are includible in the gross income of the Employee, (J) the value of a 
nonqualified stock option granted to an Employee by the Employer, but only to 
the extent that the value of the option is includible in the gross income of the 
Employee for the taxable year in which granted, and (K) the amount includible in 
the gross income of an Employee upon making the election described in section 
83(b) of the Code. 
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               (2)  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Compensation shall not 
include: (A) Employer contributions to a plan of deferred compensation which are 
not includible in the Employee's gross income for the taxable year in which 
contributed, or any distributions from a plan of deferred compensation 
(regardless of whether such amounts are includible in the gross income of the 
Employee when distributed); (B) amounts realized from the exercise of a 
nonqualified stock option, or when restricted stock (or property) held by the 
Employee either becomes freely transferable or becomes no longer subject to a 
substantial risk of forfeiture; (C) amounts realized from the sale, exchange or 
other disposition of stock acquired under a qualified stock option; and (D) 
other amounts which received special tax benefits, such as premiums for 
group-term life insurance to the extent that the premiums are not includible in 
the gross income of the Employee. 
 
               (3)  To the extent not otherwise excluded by subsection (a)(2), 
Compensation also shall not include: (A) reimbursements or other expense 
allowances, (B) fringe benefits (cash and noncash), (C) moving expenses, (D) 
deferred compensation, and (E) welfare benefits. 
 
               (4)  In all cases, however, notwithstanding any exclusions above, 
Compensation shall include any amount which would otherwise be deemed 
Compensation under this subsection 2.12(a) but for the fact that it is deferred 
pursuant to a salary reduction agreement under this Plan or under any plan 
described in section 401(k) or 125 of the Code. 
 
          (b)  For Plan Years beginning before January 1, 2002, the Compensation 
of each Participant for any year shall not exceed one hundred fifty thousand 
dollars ($150,000), as adjusted for increases in the cost-of-living in 
accordance with section 401(a)(17)(B) of the Code. For Plan Years beginning 
after December 31, 2001, the Compensation of each Participant for any year shall 
not exceed two hundred thousand dollars ($200,000), as adjusted for increases in 
the cost-of-living in accordance with section 401(a)(17)(B) of the Code. The 
cost-of-living adjustment in effect for a calendar year applies to the 
Compensation for the Plan Year that begins in such calendar year. 
 
          (c)  Unless otherwise indicated herein, Compensation shall be 
determined only on the basis of amounts paid during the Plan Year, including any 
Plan Year with a duration of fewer than twelve (12) months. 
 
          (d)  The Compensation of a person who becomes a Participant during the 
Plan Year shall only include amounts paid after the date on which such person 
was admitted as a Participant. 
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     2.13 Current Market Value. The closing price of the Common Stock on the New 
York Stock Exchange on the Trade Day immediately preceding the Trade Day on 
which the Common Stock is allocated to the Participants' Accounts in accordance 
with the terms of the Plan. 
 
     2.14 Disability. A Participant who is totally and permanently disabled by 
bodily injury or disease so as to be prevented from engaging in any occupation 
for compensation or profit. The determination of Disability shall be made by the 
Administrator with the aid of competent medical advice. It shall be based on 
such evidence as the Administrator deems necessary to establish Disability or 
the continuation thereof. 
 
     2.15 Effective Date. The effective date of this amendment and restatement 
of the Plan shall be January 1, 2000, or such other dates as may be specifically 
provided in section 1.3 or as otherwise required by law for the Plan to satisfy 
the requirements of section 401(a) of the Code. 
 
     2.16 Elective Deferral. A voluntary reduction of a Participant's 
Compensation in accordance with section 4.1 hereof that qualifies for treatment 
under section 402(e)(3) of the Code. A Participant's election to make Elective 
Deferrals may be made only with respect to an amount that the Participant could 
otherwise elect to receive in cash and that is not currently available to the 
Participant. 
 
     2.17 Elective Deferral Account. That portion of a Participant's Account 
which is attributable to Elective Deferrals, adjusted for withdrawals and 
distributions, and the earnings and losses attributable thereto. 
 
     2.18 Eligible Employee. A person who is an Employee of an Adopting Employer 
who: 
 
          (a) is on a United States-Based Payroll; 
 
          (b) is not employed in a position or classification within a 
bargaining unit which is covered by a collective bargaining agreement with 
respect to which retirement benefits were the subject of good faith bargaining 
(unless such agreement provides for coverage hereunder of Employees of such 
unit); 
 
          (c) is not assigned on the books and records of the Employer to any 
division, operation or similar cohesive group of an Adopting Employer that is 
excluded from participation in the Plan by the Senior Vice President of Human 
Resources of the Company or his or her delegate, or other officer to whom such 
authority is delegated by the Board of Directors; 
 
          (d) is not eligible to participate in the Raytheon Savings and 
Investment Plan for Puerto Rico Based Employees; and 
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          (e) is not a Leased Employee or any other person who performs services 
for an Adopting Employer other than as an Employee. 
 
     2.19 Employee. Except to the extent otherwise provided herein, any person 
employed by an Employer who is expressly so designated as an employee on the 
books and records of the Employer and who is treated as such by the Employer for 
federal employment tax purposes. Any person who, after the close of a Plan Year, 
is retroactively treated by the Employer or any other party as an employee for 
such prior Plan Year shall not, for purposes of the Plan, be considered an 
Employee for such prior Plan Year unless expressly so treated as such by the 
Employer. 
 
     2.20 Employee After-Tax Contributions. Voluntary contributions made by 
Participants on an after-tax basis in accordance with section 4.2 of the Plan. 
 
     2.21 Employee After-Tax Contribution Account. That portion of a 
Participant's Account which is attributable to Employee After-Tax Contributions, 
adjustments for withdrawals and distributions, and the earnings and losses 
attributable thereto. 
 
     2.22 Employer. An Adopting Employer and any Affiliate thereof (whether or 
not such Affiliate participates in the Plan). 
 
     2.23 Employer Contributions. Any contribution by the Adopting Employers to 
the Trust pursuant to section 4.4. 
 
     2.24 Employer Contribution Account. That portion of a Participant's Account 
which is attributable to Employer Contributions received pursuant to section 
4.4, adjusted for withdrawals and distributions, and the earnings and losses 
attributable thereto. 
 
     2.25 Employment Commencement Date. The date on which an individual first 
performs an Hour of Service with the Employer. 
 
     2.26 ERISA. The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as 
amended. 
 
     2.27 ESOP Contributions. Any contribution by the Adopting Employers to the 
Trust pursuant to section 4.6. 
 
     2.28 ESOP Contribution Account. That portion of a Participant's Account 
which is attributable to ESOP Contributions received pursuant to section 4.6, 
adjusted for withdrawals and distributions, and the earnings and losses 
attributable thereto. 
 
     2.29 Fiduciary. Any person who exercises any discretionary authority or 
discretionary control over the management of the Plan, or exercises any 
authority or control respecting management or disposition of Plan assets; who 
renders investment advice for a fee or other compensation, direct or indirect, 
as to assets held under the Plan, or has any authority 
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or discretionary responsibility in the administration of the Plan. This 
definition shall be interpreted in accordance with section 3(21) of ERISA. 
 
     2.30 Financed Shares. Shares of Common Stock acquired by the Trust with the 
proceeds of an Acquisition Loan. 
 
     2.31 Highly Compensated Employee. 
 
          (a)  Any Employee who: 
 
               (1) is a five percent (5%) owner at any time during the Plan Year 
or the preceding Plan Year; or 
 
               (2) for the preceding Plan Year received Compensation in excess 
of the amount specified in section 414(q)(1)(B)(i) of the Code. 
 
          (b)  A former Employee will be treated as a Highly Compensated 
Employee if the former Employee was a Highly Compensated Employee at the time of 
his or her separation from service or the former Employee was a Highly 
Compensated Employee at any time after attaining age fifty-five (55). 
 
          (c)  The dollar amount incorporated under subsection (a)(2) shall be 
adjusted as provided in section 414(q)(1) of the Code. 
 
          (d)  This section shall be interpreted in a manner consistent with 
section 414(q) of the Code and the regulations thereunder and shall be 
interpreted to permit any elections permitted by such regulations to be made. 
 
     2.32 Hour of Service. 
 
          (a)  Any hour for which any person is directly or indirectly paid (or 
entitled to payment) by the Employer for the performance of duties as an 
Employee, as determined from the appropriate records of the Employer. 
 
          (b)  In computing Hours of Service, a person shall also be credited 
with Hours of Service based on the person's previous customary service with the 
Employer (not exceeding either eight (8) hours per day or forty (40) hours per 
week), for the following periods: 
 
               (1) periods (limited to a maximum of five hundred one (501) hours 
for any single, continuous period) for which the person is directly or 
indirectly paid for reasons other than the performance of duties, such as 
vacation, holiday, sickness, disability, layoff, jury duty or military duty; 
 
               (2) periods for which any federal law requires that credit for 
service be given; and 
 
               (3) periods for which back pay (irrespective of mitigation of 
damages) is either awarded or agreed to by the Employer. 
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          (c)  Hours of Service shall also include each hour for which an 
Employee is entitled to credit under subsection (a) as a result of employment 
with: 
 
               (1) a predecessor company substantially all the assets of which 
have been acquired by the Company, provided that where only a portion of the 
operations of a company has been acquired, only service with said acquired 
portion prior to the acquisition will be included and that the Employee was 
employed by said predecessor company at the time of acquisition; or 
 
               (2) a division, operation or similar cohesive group of the 
Employer excluded from participation in the Plan. 
 
          (d)  The provisions of subsection (b) shall be further limited to 
prevent duplication by only permitting a person to receive credit for one (1) 
Hour of Service for any given hour. 
 
          (e)  Hours of Service shall be computed and credited in accordance 
with the Department of Labor regulations under section 2530.200b. 
 
     2.33 Layoff. An involuntary interruption of service due to reduction of 
work force with the possibility of recall to employment when conditions warrant. 
 
     2.34 Leased Employee. Any person (other than an Employee) who, pursuant to 
an agreement between the Employer and any other person, has performed services 
for the Employer (or any related person as provided in section 414(n)(6) of the 
Code) on a substantially full-time basis for a period of at least one (1) year 
and such services are performed under primary direction or control of the 
Employer. Leased Employees are not eligible to participate in the Plan. 
 
     2.35 Matching Contributions. Contributions made to the Trust in accordance 
with section 4.5 hereof. 
 
     2.36 Matching Contribution Account. That portion of a Participant's Account 
which is attributable to Matching Contributions received pursuant to section 
4.5, adjusted for withdrawals and distributions, and the earnings and losses 
attributable thereto. 
 
     2.37 Normal Retirement Age. The Participant's sixty-fifth (65th) birthday. 
 
     2.38 Participant. An individual who is enrolled in the Plan pursuant to 
ARTICLE III and has not received a distribution of all of the funds credited to 
his or her Account (or had such funds fully forfeited). In the case of an 
Eligible Employee who makes a Rollover Contribution to the Plan under section 
4.7(a)(3) prior to enrollment under ARTICLE III, such Eligible Employee shall, 
until he or she enrolls under ARTICLE III, be considered a Participant for the 
limited 
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purposes of maintaining and receiving his or her Rollover Contribution Account 
under the terms of the Plan. 
 
     2.39 Pay Period. A period scheduled by an Adopting Employer for payment of 
wages or salaries. 
 
     2.40 Period of Participation. That portion of a Period of Service during 
which an Eligible Employee was a Participant and had an Elective Deferral 
Account in the Plan or another plan merged into this Plan and identified in 
section 1.1(b) (with no more than five (5) years of participation credited with 
respect to such merged plan). 
 
     2.41 Period of Service. The period of time beginning on the Employee's 
Employment Commencement Date or Reemployment Commencement Date, whichever is 
applicable, and ending on the Employee's Severance from Service Date. For this 
purpose, a "former AlliedSignal employee" shall receive credit for his or her 
period of service with AlliedSignal, Inc. and its affiliates. A former 
AlliedSignal employee is an Employee who (i) immediately prior to September 11, 
1998 was a salaried employee of the Communication Systems division of 
AlliedSignal, Inc. (Towson, Maryland location), and (ii) on such date became an 
Employee in connection with the Company's acquisition of AlliedSignal's 
Communication Systems division. 
 
     2.42 Period of Severance. The period of time beginning on the Employee's 
Severance from Service Date and ending on the Employee's Reemployment 
Commencement Date. 
 
     2.43 Plan. The Raytheon Savings and Investment Plan as amended from time to 
time. 
 
     2.44 Plan Year. The annual twelve- (12) month period beginning on January 1 
of each year and ending on December 31 of each year. 
 
     2.45 Qualified Military Service. Any service in the uniformed services by 
any Eligible Employee if such Eligible Employee is entitled to reemployment 
rights under Chapter 43 of title 38, United States Code, provided, the Employee 
returns to employment, with the Adopting Employer within the applicable time 
limits prescribed in Chapter 43 of title 38, United States Code. 
 
     2.46 Qualified Nonelective Contributions. Any contributions by the Adopting 
Employers to the Trust pursuant to section 4.3. Qualified Nonelective 
Contributions are one hundred percent (100%) vested when made and are subject to 
the special distribution restrictions prescribed in section 8.2(e). 
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     2.47 Qualified Nonelective Contribution Account. That portion of a 
Participant's Account that is attributable to Qualified Nonelective 
Contributions received pursuant to section 4.3, adjusted for withdrawals and 
distributions, and the earnings and losses attributable thereto. 
 
     2.48 Recordkeeper. The organization designated by the Administrator to be 
the recordkeeper for the Plan. Until and unless otherwise designated, the 
Recordkeeper shall be Fidelity Investments. 
 
     2.49 Reemployment Commencement Date. The first date on which the Employee 
performs an Hour of Service following a Period of Severance that is excluded 
under section 6.4 in determining whether a Participant has a nonforfeitable 
right to his or her Matching, ESOP or Employer Contribution Accounts. 
 
     2.50 Retirement. A termination of employment that occurs after a 
Participant has either attained age 55 and completed a Period of Service of at 
least ten (10) years or has attained Normal Retirement Age. 
 
     2.51 Rollover Contributions. Amounts transferred or contributed to this 
Plan from another plan or IRA in accordance with section 4.7. 
 
     2.52 Rollover Contribution Account. That portion of a Participant's Account 
which is attributable to Rollover Contributions received pursuant to section 
4.7, adjusted for withdrawals and distributions, and the earnings and losses 
attributable thereto. 
 
     2.53 Severance from Service. The termination of employment by reason of 
quit, Retirement, discharge, Layoff or death; or the failure to return from 
Authorized Leave of Absence, Qualified Military Service or Disability. 
 
     2.54 Severance from Service Date. The earliest of: 
 
          (a) the date on which an Employee resigns, retires, is discharged, or 
dies; or 
 
          (b) except as provided in paragraphs (c), (d), (e) and (f) hereof, the 
first anniversary of the first date of a period during which an Employee is 
absent for any reason other than resignation, retirement, discharge or death, 
provided that, on an equitable and uniform basis, the Administrator may 
determine that, in the case of a Layoff as the result of a permanent plant 
closing, the Administrator may designate the date of Layoff or other appropriate 
date before the first anniversary of the first date of absence as the Severance 
from Service Date; or 
 
          (c) in the case of a Qualified Military Service leave of absence from 
which the Employee does not return before expiration of recall rights, Severance 
from Service Date means the first day of absence because of the leave; or 
 



 
 
                                      -12- 
 
          (d) in the case of an absence due to Disability, Severance from 
Service Date means the earlier of the first anniversary of the first day of 
absence because of the Disability or the date of termination of the Disability; 
or 
 
          (e) in the case of an Employee who is discharged or resigns (i) by 
reason of the pregnancy of the Employee, (ii) by reason of the birth of a child 
to the Employee, (iii) by reason of the placement of a child with the Employee 
in connection with the adoption of such child by the Employee or (iv) for 
purposes of caring for such child for a period beginning immediately following 
such birth or placement, "Severance from Service Date", for the sole purpose of 
determining the length of a Period of Service, shall mean the first anniversary 
of the resignation or discharge; or 
 
          (f) in the case of an Employee who is absent from service beyond the 
first anniversary of the first day of absence (i) by reason of the pregnancy of 
the Employee, (ii) by reason of the birth of a child to the Employee, (iii) by 
reason of the placement of a child with the Employee in connection with the 
adoption of such child by the Employee or (iv) for purposes of caring for such 
child for a period beginning immediately following such birth or placement, the 
Severance from Service Date shall be the second anniversary of the first day of 
such absence. The period between the first and second anniversaries of the first 
day of absence is neither a Period of Service nor a Period of Severance. 
 
     2.55 Surviving Spouse. A person who was legally married to the Participant 
immediately before the Participant's death. 
 
     2.56 Trade Day. Days on which the Recordkeeper is able to make transfers of 
Plan assets. 
 
     2.57 Trust. The Raytheon Company Master Trust for Defined Contribution 
Plans and any successor agreement made and entered into for the establishment of 
a trust fund of all contributions which may be made to the Trustee under the 
Plan. 
 
     2.58 Trustee. The Trustee and any successor trustees under the Trust. 
 
     2.59 Trust Fund. The cash, securities, and other property held by the 
Trustee for the purposes of the Plan. 
 
     2.60 United States-Based Payroll. A payroll maintained by the Company or an 
Adopting Employer that is designated as a United States payroll on the books and 
records of the Company or Adopting Employer and that is subject to United States 
wage withholding and reporting laws. 
 
     2.61 Valuation Date. Any day that the New York Stock Exchange is open for 
trading. 
 



 
 
                                      -13- 
 
                                   ARTICLE III 
 
                                   Eligibility 
 
     3.1  Eligibility Requirements. Each Eligible Employee who is a Participant 
in the Plan (including the former participants in the Raytheon Employee Savings 
and Investment Plan that was merged into the Plan) on the Effective Date shall 
continue to participate in the Plan, in accordance with the terms and conditions 
of the Plan as amended and restated herein. Each other Eligible Employee and any 
person who subsequently becomes an Eligible Employee may join the Plan 
immediately following his or her Employment Commencement Date (or, if later, the 
date an Employee becomes an Eligible Employee). 
 
     3.2  Procedure for Joining the Plan. Each Eligible Employee may join the 
Plan by communicating with the Recordkeeper in accordance with the instructions 
that will be made available to each Eligible Employee. An enrollment in the Plan 
shall not be deemed to have been completed until the Eligible Employee has 
designated: (i) a percentage by which his or her Compensation shall be reduced 
as an Elective Deferral in accordance with the requirements of section 4.1; (ii) 
election of investment funds in accordance with ARTICLE V; (iii) one or more 
Beneficiaries; and (iv) such other information as specified by the Recordkeeper. 
Enrollment will be effective as of the first Pay Period following completion of 
enrollment for which it is administratively feasible to carry out such 
enrollment. The Administrator, in its discretion, may from time to time make 
exceptions and adjustments in the foregoing procedures on a uniform and 
nondiscriminatory basis. 
 
     3.3  Transfer Between Adopting Employers to Position Covered by Plan. A 
Participant who is transferred to a position with another Adopting Employer in 
which the Participant remains an Eligible Employee will continue as an active 
Participant of the Plan. 
 
     3.4  Transfer to Position Not Covered by Plan. If a Participant is 
transferred to a position with an Employer in which the Participant is no longer 
an Eligible Employee, the Participant will remain a Participant of the Plan with 
respect to contributions previously made but shall no longer be eligible to have 
Elective Deferrals made to the Plan on his or her behalf until he or she again 
becomes an Eligible Employee. If the Participant becomes eligible to participate 
in the Raytheon Savings and Investment Plan for Puerto Rico Based Employees 
following such transfer and such plan accepts transfers from this Plan, the 
Participant's Account shall be transferred to such plan (which Account under 
such plan shall remain subject to the provisions of this Plan to the extent 
required by section 411(d)(6) of the Code). In the event the Participant is 
subsequently transferred to a position in which he or she again becomes an 
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Eligible Employee, the Participant may renew Elective Deferrals by communicating 
with the Recordkeeper and providing all of the information requested by the 
Recordkeeper. The renewal of Elective Deferrals will be effective as of the 
first Pay Period following receipt by the Recordkeeper of the requested 
information for which it is administratively feasible to re-enroll such 
Participant. 
 
     3.5  Transfer to Position Covered by Plan. If an Employee who is not 
eligible to participate in the Plan by reason of his or her position with an 
Employer is transferred to a position that is eligible to participate in the 
Plan, such Employee may join the plan immediately following the effective date 
of the new position in accordance with the procedures prescribed Section 3.2. If 
such an Employee was, immediately prior to such transfer, a participant in the 
Raytheon Savings and Investment Plan for Puerto Rico Based Employees, the 
Employee's Elective Deferral election and investment directions under such plan 
shall be deemed to apply for purposes of this Plan unless the Employee 
designates otherwise. 
 
     3.6  Special Rules Relating to Qualified Military Service. 
 
          (a)  An Eligible Employee who returns from Qualified Military Service 
shall be subject to the following special rules with respect to such Qualified 
Military Service: 
 
               (1) The Eligible Employee shall not be treated as having incurred 
a break in service by reason of the Eligible Employee's period of Qualified 
Military Service. 
 
               (2) Each period of Qualified Military Service served by the 
Eligible Employee, upon reemployment, shall constitute a Period of Service and 
Period of Participation. 
 
               (3) The Eligible Employee shall be entitled to the Qualified 
Nonelective Contributions, Employer Contributions, Matching Contributions and 
ESOP Contributions the Eligible Employee would have been entitled to if the 
Eligible Employee had remained employed with the Adopting Employer during the 
period of Qualified Military Service; provided that with respect to Matching 
Contributions, the Eligible Employee shall only be entitled to such 
contributions to the extent the Eligible Employee makes the associated Elective 
Deferrals and Employee After-Tax Contributions that would have been allowed 
during the period of Qualified Military Service in accordance with subsection 
(4) below. 
 
               (4) The Eligible Employee shall be entitled to make the Elective 
Deferrals and Employee After-Tax Contributions the Eligible Employee would have 
been eligible to make if the Eligible Employee had remained employed with the 
Adopting Employer during the period of Qualified Military Service. 
 
               (5) The make-up contributions described in subsections (3) and 
(4) (hereinafter collectively referred to as "make-up contributions") may be 
made from the date of 
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reemployment until the expiration of the period whose duration is three (3) 
times the period of Qualified Military Service, up to a maximum period of five 
(5) years. Make-up Elective Deferrals can only be made from Compensation that 
has not been made available to the Eligible Employee. 
 
               (6)  The make-up contributions shall not be taken into account 
for purposes of allocating earnings under Section 5.7 until the make-up 
contributions are actually made to the Plan. 
 
               (7)  The make-up contributions shall only be taken into account 
for purposes of applying the limitations prescribed by sections 402(g), 404(a) 
and 415 of the Code for the year for which the make-up contributions would have 
been made if the Eligible Employee had remained employed with the Adopting 
Employer during the period of Qualified Military Service. 
 
               (8)  The make-up contributions shall not be taken into account in 
any year for purposes of applying the nondiscrimination requirements prescribed 
in sections 401(a)(4), 401(k)(3), 401(m) and 410(b) of the Code, including the 
provisions of the Plan incorporating such nondiscrimination requirements. 
 
               (9)  In accordance with Section 9.5, loan repayments will be 
suspended under the Plan during the period of Qualified Military Service to the 
extent permitted under section 414(u) of the Code. 
 
               (10) For purposes of determining the amount of make-up 
contributions required or permitted under this Section 3.6, the Eligible 
Employee's Compensation during the period of Qualified Military Service shall be 
determined: 
 
                    (A) at the rate the Eligible Employee would have received if 
the Eligible Employee had continued working for the Adopting Employer during the 
period of Qualified Military Service; or 
 
                    (B) if the determination in subparagraph (A) is not certain, 
on the basis of the Eligible Employee's average rate of Compensation during the 
12-month period immediately preceding the period of Qualified Military Service 
(or, if shorter, the period of employment immediately preceding such period). 
 
          (b)  Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, 
contributions, benefits and service credit with respect to Qualified Military 
Service shall be provided in accordance with section 414(u) of the Code. 
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                                   ARTICLE IV 
 
                                  Contributions 
 
     4.1  Elective Deferrals. 
 
          (a) Except as otherwise provided herein and in Exhibit A to this Plan, 
a Participant may authorize an Adopting Employer to reduce his or her 
Compensation on a pre-tax basis by an amount equal to any whole percentage of 
Compensation that does not exceed twenty percent (20%) and to have such amount 
contributed to the Plan as an Elective Deferral. Notwithstanding the preceding 
sentence, a Participant who is eligible to participate in the contributory 
portion of either the Raytheon Bargaining Retirement Plan or the Raytheon 
Non-Bargaining Retirement Plan (Exhibit A to each plan) may not make Elective 
Deferrals that exceed seventeen percent (17%) of his or her Compensation. 
 
          (b) A Participant shall not be permitted to make Elective Deferrals 
during any calendar year in excess of the dollar limitation contained in section 
402(g) of the Code in effect for such calendar year. A Participant may 
affirmatively designate that in the event his or her Elective Deferrals are 
limited in accordance with this subsection (b) and the Participant is eligible 
to make Employee After-Tax Contributions under section 4.2, all future deferrals 
of Compensation shall be on an after-tax basis and shall be re-characterized as 
Employee After-Tax Contributions under section 4.2. This re-characterization 
shall take effect as of the first Pay Period by which it is administratively 
feasible to make such re-characterization. 
 
          (c) Except as otherwise provided herein and in Exhibit A to this Plan, 
the Elective Deferrals and Employee After-Tax Contributions (if applicable) made 
on behalf of each Participant shall not in the aggregate exceed twenty percent 
(20%) of the Participant's Compensation for any Plan Year. Notwithstanding the 
preceding sentence, a Participant who is participating in the contributory 
portion of either the Raytheon Bargaining Retirement Plan or the Raytheon 
Non-Bargaining Retirement Plan (Exhibit A to each plan) may not make Elective 
Deferrals and Employee After-Tax Contributions that in the aggregate exceed 
seventeen percent (17%) of his or her Compensation. 
 
          (d) A Participant may change his or her Elective Deferral percentage 
to increase or decrease said percentage by notifying the Recordkeeper, such 
change to take effect as of the first Pay Period by which it is administratively 
feasible to make such change. 
 
          (e) A Participant may not make Elective Deferrals with respect to 
Compensation that has already been made available to the Participant. 
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          (f) Effective on and after November 1, 2001, with the approval of the 
Senior Vice President, Human Resources, of the Company, or other officer to whom 
authority to determine contributions is delegated by the Board of Directors, an 
Adopting Employer may provide its Eligible Employees with a cash or deferred 
election with respect to all or a portion of the Service Contract Act 
reconciliation amounts referenced in Section 4.3(c) ("SCA Amounts"). If such 
cash or deferred election is provided, an Eligible Employee can elect either (i) 
to receive the SCA Amounts in cash as additional taxable compensation, or (ii) 
to have the SCA Amounts contributed to the Plan as additional Elective 
Deferrals, subject to the limitations otherwise provided under the Plan. If an 
Eligible Employee does not make a cash or deferred election within the time 
period specified by the Administrator, the SCA Amounts will be paid to the 
Eligible Employee in cash as additional taxable compensation. 
 
     4.2  Employee After-Tax Contributions. 
 
          (a) Except as otherwise provided herein and in Exhibit A to this Plan, 
a Participant may authorize an Adopting Employer to reduce his or her 
Compensation on an after-tax basis by an amount equal to any whole percentage of 
Compensation that does not exceed twenty percent (20%) and to have such amount 
contributed to the Plan as an Employee After-Tax Contribution. Notwithstanding 
the preceding sentence, a Participant who is participating in the contributory 
portion of either the Raytheon Bargaining Retirement Plan or the Raytheon 
Non-Bargaining Retirement Plan (Exhibit A to each plan) may not make Employee 
After-Tax Contributions that exceed seventeen percent (17%) of his or her 
Compensation. 
 
          (b) Except as otherwise provided herein and in Exhibit A to this Plan, 
the Elective Deferrals and Employee After-Tax Contributions made on behalf of 
each Participant shall not in the aggregate exceed twenty percent (20%) of the 
Participant's Compensation for any Plan Year. Notwithstanding the preceding 
sentence, a Participant who is participating in the contributory portion of 
either the Raytheon Bargaining Retirement Plan or the Raytheon Non-Bargaining 
Retirement Plan (Exhibit A to each plan) may not make Elective Deferrals and 
Employee After-Tax Contributions that in the aggregate exceed seventeen percent 
(17%) of his or her Compensation. 
 
          (c) A Participant may change his or her Employee After-Tax 
Contribution percentage to increase or decrease said percentage by notifying the 
Recordkeeper, such change to take effect as of the first Pay Period by which it 
is administratively feasible to make such change. 
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     4.3  Qualified Nonelective Contributions. 
 
          (a)  Discretionary Amounts: Each Plan Year the Adopting Employers may 
contribute to the Trust such amounts as determined by the Senior Vice President 
of Human Resources of the Company or other officer to whom authority to 
determine contributions is delegated by the Board of Directors, in his or her 
sole discretion. Any amounts contributed under this subsection are to be 
designated by the Adopting Employers as Qualified Nonelective Contributions. 
 
          (b)  Specified Amounts: The Adopting Employers designated in Exhibit A 
to this Plan shall make Qualified Nonelective Contributions on behalf of their 
Eligible Employees in accordance with the Qualified Nonelective Contribution 
formula prescribed in Exhibit A to this Plan. 
 
          (c)  Service Contract Act Reconciliation Amounts: Each Plan Year the 
Adopting Employers may contribute to the Trust such amounts as determined by the 
Senior Vice President of Human Resources of the Company or other officer to whom 
authority to determine contributions is delegated by the Board of Directors, in 
his or her sole discretion, consisting of the entire amount or any part of any 
deficiency between health and welfare and/or pension contributions actually made 
under a contract covered by the Service Contract Act and the amount of such 
contribution or contributions required by a wage determination issued under the 
contract. Such amount shall be calculated in accordance with the formula 
specified in 29 CFR (S) 4.175 as follows: 
 
          The total amount contributed for a month, calendar or contract 
          quarter, or other specified time is divided by the total hours worked 
          under the contract by service employees subject to the Act during the 
          period in question to determine an hourly contribution rate. 
 
The difference between the contribution rate required in the determination and 
the actual contribution may be contributed to the Plan on behalf of each 
Eligible Employee for purposes of fulfilling the Adopting Employers' fringe 
benefit obligations under the Service Contract Act. 
 
     4.4  Employer Contributions. The Adopting Employers designated in Exhibit A 
to this Plan shall make Employer Contributions on behalf of their Eligible 
Employees in accordance with the Employer Contribution formula prescribed in 
Exhibit A to this Plan. 
 
     4.5  Matching Contributions. 
 
          (a)  Except as otherwise provided in Exhibit A to this Plan, each 
Adopting Employer shall make Matching Contributions equal in value to one 
hundred percent (100%) of 
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the total Elective Deferrals and Employee After-Tax Contributions made for each 
Pay Period by each Participant who is an Eligible Employee of such Adopting 
Employer, but the total of such Matching Contributions for any Participant shall 
not exceed four percent (4%) of a Participant's Compensation from such Adopting 
Employer for each such Pay Period. 
 
          (b)  Except as otherwise provided in Exhibit A to this Plan, the 
Matching Contribution shall be made in either Common Stock or cash that is 
invested in Common Stock. The number of shares of Common Stock contributed by 
the Adopting Employer or acquired with Matching Contributions under this 
subsection (b) shall be allocated to the Participant's Account by the Trustee 
and such allocation shall equal the number of shares of Common Stock which the 
Trustee could have purchased for the Participant at the Current Market Value. 
Such Matching Contribution shall remain invested in Common Stock in accordance 
with section 5.1(b). 
 
     4.6  ESOP Contributions. The Adopting Employers designated in Exhibit A to 
this Plan shall make an ESOP Contribution equal to one-half of one percent 
(0.5%) of the eligible Participants' Compensation for each Plan Year. The ESOP 
Contribution may be made in cash, Common Stock or a combination thereof at the 
discretion of the designated Adopting Employers. The Administrator shall 
allocate the ESOP Contribution to the eligible Participants who received 
Compensation during such Plan Year. The ESOP Contribution (consisting of Common 
Stock and any residual cash) shall be allocated to those eligible Participants 
in the same ratio as each such Participant's Compensation for the Plan Year 
bears to the Total Compensation of all such eligible Participants for the Plan 
Year. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, with respect to 
Compensation paid on or after August 1, 2000, a Participant shall not be 
eligible for an ESOP Contribution if the Participant's Compensation for a Plan 
Year is two thousand dollars ($2,000) or less. 
 
     4.7  Rollover Contributions. 
 
          (a)  Participants may transfer into the Plan Qualifying Rollover 
Amounts from other plans or IRAs, subject to the following terms and conditions: 
 
               (1) the transferred funds are received by the Trustee no later 
than sixty (60) days from receipt by the Participant of a distribution from the 
other plan or IRA; 
 
               (2) the Rollover Contributions transferred pursuant to this 
section 4.7(a) shall be credited to the Participant's Rollover Contribution 
Account and will be invested upon receipt by the Trustee; and 
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               (3)  a Rollover Contribution will not be accepted unless (A) the 
Employee on whose behalf the Rollover Contribution will be made is either a 
Participant or an Eligible Employee who has notified the Administrator that he 
or she intends to become a Participant as of the first date on which he or she 
is eligible therefor, and (B) all required information, including selection of 
specific investment accounts, is provided to the Recordkeeper. 
 
          (b)  For purposes of this section, the following terms shall have the 
meanings specified: 
 
               (1)  Qualifying Rollover Amounts. 
 
                    (A)  For distributions before January 1, 2002, amounts from 
the following types of plans or IRAs: 
 
                         (i)   a qualified plan described in section 401(a) or 
403(a) of the Code, excluding after-tax employee contributions. 
 
                         (ii)  an IRA, but only if no amount of the account and 
no part of the value of the annuity is attributable to any source other than a 
rollover contribution (as defined in section 402(c) of the Code, excluding 
after-tax employee contributions) from an employee's trust described in section 
401(a) of the Code which is exempt from tax under section 501(a) of the Code or 
from an annuity described in section 403(a) (and any earnings on such 
contribution). 
 
                    (B)  For distributions after December 31, 2001, amounts from 
the following types of plans or IRAs: 
 
                         (i) a qualified plan described in section 401(a) or 
403(a) of the Code, including after-tax employee contributions. 
 
                         (ii)  an annuity contract described in section 403(b) 
of the Code, excluding after-tax employee contributions. 
 
                         (iii) an eligible plan under section 457(b) of the Code 
which is maintained by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency 
or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision of a state. 
 
                         (iv)  an IRA, but only to the extent that the amount 
would have been includible in gross income of the Participant if the amount had 
been distributed to the Participant and not rolled over to any plan or IRA. 
 
               (2)  IRA. An individual retirement account or annuity under 
section 408(a) or (b) of the Code, respectively. 
 
     4.8  Direct Transfers. 
 
          (a)  The Plan shall accept a transfer of assets, including elective 
transfers in accordance with Treas. Regs. section 1.411(d)-4 Q&A-3(b) and 
transfers in connection with a 
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plan merger, directly from another plan qualified under section 401(a) of the 
Code only if the Administrator, in its sole discretion, agrees to accept such a 
transfer. In determining whether to accept such a transfer, the Administrator 
shall consider the administrative inconvenience engendered by such a transfer 
and any risks to the continued qualification of the Plan under section 401(a) of 
the Code. Acceptance of any such transfer shall not preclude the Administrator 
from refusing any such subsequent transfers. 
 
          (b) Any transfer of assets accepted under this subsection shall be 
separately accounted for at all times and shall remain subject to the provisions 
of the transferor plan (as it existed at the time of such transfer) to the 
extent required by section 411(d)(6) of the Code (including, but not limited to, 
any rights to qualified joint and survivor annuities and qualified preretirement 
survivor annuities) as if such provisions were part of the Plan. In all other 
respects, however, such transferred assets shall be subject to the provisions of 
this Plan. The Administrator may, but is not required to, describe in Exhibit B 
to this Plan the special provisions that must be preserved under section 
411(d)(6) of the Code, if any, following the transfer of assets from another 
plan in accordance with this subsection (b). 
 
          (c) Assets accepted under this section shall be nonforfeitable. 
Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, assets transferred in connection with 
the plan merger identified in section 1.1(b) shall vest in accordance with the 
provisions of ARTICLE VI. 
 
     4.9  Refund of Contributions to the Adopting Employers. Notwithstanding the 
provisions of ARTICLES XII and XIV, if, or to the extent that, any Adopting 
Employer's deductions for contributions made to the Plan are disallowed, such 
Adopting Employer will have the right to obtain the return of any such 
contributions for a period of one (1) year from the date of disallowance. For 
this purpose, all contributions are made, other than Employee After-Tax 
Contributions, subject to the condition that they are deductible under the Code 
for the taxable year of the Adopting Employers for which the contributions are 
made. Furthermore, any contribution made on the basis of a mistake in fact may 
be returned to the Adopting Employers within one (1) year from the date such 
contribution was made. 
 
     4.10 Payment. The Adopting Employers shall pay to the Trustee in U.S. 
currency, or by other property acceptable to the Trustee, all contributions for 
each Plan Year within the time prescribed by law, including extensions granted 
by the Internal Revenue Service, for filing the federal income tax return of the 
Company for its taxable year in which such Plan Year ends. Unless designated by 
the Adopting Employers as nondeductible, all contributions made, other than 
Employee After-Tax Contributions, shall be deemed to be conditioned on their 
current deductibility under section 404 of the Code. 
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     4.11 Limits for Highly Compensated Employees. 
 
          (a)  Elective Deferrals, Employee After-Tax Contributions, Matching 
Contributions and Qualified Nonelective Contributions allocable to the Accounts 
of Highly Compensated Employees shall not in any Plan Year exceed the limits 
specified in this section. The Administrator may make the adjustments authorized 
in this section to ensure that the limits of subsection (b) (or any other 
applicable limits) are not exceeded, regardless of whether such adjustments 
affect some Participants more than others. This section shall be administered 
and interpreted in accordance with sections 401(k) and 401(m) of the Code. 
 
          (b)  (1)  The Actual Deferral Percentage of the Highly Compensated 
Employees shall not exceed, in any Plan Year, the greater of: 
 
                    (A) one hundred twenty-five percent (125%) of the Actual 
Deferral Percentage for all other Eligible Participants; or 
 
                    (B) the lesser of two hundred percent (200%) of the Actual 
Deferral Percentage for all other Eligible Participants or the Actual Deferral 
Percentage for the other Eligible Participants plus two (2) percentage points. 
 
               (2) The Actual Contribution Percentage of the Highly Compensated 
Employees shall not exceed, in any Plan Year, the greater of: 
 
                    (A) one hundred twenty five percent (125%) of the Actual 
Contribution Percentage for all other Eligible Participants; or 
 
                    (B) the lesser of two hundred percent (200%) of the Actual 
Contribution Percentage for all other Eligible Participants or the Actual 
Contribution Percentage for the other Eligible Participants plus two (2) 
percentage points. 
 
               (3) For the Plan Years beginning before January 1, 2002, the sum 
of the Actual Deferral Percentage and the Actual Contribution Percentage for the 
Highly Compensated Employees shall not exceed, in any Plan Year, the sum of: 
 
                    (A) one hundred twenty-five percent (125%) of the greater 
of: 
 
                        (i) the Actual Deferral Percentage of the other Eligible 
Participants; or 
 
                        (ii) the Actual Contribution Percentage of the other 
Eligible Participants; and 
 
                    (B) two plus the lesser of: 
 
                        (i) the amount in paragraph (3)(A)(i); or 
 



 
 
                                      -23- 
 
                         (ii) the amount in paragraph (3)(A)(ii); provided that 
the amount in this paragraph (3)(B) shall not exceed two hundred percent (200%) 
of the lesser of the amount in paragraph (3)(A)(i) or the amount in paragraph 
(3)(A)(ii). 
 
               (4)  The limitations under section 4.11(b)(3) shall be modified 
to reflect any higher limitations provided by the Internal Revenue Service under 
regulations, notices or other official statements. 
 
          (c)  The following terms shall have the meanings specified: 
 
               (1) Actual Contribution Percentage. The average of the ratios for 
a designated group of Employees (calculated separately for each Employee in the 
group) of the sum of the Matching Contributions (other than those treated as 
part of the Actual Deferral Percentage), Qualified Nonelective Contributions 
(other than those treated as part of the Actual Deferral Percentage), Employee 
After-Tax Contributions and Elective Deferrals (other than those treated as part 
of the Actual Deferral Percentage) allocated for the applicable year on behalf 
of the Participant, divided by the Participant's Compensation for such 
applicable year. The "applicable year" for determining the Actual Contribution 
Percentage for the group of Highly Compensated Employees shall be the current 
Plan Year. For all other Eligible Participants, the "applicable year" for 
determining the Actual Contribution Percentage shall be the current Plan Year, 
unless, in accordance with the procedures prescribed by the Internal Revenue 
Service, the Administrator elects to use the immediately preceding Plan Year. In 
the event the Administrator elects to use the immediately preceding Plan Year 
for this purpose for any Plan Year, the Administrator shall so indicate in 
Exhibit C to this Plan. 
 
               (2) Actual Deferral Percentage. The average of the ratios for a 
designated group of Employees (calculated separately for each Employee in the 
group) of the sum of the Elective Deferrals, Qualified Nonelective Contributions 
and Matching Contributions (that the Company elects to have treated as part of 
the Actual Deferral Percentage) allocated for the applicable year on behalf of a 
Participant, divided by the Participant's Compensation for such applicable year. 
The "applicable year" for determining the Actual Deferral Percentage for the 
group of Highly Compensated Employees shall be the current Plan Year. For all 
other Eligible Participants, the "applicable year" for determining the Actual 
Deferral Percentage shall be the current Plan Year, unless in accordance with 
the procedures prescribed by the Internal Revenue Service, the Administrator 
elects to use the immediately preceding Plan Year. In the event the 
Administrator elects to use the immediately preceding Plan Year for this purpose 
for any Plan Year, the Administrator shall so indicate in Exhibit C to this 
Plan. 
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              (3) Compensation. To the extent regulations permit the definition 
of Compensation in ARTICLE II to be used, then such definition shall be applied 
for purposes of this ARTICLE; provided, however, that to the extent such 
definition is not so permitted, then Compensation shall include all compensation 
required to be counted under section 414(s) of the Code; provided further, 
however, that this definition shall not apply for purposes of the definition of 
Highly Compensated Employee in section 2.31. 
 
              (4) Eligible Participant. Any Employee of the Company who is 
authorized under the terms of the Plan to make Elective Deferrals, Employee 
After-Tax Contributions or have Qualified Nonelective Contributions allocated to 
his or her Account for the Plan Year. 
 
          (d) For purposes of determining whether a plan satisfies the Actual 
Contribution Percentage test of section 401(m), all Employee and matching 
contributions that are made under two (2) or more plans that are aggregated for 
purposes of section 401(a)(4) and 410(b) (other than section 410(b)(2)(A)(ii)) 
are to be treated as made under a single plan and that if two (2) or more plans 
are permissively aggregated for purposes of section 401(m), the aggregated plans 
must also satisfy section 401(a)(4) and 410(b) as though they were a single 
plan. 
 
          (e) In calculating the Actual Contribution Percentage for purposes of 
section 401(m), the actual contribution ratio of a Highly Compensated Employee 
will be determined by treating all plans subject to section 401(m) under which 
the Highly Compensated Employee is eligible (other than those that may not be 
permissively aggregated) as a single plan. 
 
          (f) For purposes of determining whether a plan satisfies the Actual 
Deferral Percentage test of section 401(k), all elective contributions that are 
made under two (2) or more plans that are aggregated for purposes of section 
401(a)(4) or 410(b) (other than section 410(b)(2)(A)(ii)) are to be treated as 
made under a single plan and that if two (2) or more plans are permissively 
aggregated for purposes of section 401(k), the aggregated plans must also 
satisfy sections 401(a)(4) and 410(b) as though they were a single plan. 
 
          (g) In calculating the Actual Deferral Percentage for purposes of 
section 401(k), the actual deferral ratio of a Highly Compensated Employee will 
be determined by treating all cash or deferred arrangements under which the 
Highly Compensated Employee is eligible (other than those that may not be 
permissively aggregated) as a single arrangement. 
 
          (h) An elective contribution will be taken into account under the 
Actual Deferral Percentage test of section 401(k)(3)(A) of the Code for a Plan 
Year only if it is allocated to the Employee as of a date within that Plan Year. 
For this purpose, an elective contribution is 
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considered allocated as of a date within a Plan Year if the allocation is not 
contingent on participation or performance of services after such date and the 
elective contribution is actually paid to the Trust no later than twelve (12) 
months after the Plan Year to which the contribution relates. 
 
     4.12  Correction of Excess Contributions. 
 
           (a) Excess Contributions shall be corrected as provided in this 
section. The Administrator may also prevent anticipated Excess Contributions as 
provided in this section. The Administrator may use any method of correction or 
prevention provided in this section or any combination thereof, as it determines 
in its sole discretion. This section shall be administered and interpreted in 
accordance with sections 401(k) and 401(m) of the Code. 
 
           (b) The Administrator may refuse to accept any or all prospective 
Elective Deferrals to be contributed by a Participant. (c) (1) The Company may, 
in its sole discretion, elect to contribute, as provided in section 4.3(a), a 
Qualified Nonelective Contribution in an amount necessary to satisfy any or all 
of the requirements of section 4.11. 
 
           (2) Qualified Nonelective Contributions that are made for a Plan Year 
to correct Excess Contributions shall only be allocated to the Accounts of 
Participants who are not Highly Compensated Employees. Such Qualified 
Nonelective Contributions shall be allocated first to the Participant with the 
lowest Compensation for that Plan Year and any remaining Qualified Nonelective 
Contributions thereafter shall be allocated to the Participant with the next 
lowest Compensation for that Plan Year. This allocation method shall continue in 
ascending order of Compensation until all such Qualified Nonelective 
Contributions are allocated. The allocation to any Participant shall not exceed 
the limits under section 415 of the Code. If two or more Participants have 
identical Compensation, the allocations to them shall be proportional. 
 
           (3) Qualified Nonelective Contributions for a Plan Year shall be 
contributed to the Trust within twelve (12) months after the close of such Plan 
Year. 
 
           (4) Qualified Nonelective Contributions shall only be allocated to 
Participants who receive Compensation during the Plan Year for which such 
contribution is made. 
 
           (d) The Administrator may, during a Plan Year, distribute to a 
Participant (or such Participant's Beneficiary if the Participant is deceased), 
any or all Excess Contributions or Excess Deferrals (whether Elective Deferrals, 
Matching Contributions or Qualified Nonelective Contributions) allocable to that 
Participant's Account for that Plan Year, notwithstanding any 
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contrary provision of the Plan. Such distribution may include earnings or losses 
(if any) attributable to such amounts, as determined by the Administrator. 
 
           (e) (1) The Administrator may recharacterize any or all Excess 
Contributions for a Plan Year as Employee contributions in accordance with the 
provisions of this subsection. Any Excess Contributions that are so 
recharacterized shall be treated as if the Participant had elected to instead 
receive cash Compensation on the earliest date that any Elective Deferrals made 
on behalf of the Participant during the Plan Year would have been received had 
the Participant originally elected to receive such amount in cash and then 
contributed such amount as an Employee contribution. To the extent required by 
the Internal Revenue Service, however, such recharacterized Excess Contributions 
shall continue to be treated as if such amounts were not recharacterized. 
 
               (2) The Administrator shall report any recharacterized Excess 
Contributions as Employee contributions to the Internal Revenue Service and to 
the affected Participants at such times and in accordance with such procedures 
as are required by the Internal Revenue Service. The Administrator shall take 
such other actions regarding the amounts so recharacterized as may be required 
by the Internal Revenue Service. 
 
               (3) Excess Contributions may not be recharacterized under this 
subsection more than two and one-half (2 1/2) months after the close of the Plan 
Year to which the recharacterization relates. Recharacterization is deemed to 
occur when the Participant is so notified (as required by the Internal Revenue 
Service). 
 
               (4) The amount of Excess Contributions to be distributed or 
recharacterized shall be reduced by Excess Deferrals previously distributed for 
the taxable year ending in the same Plan Year and Excess Deferrals to be 
distributed for a taxable year will be reduced by Excess Contributions 
previously distributed or recharacterized for the Plan beginning in such taxable 
year. 
 
           (f) (1) The Administrator may distribute any or all Excess 
Contributions for a Plan Year in accordance with the provisions of this 
subsection. Such distribution may only occur after the close of such Plan Year 
and within twelve (12) months of the close of such Plan Year. In the event of 
the termination of the Plan, such distribution shall be made within twelve (12) 
months after such termination. Such distribution shall include the income 
allocable to the amounts so distributed, as determined under this subsection. 
The Administrator may make any special allocations of earnings or losses 
necessary to carry out the provisions of this subsection. A distribution of an 
Excess Contribution under this subsection may be made without regard to any 
notice or consent otherwise required pursuant to sections 411(a)(11) and 417 of 
the Code. 
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               (2) (A) The income allocable to Excess Contributions distributed 
under this subsection shall equal the allocable gain or loss for the Plan Year. 
Income includes all earnings and appreciation, including such items as interest, 
dividends, rent, royalties, gains from the sale of property, appreciation in the 
value of stock, bonds, annuity and life insurance contracts, and other property, 
without regard to whether such appreciation has been realized. 
 
                   (B) The allocable gain or loss for the Plan Year may be 
determined under any reasonable method consistently applied by the 
Administrator. Alternatively, the Administrator may, in its discretion, 
determine such allocable gain or loss for the Plan Year under the method set 
forth in subparagraph (C). 
 
                   (C) Under this method, the allocable gain or loss for the 
Plan Year is determined by multiplying the income for the Plan Year allocable to 
Elective Deferrals (and amounts treated as Elective Deferrals) by a fraction, 
the numerator of which is the Excess Contributions by the Participant for the 
Plan Year and the denominator of which is the total Account balance of the 
Participant attributable to Elective Deferrals (and amounts treated as Elective 
Deferrals) as of the beginning of the Plan Year, increased by any Elective 
Deferrals (and amounts treated as Elective Deferrals) by the Participant for the 
Plan Year. 
 
               (3) Amounts distributed under this subsection (or other 
provisions of this section) shall first be treated as distributions from the 
Participant's subaccounts in the following order: 
 
                   (A) from the Participant's Elective Deferrals Account (if 
such Excess Contribution is attributable to Elective Deferrals); 
 
                   (B) from the Participant's Qualified Nonelective Contribution 
Account (if such Excess Contribution is attributable to Qualified Nonelective 
Contributions); and 
 
                   (C) from the Participant's Matching Contribution Account (if 
such Excess Contribution is attributable to Matching Contributions). 
 
               (g) (1) The term "Excess Contribution" shall mean, with respect 
to a Plan Year, the excess of the Elective Deferrals (including any Qualified 
Nonelective Contributions and Matching Contributions that are treated as 
Elective Deferrals under sections 401(k)(2) and 401(k)(3) of the Code) on behalf 
of eligible Highly Compensated Employees for the Plan Year over the maximum 
amount of such contributions permitted under sections 401(k)(2) and 401(k)(3) of 
the Code. 
 
                   (2) Any distribution of Excess Contributions for a Plan Year 
shall be made to Highly Compensated Employees on the basis of the amount of 
contributions by, or on behalf of, each such Highly Compensated Employee. 
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               (3) The amount of Excess Contributions to be distributed or 
recharacterized shall be reduced by Excess Deferrals previously distributed for 
the taxable year ending in the same Plan Year and Excess Deferrals to be 
distributed for a taxable year will be reduced by Excess Contributions 
previously distributed or recharacterized for the Plan beginning in such taxable 
year. 
 
     4.13  Correction of Excess Deferrals. 
 
           (a) Excess Deferrals shall be corrected as provided in this section. 
The Administrator may also prevent anticipated Excess Deferrals as provided in 
this section. The Administrator may use any method of correction or prevention 
provided in this section or any combination thereof, as it determines in its 
sole discretion. A distribution of an Excess Deferral under this section may be 
made without regard to any notice or consent otherwise required pursuant to 
sections 411(a)(11) and 417 of the Code. This section shall be administered and 
interpreted in accordance with sections 401(k) and 402(g) of the Code. 
 
           (b) The Administrator may refuse to accept any or all prospective 
Elective Deferrals to be contributed by a Participant. 
 
           (c) (1) The Administrator may distribute any or all Excess Deferrals 
to the Participant on whose behalf such Excess Deferrals were made before the 
close of the Applicable Taxable Year. Distributions under this subsection 
include income allocable to the Excess Distribution so distributed, as 
determined under this subsection. 
 
                   (2) Distribution under this subsection shall only be made if 
all the following conditions are satisfied: 
 
                       (A) the Participant seeking the distribution designates 
the distribution as an Excess Deferral; 
 
                       (B) the distribution is made after the date the Excess 
Deferral is received by the Plan; and 
 
                       (C) the Plan designates the distribution as a 
distribution of an Excess Deferral. 
 
                   (3) The income allocable to the Excess Deferral distributed 
under this subsection shall be determined in the same manner as under subsection 
(d)(3), except that income shall only be determined for the period from the 
beginning of the Applicable Taxable Year to the date on which the distribution 
is made. 
 
               (d) (1) The Administrator may distribute any or all Excess 
Deferrals to the Participant on whose behalf such Excess Deferrals were made 
after the close of the Applicable Taxable Year. Distribution under this 
subsection shall only be made if the Participant timely 
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provides the notice required under subsection (d)(2) and such distribution is 
made after the Applicable Taxable Year and before the first April 15 following 
the close of the Applicable Taxable Year. Distributions under this subsection 
shall include income allocable to the Excess Deferrals so distributed, as 
determined under this subsection. 
 
               (2) Any Participant seeking a distribution of an Excess Deferral 
in accordance with this subsection must notify the Administrator of such request 
no later than the first March 15 following the close of the Applicable Taxable 
Year. The Administrator may agree to accept notification received after such 
date (but before the first April 15 following the close of the Applicable 
Taxable Year) if it determines that it would still be administratively 
practicable to make such distribution in view of the delayed notification. The 
notification required by this subsection shall be deemed made if a Participant's 
Elective Deferrals to the Plan in any Plan Year create an Excess Deferral. 
 
               (3) The income allocable to the Excess Deferral distributed under 
this subsection shall be determined in the same manner as under section 
4.12(f)(2), except that the term "Excess Deferrals" shall be substituted for 
"Excess Contributions" and the term "Applicable Taxable Year" shall be 
substituted for "Plan Year." The Administrator may make any special allocations 
of earnings or losses necessary to carry out the provisions of this subsection. 
 
           (e)  The following terms shall have the meanings specified: 
 
               (1) Applicable Taxable Year. The taxable year (for federal income 
tax purposes) of the Participant in which an Excess Deferral must be included in 
gross income (when made) in accordance with section 402(g) of the Code. 
 
               (2) Excess Deferral. A Participant's Elective Deferrals (and 
other contributions limited by section 402(g) of the Code), for an Applicable 
Taxable Year that are in excess of the limits imposed by section 402(g) of the 
Code for such Applicable Taxable Year. 
 
     4.14  Correction of Excess Aggregate Contributions. 
 
           (a) Excess Aggregate Contributions shall be corrected as provided in 
this section. The Administrator may use any method of correction or prevention 
provided in this section or any combination thereof, as it determines in its 
sole discretion. This section shall be administered and interpreted in 
accordance with sections 401(k) and 401(m) of the Code. 
 
           (b) The Administrator may refuse to accept any or all prospective 
Elective Deferrals to be contributed to a Participant. 
 
           (c) (1) The Company may, in its sole discretion, elect to contribute, 
as provided in section 4.3(a), a Qualified Nonelective Contribution in an amount 
necessary to satisfy any or all of the requirements of section 4.11. 
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               (2) Qualified Nonelective Contributions that are made for a Plan 
Year to correct Excess Aggregate Contributions shall only be allocated to the 
Accounts of Participants who are not Highly Compensated Employees. Such 
Qualified Nonelective Contributions shall be allocated first to the Participant 
with the lowest Compensation for that Plan Year and any remaining Qualified 
Nonelective Contributions thereafter shall be allocated to the Participant with 
the next lowest compensation for that Plan Year. This allocation method shall 
continue in ascending order of Compensation until all such Qualified Nonelective 
Contributions are allocated. The allocation to any Participant shall not exceed 
the limits under section 415 of the Code. If two or more Participants have 
identical Compensation, the allocations to them shall be proportional. 
 
               (3) Qualified Nonelective Contributions for a Plan Year shall be 
contributed to the Trust within twelve (12) months after the close of such Plan 
Year. 
 
               (4) Qualified Nonelective Contributions shall only be allocated 
to Participants who receive Compensation during the Plan Year for which such 
contribution is made. 
 
          (d)  The Administrator may, during a Plan Year, distribute to a 
Participant (or such Participant's Beneficiary if the Participant is deceased), 
any or all Excess Aggregate Contributions allocable to that Participant's 
Account for that Plan Year, notwithstanding any contrary provision of the Plan. 
Such distribution may include earnings or losses (if any) attributable to such 
amounts, as determined by the Administrator. 
 
          (e)  (1) The Administrator may forfeit any or all Excess Aggregate 
Contributions for a Plan Year in accordance with the provisions of this 
subsection. The amounts so forfeited shall not include any amounts that are 
nonforfeitable under ARTICLE VI. 
 
               (2) Any forfeitures under this subsection shall be made in 
accordance with the procedures for distributions under subsection (f) except 
that such amounts shall be forfeited instead of being distributed. 
 
          (f)  (1) The Administrator may distribute any or all Excess Aggregate 
Contributions for a Plan Year in accordance with the provisions of this 
subsection. Such distribution may only occur after the close of such Plan Year 
and within twelve (12) months of the close of such Plan Year. Such distributions 
shall be specifically designated by the Administrator as a distribution of 
Excess Aggregate Contributions. In the event of the complete termination of the 
Plan, such distribution shall be made within twelve (12) months after such 
termination. Such distribution shall include the income allocable to the amounts 
so distributed, as determined under this subsection. The Administrator may make 
any special allocations of 
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earnings or losses necessary to carry out the provisions of this subsection. A 
distribution of an Excess Aggregate Contribution under this subsection may be 
made without regard to any notice or consent otherwise required pursuant to 
sections 411(a)(11) and 417 of the Code. 
 
               (2) (A) The income allocable to Excess Aggregate Contributions 
distributed under this subsection shall equal the allocable gain or loss for the 
Plan Year. Income includes all earnings and appreciation, including such items 
as interest, dividends, rent, royalties, gains from the sale of property, 
appreciation in the value of stock, bonds, annuity and life insurance contracts, 
and other property, without regard to whether such appreciation has been 
realized. 
 
                   (B) The allocable gain or loss for the Plan Year may be 
determined under any reasonable method consistently applied by the 
Administrator. Alternatively, the Administrator may, in its discretion, 
determine such allocable gain or loss for the Plan Year under the method set 
forth in subparagraph (C). 
 
                   (C) Under this method, the allocable gain or loss for the 
Plan Year is determined by multiplying the income for the Plan Year allocable to 
employee contributions, matching contributions and amounts treated as matching 
contributions by a fraction, the numerator of which is the Excess Aggregate 
Contributions for the Participant for the Plan Year and the denominator of which 
is the total Account balance of the Participant attributable to employee 
contributions, matching contributions and amounts treated as matching 
contributions as of the beginning of the Plan Year, increased by the employee 
contributions, matching contributions and amounts treated as matching 
contributions for the Participant for the Plan Year. 
 
               (3) Amounts distributed under this subsection (or other 
provisions of this section) shall first be treated as distributions from the 
Participant's subaccounts in the following order: 
 
                   (A) from the Participant's Employee After-Tax Contribution 
Account (if such Excess Aggregate Contribution is attributable to Employee 
After-Tax Contributions); 
 
                   (B) from the Participant's Qualified Nonelective 
Contribution Account (if such Excess Aggregate Contribution is attributable to 
Qualified Nonelective Contributions); and 
 
                   (C) from the Participant's Matching Contribution Account (if 
such Excess Aggregate Contribution is attributable to Matching Contributions). 
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          (g)  (1) The term "Excess Aggregate Contribution" shall mean, with 
respect to a Plan Year, the excess of the aggregate amount of the matching 
contributions and employee contributions (including any Qualified Nonelective 
Contributions or elective deferrals taken into account in computing the Actual 
Contribution Percentage) actually made on behalf of eligible Highly Compensated 
Employees for the Plan Year over the maximum amount of such contributions 
permitted under section 401(m)(2)(A) of the Code. 
 
               (2) The terms "employee contributions" and "matching 
contributions" shall, for purposes of this section, have the meanings set forth 
in Treas. Reg.(S)1.401(m)-1(f). 
 
               (3) Any distribution of Excess Aggregate Contributions for a Plan 
Year shall be made to Highly Compensated Employees on the basis of the amount of 
contributions by, or on behalf of, each such Highly Compensated Employee. 
 
     4.15 Correction of Multiple Use. 
 
          (a)  If the limitations of Treas. Reg.ss.1.401(m)-2 are exceeded for 
any Plan Year beginning before January 1, 2002, then correction shall be made in 
accordance with the provisions of this section. The limitations of Treas. 
Reg.(S)1.401(m)-2 do not apply for Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2001. 
This section shall be administered and interpreted in accordance with sections 
401(k) and 401(m) of the Code. 
 
          (b)  Any correction required by this section shall be calculated and 
administered in accordance with the provisions for correcting Excess 
Contributions (in section 4.12), Excess Aggregate Contributions (in section 
4.14) or both, as the Administrator determines in its sole discretion. Any 
correction required by this section, to the extent possible, shall be made only 
with respect to those Highly Compensated Employees who are eligible in both the 
arrangement subject to section 401(k) of the Code and the Plan, as subject to 
section 401(m) of the Code. 
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                                    ARTICLE V 
 
                             Investment of Accounts 
 
     5.1  Election of Investment Funds. 
 
          (a)  Except as otherwise prescribed in subsections (b), (c) and (d) 
below, upon enrollment in the Plan, each Participant shall direct that the funds 
in the Participant's Account be invested in increments of one percent (1%) in 
one or more of the investment options designated by the Administrator, which may 
include designated investment funds, specific investments or both. The 
investment choices made available shall be sufficient to allow compliance with 
section 404(c) of ERISA. 
 
          (b)  Except as otherwise determined by the Administrator or provided 
herein, Matching Contributions made with respect to Plan Years beginning on and 
after January 1, 1999 must be invested in Common Stock until the beginning of 
the fifth (5/th/) Plan Year following the Plan Year for which such contributions 
are made. Thereafter, a Participant may designate the investment of the Matching 
Contribution funds in accordance with the provisions of subsection (a) above. 
Notwithstanding the preceding sentences in this subsection (b) and except as 
otherwise provided below, the five-year restriction prescribed in this 
subsection (b) shall not apply (i) following a Participant's Severance from 
Service other than on account of a Layoff, (ii) effective on and after February 
1, 2001, while a Participant is on a Layoff, or (iii) on or after January 1 of 
the calendar year in which a Participant attains age 55. If a Participant or 
former Participant is reemployed with an Employer following a Severance from 
Service, including a Layoff, the five-year restriction prescribed in this 
subsection (b) shall apply with respect to any Matching Contributions made on 
and after such reemployment and with respect to any Matching Contributions made 
before such reemployment that are invested in Common Stock as of the date of 
reemployment. 
 
          (c)  Except as otherwise determined by the Administrator or as 
provided in paragraphs (1) through (3) below, amounts held in a Participant's 
ESOP Contribution Account shall be invested in Common Stock. 
 
               (1) Any Participant who has attained age 55 and completed a 
Period of Participation of at least ten (10) years shall be permitted to direct 
that up to twenty-five percent (25%) of the total number of shares of Common 
Stock (rounded to the nearest whole integer) allocated to the Participant's ESOP 
Contribution Account as of the December 31 immediately preceding each Plan Year 
during the Qualified Election Period may be invested among the otherwise 
available investment options under the Plan in accordance with the 
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provisions of subsection (a) above. With respect to a qualified Participant's 
final diversification election, fifty percent (50%) is substituted for 
twenty-five percent (25%) in determining the amount subject to the 
diversification election. Any direction to diversify hereunder may be made 
within 90 days after the close of each Plan Year during the Participant's 
Qualified Election Period, as defined below. Any direction made during the 
applicable 90-day period following any Plan Year may be revoked or modified at 
any time during such 90-day period. The diversification of the ESOP Contribution 
Account as provided herein shall be made through the sale by the Trustee of the 
number of shares of Common Stock directed by the Participant. The amount that 
may be invested among the otherwise available investment options under the Plan 
shall be equal to the proceeds of such sale. Any such diversification shall be 
implemented no later than the 180th day of the Plan Year in which the 
Participant's direction is made. All such directions shall be in accordance with 
any notice, rulings, or regulations or other guidance issued by the Internal 
Revenue Service with respect to section 401(a)(28)(B) of the Code. For purposes 
of this paragraph, the term "Qualified Election Period" shall mean the six (6) 
Plan Year period beginning with the later of the Plan Year in which the 
Participant attains age 55 or completes a Period of Participation of ten (10) 
years. 
 
               (2) Effective for Plan Years beginning on and after January 1, 
2002, a Participant's right to diversify his ESOP Contribution Account, as 
described in paragraph (1) above, shall extend beyond the end of the six (6) 
year Qualified Election Period and the Participant shall be permitted to direct 
that up to twenty-five percent (25%) of the total number of shares of Common 
Stock (rounded to the nearest whole integer) allocated to the Participant's ESOP 
Contribution Account as of the December 31 immediately preceding each Plan Year 
may be invested among the otherwise available investment options under the Plan 
in accordance with the provisions of subsection (a) above. The timing rules and 
procedures described in paragraph (1) shall apply in the same manner to the 
extended diversification period described in this paragraph (2) (with the 
exception of the definition of the Qualified Election Period and the increased 
percentage (50%) during the sixth year in the Qualified Election Period). 
 
               (3) The investment restrictions described in subsection (c) shall 
not apply (i) following a Participant's Severance from Service other than on 
account of a Layoff or (ii) effective on and after February 1, 2001, while a 
Participant is on a Layoff. If a Participant or former Participant is reemployed 
with an Employer following a Severance from Service, including a Layoff, the 
investment restrictions otherwise prescribed in subsection (c) shall apply to 
any ESOP Contributions made on and after such reemployment and with respect to 
any 
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ESOP Contributions made before such reemployment that are invested in Common 
Stock as of the date of reemployment. 
 
              (d)    Notwithstanding subsection (e) below, the Administrator 
shall maintain a General Motors Class H Stock Fund ("Fund H") and Raytheon 
Company Class A Stock Fund ("Fund I") as investment options under the Plan, 
subject to the limitations prescribed in this subsection (d), for four (4) 
complete Plan Years following the Effective Date; provided, however, that if at 
any time prior to the expiration of such four (4) year period, the aggregate 
fair market value of the assets invested in either Fund H or Fund I falls below 
five percent (5%) of the highest fair market value of the assets invested in 
Fund H or Fund I, respectively, the Administrator may, with six (6) months 
written notice to affected Participants, eliminate Fund H or Fund I, as 
applicable, as investment options under the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
the Administrator may eliminate one or both funds at any time if the 
Administrator determines in good faith that such elimination is necessary under 
applicable law (including without limitation the prudence requirements of 
ERISA). When Fund H and Fund I are eliminated in accordance with this section 
5.1(d), Participants with assets invested in Fund H or Fund I, as applicable, 
shall direct the transfer of such assets to other funds available under the Plan 
or, if no such election is made, the Administrator shall transfer such assets to 
a low risk fixed income fund as determined by the Administrator in its 
discretion. The only assets that may be invested in Fund H or Fund I are the 
General Motors Class H Stock Fund and Raytheon Company Class A Stock Fund, 
respectively, directly transferred to the Plan in connection with the mergers 
identified in Section 1.1(b). A Participant may not direct that any other funds 
in the Participant's Account be invested in Fund H or Fund I. 
 
              (e)    In its discretion, the Administrator may from time to time 
designate new funds and, where appropriate, preclude investment in existing 
funds and provide for the transfer of Accounts invested in those funds to other 
funds selected by the Participant or, if no such election is made, to a low risk 
fixed income fund as determined by the Administrator in its discretion. 
 
              (f)    Except as otherwise prescribed in subsections (b), (c) and 
(d) above, a Participant's investment election will apply to the entire Account 
of the Participant. 
 
              (g)    In establishing rules and procedures under section 5.1, the 
following shall apply: 
 
                     (1)    Each Participant, Beneficiary or Alternate Payee 
shall affirmatively elect to self-direct the investment of assets in his or her 
Account, but such election may provide 
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for default investments in the absence of specific directions from such 
Participant, Beneficiary or Alternate Payee. 
 
              (2)    The investment directions of a Participant shall continue 
to apply after that Participant's death or incompetence until the Beneficiary 
(or, if there is more than one Beneficiary for that Account, all of the 
Beneficiaries), guardian or other representatives provide contrary direction. 
 
              (3)    The Administrator may decline to implement investment 
designations if such investment, in the Administrator's judgment: 
 
                     (A)    would result in a prohibited transaction under 
section 4975 of the Code; 
 
                     (B)    would generate income taxable to the Trust Fund; 
 
                     (C)    would not be in accordance with the Plan and Trust; 
 
                     (D)    would cause a Fiduciary to maintain the indicia of 
ownership of any assets of the Trust Fund outside the jurisdiction of the 
district courts of the United States other than as permitted by section 404(b) 
of ERISA and Labor Reg.(S)2550.404(b)-1; 
 
                     (E)    would jeopardize the Plan's tax qualified status 
under the Code; 
 
                     (F)    could result in a loss in excess of the amount 
credited to the Account; or 
 
                     (G)    would violate any other requirements of the Code or 
ERISA. 
 
              (4)    Except as otherwise prescribed in subsections (b), (c) and 
(d) above, the Administrator may establish reasonable restrictions on the 
frequency with which investment directions may be given, consistent with section 
404(c) of ERISA. 
 
              (5)    The Administrator may establish limits on the use of 
brokers, investment counsel or other advisors that may be utilized, including 
specifying that all investments must be made through a designated broker or 
brokers. 
 
              (6)    The Administrator may establish limits on the types of 
investments that are permitted. 
 
       (h)    Except as otherwise prescribed in subsections (b), (c) and (d) 
above, the Administrator shall establish such rules and procedures as may be 
advisable or necessary to carry out the provisions of this section, with such 
rules and procedures being consistent with section 404(c) of ERISA. 
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              (i)    The Administrator shall establish such rules and procedures 
as may be advisable or necessary to reasonably ensure that all transactions 
involving the investment funds comply with all applicable laws, including the 
securities laws. 
 
       5.2    Change in Investment Allocation of Future Deferrals. Except as 
otherwise prescribed in sections 5.1(b), (c) and (d), each Participant may elect 
to change the investment allocation of future contributions effective as of the 
first Trade Day subsequent to notice to the Recordkeeper by which it is 
administratively feasible to make such change. Any changes must be made either 
in increments of one percent (1%) of the Participant's Account or in a specified 
whole dollar amount and must result in a total investment of one hundred percent 
(100%) of the Participant's Account. 
 
       5.3    Transfer of Account Balances Between Investment Funds. Except as 
otherwise prescribed in sections 5.1(b), (c) and (d), each Participant may elect 
to transfer all or a portion of the amount in his or her Account between 
investment funds effective as of the first Trade Day following notice to the 
Recordkeeper by which it is administratively feasible to carry out such 
transfer. For investment transfers initiated by notice to the Recordkeeper 
before March 1, 2002, in determining the amount of the transfer, the 
Participant's Account shall be valued as of the close of business on the Trade 
Day on which notice is received; provided, however, that in any case where the 
notice is received after 4:00 p.m. Eastern Time (daylight or standard, whichever 
is in effect on the date of the notice), the Account shall be valued as of the 
close of business on the next Trade Day. For investment transfers initiated by 
notice to the Recordkeeper after February 28, 2002, in determining the amount of 
transfer, the Participant's Account shall be valued as of the Trade Day on which 
the investment funds are sold or exchanged and shall be based on the value of 
the investment funds at the time of such sale or exchange. Such transfers must 
be made in either one percent (1%) increments of the entire Account or in a 
specified amount in whole dollars and, as of the completion of the transfer, 
must result in investment of one hundred percent (100%) of the Account. 
Transfers shall be effected by notice to the Recordkeeper. 
 
       5.4    Inability to Complete Investment Changes. Notwithstanding any 
other provisions of this Plan to the contrary, if a Participant's investment 
directions under the Plan cannot be completed on a particular day because of 
market conditions or other circumstances, the Participant's investment 
directions will be completed on the first Trade Day thereafter on which the 
investment directions can be completed. 
 
       5.5    Ownership Status of Funds. The Trustee shall be the owner of 
record of the Plan assets. The Administrator shall have records maintained as of 
the Valuation Date for each 
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investment option allocating a portion of the investment option to each 
Participant who has elected that his or her Account be invested in such 
investment option. The records shall reflect each Participant's portion of 
Common Stock, Raytheon Company Class A common stock and General Motors Class H 
common stock in cash and unitized shares of stock and shall reflect each 
Participant's portion of all other investment options as may be designated by 
the Administrator in a cash amount. 
 
       5.6    Voting Rights and Tender or Exchange Offers 
 
              (a)    Participants whose Accounts are invested in Common Stock or 
Raytheon Company Class A common stock on the last business day of the second 
month preceding the record date (the "Voting Eligibility Date") for any meeting 
of stockholders have the right to instruct the Trustee as to voting at such 
meeting. The number of votes is determined by dividing the value of the shares 
in the Participant's Account by the closing price of the respective classes of 
stock on the Voting Eligibility Date. If the Trustee receives instructions 
within the specified time, the Trustee shall vote the shares in accordance with 
the instructions. For Voting Eligibility Dates before January 1, 2002, if the 
Trustee has not received instructions from a Participant as to voting of shares 
within the specified time, then the Trustee shall not vote those shares. For 
Voting Eligibility Dates after December 31, 2001, if the Trustee has not 
received instructions from a Participant as to voting of shares within the 
specified time, or if the Plan holds any unallocated shares, then the Trustee 
shall vote those shares in the same proportion as the shares for which the 
Trustee has received instructions are voted. If a Participant furnishes the 
Trustee with a signed vote direction card without indicating a voting choice 
thereon, the Trustee shall vote the Participant's shares as recommended by 
management if so authorized under the terms of the vote direction card. 
 
              (b)    Participants shall also have the right to accept or reject 
any tender or exchange offer for the shares of Common Stock or Raytheon Company 
Class A common stock that are allocated to their Accounts. If the Trustee 
receives instructions within the specified time, the Trustee shall respond in 
accordance with the instructions. If the Trustee has not received instructions 
from a Participant within the specified time, then the Trustee shall not tender 
or exchange those shares. For tender or exchange offers initiated after December 
31, 2001, if the Plan holds any unallocated shares, then the Trustee shall 
tender or exchange those shares in the same proportion as the shares for which 
the Trustee has received instructions are tendered or exchanged. 
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              (c)    The Trustee shall vote (or tender or exchange) all combined 
fractional shares of the respective classes of stock to the extent possible in 
the same proportion as the shares which have been voted (or tendered or 
exchanged) by each Participant. 
 
              (d)    Any instructions as to voting (or tender or exchange) 
received from an individual Participant shall be held in confidence by the 
Trustee and shall not be divulged to the Adopting Employers or to any officer or 
employee thereof or to any other person. 
 
              (e)    The Trustee shall provide each Participant with voting, 
tender or exchange rights described in this section 5.6 with the information 
provided to other shareholders eligible to vote, tender or exchange such shares. 
 
              (f)    Each Participant shall be deemed to be a "named fiduciary" 
for purposes of any instructions provided by such Participant to the Trustee 
regarding the exercise of voting rights and tender or exchange offers with 
respect to the Common Stock or Raytheon Company Class A common stock that is 
allocated to the Participant's Account and with respect to a proportionate 
amount of any unallocated or unvoted shares. 
 
       5.7    Allocation of Earnings. 
 
              (a)    (1)    The Administrator, as of each Valuation Date, shall 
adjust the amounts credited to the Accounts (including Accounts for persons who 
are no longer Employees) so that the total of such Account balances equals the 
fair market value of the Trust Fund assets as of such Valuation Date. Except as 
otherwise provided herein, any changes in the fair market value of the Trust 
Fund assets since the preceding Valuation Date shall be charged or credited to 
each Account in the ratio that the balance in each such Account as of the 
preceding Valuation Date bears to the balances in all Accounts as of that 
Valuation Date with appropriate adjustments to reflect any distributions, 
allocations or similar adjustments to such Account or Accounts since that 
Valuation Date. 
 
                     (2)    To the extent that separate investment funds are 
established (as provided in section 5.1(a)), the adjustments required by 
subsection (a)(1) shall be made by applying subsection (a)(1) separately for 
each such investment fund so that any changes in the net worth of each such 
investment fund are charged or credited to the portion of each Account invested 
in such investment fund in the ratio that the portion of each such Account 
invested in such investment fund as of the preceding Valuation Date (reduced by 
any distributions made from that portion of such Account since that Valuation 
Date) bears to the total amount credited to such investment funds as of that 
Valuation Date (reduced by distributions made from such investment fund since 
that Valuation Date). 
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                     (3)    Interim valuations, in accordance with the foregoing 
procedure, may be made at such time or times as the Administrator directs. 
 
              (b)    The Administrator may, in its sole discretion, direct the 
Trustee to segregate and separately invest any Trust Fund assets, including but 
not limited to, any Trust Fund assets that are attributable to cash dividends on 
Common Stock and Raytheon Company Class A common stock pending distribution or 
allocation of such assets in accordance with section 8.13. If any assets are 
segregated in this fashion, the earnings or losses on such assets shall be 
determined apart from other Trust assets and shall be adjusted on each Valuation 
Date, or at such other times as the Administrator deems necessary, in accordance 
with this section. 
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                                   ARTICLE VI 
 
                                     Vesting 
 
       6.1    Elective Deferral, Employee After-Tax Contribution, Rollover 
Contribution, Qualified Nonelective Contribution, Employer Contribution and ESOP 
Contribution Accounts. Except as otherwise provided in Exhibit A to this Plan, 
each Participant shall have a nonforfeitable right to all amounts in the 
Participant's Elective Deferral, Employee After-Tax Contribution, Rollover 
Contribution, Qualified Nonelective Contribution, Employer Contribution and ESOP 
Contribution Accounts. 
 
       6.2    Matching Contribution Account. 
 
              (a)    Except as otherwise provided in Exhibit A to this Plan, 
each Participant who performs an Hour of Service on or after January 1, 1999, 
shall have a nonforfeitable right to his or her entire Account, including the 
Participant's Matching Contribution Account. 
 
              (b)    Each Participant who does not perform an Hour of Service on 
or after January 1, 1999 shall have a nonforfeitable right to his or her 
Matching Contribution Account in accordance with the terms of the Plan as in 
effect before January 1, 1999 (or, if more favorable, under the terms of the 
transferee plan in the case of a direct transfer of assets to the Plan in 
accordance with sections 1.1(b) and 4.8(c)). For this purpose, before January 1, 
1999, the Plan provided that each Participant would have a nonforfeitable right 
to his or her Matching Contribution Account upon the earliest of: 
 
                     (1)    the Participant's completion of a Period of Service 
of five (5) years; 
 
                     (2)    the Participant's completion of a Period of 
Participation of three (3) years; 
 
                     (3)    the Participant's Retirement, death while an 
Employee, Disability or attainment of Normal Retirement Age; or 
 
                     (4)    in the case of a Participant who formerly 
participated in the Raytheon Salaried Savings and Investment Plan (10011) and 
the Raytheon California Hourly Savings and Investment Plan (10012), the 
Participant's Layoff or Severance from Service due to Qualified Military 
Service. 
 
              (c)    Notwithstanding subsection (b) above, a Sonobuoy Product 
Line Participant shall have a nonforfeitable right to his or her entire Account, 
including the Participant's Matching Contribution Account (to the extent 
applicable). For purposes of this subsection (c), a "Sonobuoy Product Line 
Participant" shall mean a Participant who immediately 
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prior to December 18, 1998 was an Employee of the Company's Sonobuoy Product 
Line Division and who, on such date, became an employee of Undersea Sensor 
Systems, Inc. in connection with its acquisition of certain assets used in the 
Company's Sonobuoy Product Line Division. The Sonobuoy Product Line Participants 
shall no longer be eligible to participate in the Plan on or after December 18, 
1998. 
 
                  (d) Notwithstanding subsection (b) above, a Participant shall 
have a nonforfeitable right to any dividends paid on Common Stock and Raytheon 
Company Class A common stock after December 31, 2000, with respect to which the 
Participant was provided an election in accordance with section 
404(k)(2)(A)(iii) of the Code and section 8.13 of this Plan. Such dividends 
shall be nonforfeitable without regard to whether the Participant has a 
nonforfeitable right to the Common Stock and Raytheon Company Class A common 
stock with respect to which the dividend is paid. 
 
                  (e) For purposes of this section 6.2, all Hours of Service as 
a Leased Employee, if any, shall be taken into account for purposes of 
determining a Participant's nonforfeitable right to his or her Matching 
Contribution Account, even though Leased Employees are not eligible to 
participate in the Plan. 
 
         6.3      Forfeitures. 
 
                  (a) In the event that a Participant incurs a Severance from 
Service before attaining a nonforfeitable right to his or her entire Account, 
the portion of the Account that is forfeitable will be forfeited as of the first 
day of the month immediately following the earliest of: (i) the date on which 
the Participant incurs a Period of Severance of five (5) consecutive years; (ii) 
death; or (iii) the date on which the Participant's Elective Deferral Account is 
distributed in accordance with ARTICLE VIII. Forfeitures will be used to reduce 
future contributions of the Adopting Employers to the Plan. 
 
                  (b) If, in connection with his or her Severance from Service, 
a Participant received a distribution of a portion of his or her entire Account 
when he or she did not have a nonforfeitable right to his or her entire Account, 
the portion of his or her Account that was forfeited, unadjusted by any 
subsequent gains or losses, shall be restored if he or she again becomes an 
Employee before incurring a Period of Severance of five (5) consecutive years. 
 
         6.4      Break in Service Rules 
 
                  (a) Periods of Service. In determining the length of a Period 
of Service, the Administrator shall include all Periods of Service, except the 
following Periods of Service shall not be taken into account: 
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                     (1)    in the case of a Participant who has never had a 
vested account balance, the Period of Service before any Period of Severance 
which equals or exceeds five (5) consecutive years; and 
 
                     (2)    in the case of a Participant who has had a vested 
account balance and who has incurred a Period of Severance which equals or 
exceeds five (5) years, the Period of Service after such Period of Severance 
shall not be taken into account for purposes of determining the nonforfeitable 
interest of such Participant in the Matching Contributions allocated to his or 
her Account before such Period of Severance. 
 
              (b)    Periods of Severance. In determining the length of a Period 
of Service, the Administrator shall include any period of time beginning on an 
Employee's Severance from Service Date and ending on the date on which he or she 
is next credited with an Hour of Service, provided that such Hour of Service is 
credited within the twelve- (12) consecutive month period following such 
Severance from Service Date. 
 
              (c)    Other Periods. In making the determinations described in 
subsections (a) and (b) of this section, the second, third, and fourth 
consecutive years of a Layoff (from the first anniversary of the last day paid 
to the fourth anniversary of the last day paid) and any period in excess of one 
(1) year of an Authorized Leave of Absence shall be regarded as neither a Period 
of Service nor a Period of Severance. 
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                                   ARTICLE VII 
 
                             In-Service Withdrawals 
 
 
       7.1    Elective Deferrals and Qualified Nonelective Contributions. 
 
              (a)    Subject to the terms and conditions prescribed in section 
7.6, a Participant may withdraw all or a portion of his or her Elective Deferral 
Account or Qualified Nonelective Contribution Account either (1) on or after 
attainment of age fifty-nine and one-half (59 1/2), or (2) in the event of a 
hardship. 
 
              (b)    In order to be entitled to a hardship withdrawal under this 
section, a Participant must satisfy the requirements of both subsection (c) and 
subsection (d). Whether a Participant is entitled to a withdrawal under this 
section is to be determined by the Administrator in accordance with 
nondiscriminatory and objective standards. 
 
              (c)    (1) A Participant will be deemed to have experienced an 
immediate and heavy financial need necessary to satisfy the requirements of this 
subsection if the withdrawal is on account of: 
 
                            (A)    medical expenses described in section 213(d) 
of the Code incurred by the Participant, the Participant's spouse or any 
dependents of the Participant; 
 
                            (B)    the purchase (excluding mortgage payments) of 
a principal residence of the Participant; 
 
                            (C)    payment of tuition for the next twelve (12) 
months of post-secondary education for the Participant or his or her spouse, 
children or dependents; or 
 
                            (D)    the need to prevent the eviction of the 
Participant from his or her principal residence or the foreclosure on the 
mortgage of the Participant's principal residence. 
 
              (d)    (1) A withdrawal under this subsection will be deemed 
necessary to satisfy an immediate and heavy financial need of the Participant if 
it satisfies the requirements of this subsection. To the extent the amount of 
the withdrawal would be in excess of the amount required to relieve the 
financial need of the Participant or to the extent such need may be satisfied 
from other resources that are reasonably available to the Participant, such 
withdrawal shall not satisfy the requirements of this subsection. For purposes 
of this subsection, a Participant's resources shall be deemed to include those 
assets of his or her spouse or minor children that are reasonably available to 
the Participant. 
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             (2) A withdrawal may be treated as necessary to satisfy a financial 
need if the Administrator reasonably relies upon the Participant's 
representation that the need cannot be relieved: 
 
                 (A) through reimbursement or compensation by insurance or 
otherwise; 
 
                 (B) by reasonable liquidation of the Participant's assets to 
the extent such liquidation would not itself cause an immediate and heavy 
financial need; 
 
                 (C) by cessation of Elective Deferrals under the Plan for at 
least twelve (12) months after receipt of the hardship withdrawal; or 
 
                 (D) by other distributions or nontaxable (at the time of the 
loan) loans from plans maintained by the Adopting Employers or by any other 
employer or by borrowing from commercial sources on reasonable commercial terms. 
 
         (e) If a Participant receives a withdrawal for reasons of financial 
hardship, the Participant's Elective Deferrals shall be reduced to four percent 
(4%) (or such lower percentage as the Participant shall thereafter designate), 
if in excess thereof as of the date of the distribution, and shall not be 
increased (i) for distributions before January 1, 2001, during the twelve (12) 
months immediately subsequent to the date of distribution; (ii) for 
distributions after December 31, 2000 and before January 1, 2002, during the six 
(6) months immediately subsequent to the date of distribution, or until January 
1, 2002, if later; and (iii) for distributions after December 31, 2001, during 
the six (6) months immediately subsequent to the date of distribution. 
 
     7.2 Employee After-Tax Contributions. Subject to the terms and conditions 
prescribed in section 7.6, a Participant may withdraw all or a portion of his or 
her Employee After-Tax Contribution Account. 
 
     7.3 Matching Contributions and Employer Contributions. Subject to the terms 
and conditions prescribed in section 7.6, a Participant may withdraw all or a 
portion of his or her Matching Contribution Account or Employer Contribution 
Account either (1) on or after attainment of age fifty-nine and one-half (59 
1/2), or (2) after completion of a Period of Participation of five (5) years or 
more. 
 
     7.4 Rollover Contributions. Subject to the terms and conditions prescribed 
in section 7.6, a Participant may withdraw all or a portion of his or her 
Rollover Contribution Account. 
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     7.5 ESOP Contributions. Subject to the terms and conditions prescribed in 
section 7.6, a Participant may withdraw all or a portion of his or her ESOP 
Contribution Account on or after attainment of age fifty-nine and one-half (59 
1/2). 
 
     7.6 General Terms and Conditions. All in-service withdrawals are subject to 
the following terms and conditions: 
 
         (a) In-service withdrawals will not be permitted if they are less than 
(i) before January 1, 2002 five hundred dollars ($500), and (ii) after December 
31, 2001 two hundred and fifty dollars ($250). 
 
         (b) In determining the amount of any in-service withdrawal, the 
Participant's Account shall be valued as of the close of business on the Trade 
Day on which notice is received; provided, however, that in any case where the 
notice is received after 4:00 p.m. Eastern Time (daylight or standard, whichever 
is in effect on the date of the call), the Account shall be valued as of the 
close of business on the next Trade Day. 
 
         (c) Payment of the amount withdrawn will be made as soon as 
administratively feasible after the effective date of the withdrawal. 
 
         (d) In-service withdrawals from a Participant's Account will generally 
be made in cash. However, in-service withdrawals from Accounts invested in 
Common Stock, General Motors Class H common stock or Raytheon Company Class A 
common stock will be made in cash or stock (with cash for fractional or unissued 
shares) as elected by the Participant. 
 
         (e) Funds for in-service withdrawals will be taken on a pro-rata basis 
against the Participant's investment balances in his or her Account. 
 
         (f) In-service withdrawals may not be redeposited in the Plan. 
 
         (g) The Administrator may adopt such other rules and procedures as it 
deems necessary, in its sole discretion, to properly administer the in-service 
withdrawal provisions in this ARTICLE. 
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                                  ARTICLE VIII 
 
                            Distribution of Benefits 
 
     8.1   General. 
 
           (a) Except as otherwise provided in Exhibit B to this Plan (or 
otherwise required by section 4.8(b)), all benefits payable under this Plan 
shall be paid in the manner and at the times specified in this ARTICLE. 
 
           (b) All payment methods and distributions shall comply with the 
requirements of sections 401(a)(4) and 401(a)(9) of the Code and the regulations 
thereunder and, if necessary, shall be interpreted to so comply. All 
distributions shall comply with the incidental death benefit requirement of 
section 401(a)(9)(G) of the Code. Distributions shall comply with the 
regulations under section 401(a)(9) of the Code, including Treas. Reg. 
ss.1.401(a)(9)-2. The provisions of the Plan reflecting section 401(a)(9) of the 
Code override any distribution provisions in the Plan inconsistent with section 
401(a)(9) of the Code. 
 
     8.2   Commencement of Benefits. 
 
           (a) A Participant (or Beneficiary) shall be entitled to a 
distribution of the nonforfeitable portion of his or her Account upon Severance 
from Service (or if earlier, an event described in subsections (e)(3), (4) and 
(5)). 
 
           (b) Except as otherwise provided in this section 8.2, payment of 
benefits to a Participant (or Beneficiary) shall commence within a reasonable 
period of time following the Participant's Severance from Service (or if 
earlier, an event described in subsections (e)(1), (3), (4) and (5)). 
 
           (c) If the value of the nonforfeitable portion of the Participant's 
Account exceeds the maximum amount prescribed in section 411(a)(11) of the Code, 
then payment to the Participant shall not commence without the Participant's 
written consent, except as otherwise required by Section 8.2(f). Such written 
consent must be obtained no more than ninety (90) days before the commencement 
of the distribution. For distributions made after December 31, 2001, the value 
of the nonforfeitable portion of the Participant's Account shall be determined 
without regard to that portion of the Account that is attributable to rollover 
contributions (and the earnings allocable thereto) within the meaning of 
sections 402(c), 403(a)(4), 403(b)(8), 408(d)(3)(A)(ii), and 457(e)(16) of the 
Code. Notwithstanding the preceding provisions of this subsection (c), all 
distributions to a Participant's Beneficiary shall commence within a reasonable 
period of time following the Participant's death (no consent of the Beneficiary 
is required). 
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     (d) Unless a Participant elects otherwise, distribution to the Participant 
shall commence no later than sixty (60) days after the close of the Plan Year in 
which the latest of the following events occurs: 
 
         (1) attainment by the Participant of Normal Retirement Age; 
 
         (2) the tenth (10th) anniversary of the date on which Participant 
commenced participation in the Plan; or 
 
         (3) Participant's Severance from Service. 
 
     (e) Distribution of the nonforfeitable portion of a Participant's Account 
shall generally commence in accordance with the general provisions of this 
section 8.2, but in no event before the earliest of the following events: 
 
         (1) For distributions before January 1, 2002, the Participant's 
separation from service within the meaning of section 401(k)(2)(B)(i)(I) of the 
Code (as then effective). For distributions after December 31, 2001, the 
Participant's severance from employment within the meaning of section 
401(k)(2)(B)(i)(I) of the Code (as then effective). The "severance from 
employment" standard effective after December 31, 2001 shall apply to any 
distributions after such date regardless of when the severance from employment 
occurred. 
 
         (2) The Participant's attainment of age fifty-nine and one-half 
(59-1/2). 
 
         (3) The termination of the Plan without establishment or maintenance of 
another defined contribution plan (other than an employee stock ownership plan). 
 
         (4) For distributions before January 1, 2002, the disposition of 
substantially all of the assets used by the Employer in a trade or business of 
the Employer, but only with respect to an Employee who continues employment with 
the entity acquiring such assets. 
 
         (5) For distributions before January 1, 2002, the disposition of the 
Employer's interest in a subsidiary, but only with respect to an Employee who 
continues employment with such subsidiary. 
 
     (f) A Participant who has attained age seventy and one-half (70 1/2) and is 
subject to the mandatory distribution requirements of section 401(a)(9) of the 
Code shall receive a lump sum distribution of his or her entire Account at the 
time distributions must commence in order to comply with such requirements. If 
additional amounts are allocated to such Participant's Account following such 
lump sum distribution, additional lump sum distributions of his or her entire 
Account shall be made at such times any mandatory distributions are required to 
comply with section 401(a)(9) of the Code. Such payments shall be made 
notwithstanding any contrary provisions of the Plan or election made by such 
Participant. 
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          (g) If a Participant dies before the time when distribution is 
considered to have commenced in accordance with applicable regulations, then any 
remaining nonforfeitable portion of the Participant's Account shall be 
distributed within five (5) years after the Participant's death. If a 
distribution is considered to have commenced in accordance with the applicable 
regulations before the Participant's death, the remaining nonforfeitable portion 
of the Participant's Account shall be distributed at least as rapidly as under 
the method of distribution being used as of the date of the Participant's death. 
 
     8.3  Form of Distribution. 
 
          (a) Distributions under the Plan shall be made only in the form of a 
single, lump-sum payment of the entire nonforfeitable portion of the 
Participant's Account. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, during the period 
beginning January 1, 1999 and ending September 30, 1999, Participants who are 
otherwise entitled to receive a distribution under the Plan may elect to receive 
separate, lump-sum payments of the nonforfeitable portion of the Participant's 
ESOP Contribution Account and the nonforfeitable portion of the Participant's 
remaining Account. 
 
          (b) Distribution of the nonforfeitable portion of the Participant's 
Account that is invested in Common Stock, Raytheon Company Class A common stock 
(if any) or General Motors Class H common stock (if any) shall be made in cash 
or in-kind, at the election of the Participant (or Beneficiary). All other 
distributions under the Plan shall be made in cash (or cash equivalent) except 
to the extent that a Participant requests that the distribution be made in the 
form of Common Stock. 
 
     8.4 Determination of Amount of Distribution. In determining the amount of 
any distribution hereunder, the nonforfeitable portion of a Participant's 
Account shall be valued as of the close of business on the Trade Day on which 
notice is received; provided, however, that in any case where the telephone 
notice is received after 4:00 p.m. Eastern Time (daylight or standard, whichever 
is in effect on the date of the call), the Account shall be valued as of the 
close of business on the next Trade Day. 
 
     8.5  Direct Rollovers. 
 
          (a) A Participant may elect that all or any portion of a distribution 
that would otherwise be paid as an Eligible Rollover Distribution shall instead 
be transferred as a Direct Rollover. 
 
          (b) The Administrator shall determine and apply rules and procedures 
as it deems reasonable with respect to Direct Rollovers. The Administrator may 
change such rules 
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and procedures from time to time and shall not be bound by any previous rules 
and procedures it has applied. 
 
     (c) The following terms shall have the meanings specified: 
 
         (1) Direct Rollover. An available distribution that is paid directly to 
an Eligible Retirement Plan for the benefit of the distributee. 
 
         (2) Distributee. A Participant or former Participant. In addition, the 
Participant's or former Participant's Surviving Spouse or former spouse who is 
the Alternate Payee under a Qualified Domestic Relations Order, as defined in 
section 414(p) of the Code, are Distributees with regard to the interest of the 
spouse or former spouse. 
 
         (3) Eligible Retirement Plan. An individual retirement account 
described in section 408(a) of the Code, an individual retirement annuity (other 
than an endowment contract) described in section 408(b) of the Code, a qualified 
trust described in section 401(a) of the Code if such qualified trust is part of 
a plan that permits acceptance of Direct Rollovers or an annuity plan described 
in section 403(a) of the Code. In the case of a Direct Rollover for the benefit 
of the spouse or former spouse of a Participant, the term "Eligible Retirement 
Plan" shall only include an individual retirement account described in section 
408(a) of the Code and an individual retirement annuity (other than an endowment 
contract) described in section 408(b) of the Code. Notwithstanding the preceding 
provisions of this subsection (3), for distributions made after December 31, 
2001, the following modifications shall apply: (1) the term "Eligible Retirement 
Plan" shall also include an annuity contract described in section 403(b) of the 
Code and an eligible plan under section 457(b) of the Code which is maintained 
by a state, political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality 
of a state or political subdivision of a state and which agrees to separately 
account for amounts transferred into such plan from this Plan; and (2) in the 
case of a Direct Rollover for the benefit of the surviving spouse of a 
Participant, or a spouse or former spouse who is the alternate payee under a 
qualified domestic relations order, as defined in section 414(p) of the Code, 
the term "Eligible Retirement Plan" shall include all of the plans and 
arrangements otherwise described in this subsection (3). 
 
         (4) Eligible Rollover Distribution. Any distribution under the Plan to 
a Participant, a Participant's spouse or a Participant's former spouse, except 
for the following: 
 
             (A) Any distribution to the extent the distribution is required 
under section 401(a)(9) of the Code. 
 
             (B) The portion of any distribution that is not includable in gross 
income (determinedwithout regard to the exclusion for net unrealized 
appreciation 
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described in section 402(e)(4) of the Code). Notwithstanding the preceding 
sentence, for distributions made after December 31, 2001, the term "Eligible 
Rollover Distribution" shall include the portion of a distribution that consists 
of after-tax employee contributions which are not includable in gross income; 
provided, that such after-tax employee contributions can only be transferred to 
an individual retirement account or annuity described in section 408(a) or (b) 
of the Code, or to a qualified defined contribution plan described in section 
401(a) or 403(a) of the Code that agrees to separately account for amounts so 
transferred, including separately accounting for the portion of such 
distribution which is includable in gross income and the portion of such 
distribution which is not so includable. 
 
             (C) Returns of elective deferrals described in Treas.Reg.(S).1.415- 
6(b)(6)(iv) that are returned as a result of the limitations under section 415 
of the Code. 
 
             (D) Corrective distributions of excess contributions and excess 
deferrals under qualified cash or deferred arrangements as described in Treas. 
Reg.(S).1.401(k)-1(f)(4) and(S).1.402(g)-1(e)(3), respectively, and corrective 
distributions of excess aggregate contributions as described in Treas. 
Reg.(S).1.401(m)-1(e)(3), together with the income allocable to these corrective 
distributions. 
 
             (E) Loans treated as distributions under section 72(p) of the Code 
and not excepted by section 72(p)(2) of the Code. 
 
             (F) Loans in default that are deemed distributions. 
 
             (G) Dividends paid on employer securities as described in section 
404(k) of the Code. 
 
             (H) The costs of life insurance coverage. 
 
             (I) For distributions before January 1, 2002, any hardship 
distribution described in section 401(k)(2)(B)(i)(IV); and for distributions 
after December 31, 2001, any distribution which is made upon hardship of the 
Participant. 
 
             (J) Similar items designated by the Internal Revenue Service in 
revenue rulings, notices, and other guidance of general applicability. 
 
     8.6 Notice and Payment Elections. 
 
         (a) The Administrator shall provide Participants or other Distributees 
of Eligible Rollover Distributions with a written notice designed to comply with 
the requirements of section 402(f) of the Code. Such notice shall be provided 
within a reasonable period of time before making an Eligible Rollover 
Distribution. 
 
         (b) Any elections concerning the payment of benefits under this ARTICLE 
shall be made on a form prescribed by the Administrator. The Participant or 
other Distributee 
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shall submit a completed form to the Administrator at least thirty (30) days 
before payment is scheduled to commence, unless the Administrator agrees to a 
shorter time period. Any election made under this section shall be revocable 
until thirty (30) days before payment is scheduled to commence. 
 
            (c) An election to have payment made in a Direct Rollover shall only 
be valid if the Participant or other Distributee provides adequate information 
to the Administrator for the implementation of such Direct Rollover and such 
reasonable verification as the Administrator may require that the transferee is 
an Eligible Retirement Plan. 
 
            8.7 Qualified Domestic Relations Orders. 
 
                (a) Notwithstanding any contrary provision of the Plan, payments 
shall be made in accordance with any judgment, decree or order determined to be 
a Qualified Domestic Relations Order. 
 
                (b) (1) If the Plan receives a Domestic Relations Order, the 
Administrator shall promptly notify the Participant and each Alternate Payee of 
the receipt of such order and of the Plan's procedures for determining whether 
such order is a Qualified Domestic Relations Order. The Administrator shall, 
within a reasonable period after receipt of such order, determine whether it is 
a Qualified Domestic Relations Order and notify the Participant and each 
Alternate Payee of that determination. 
 
                    (2) During any period in which the issue of whether a 
Domestic Relations Order is a Qualified Domestic Relations Order is being 
determined, the Administrator shall separately account for the amounts that 
would have been payable to the Alternate Payee during such period if the order 
had been determined to be a Qualified Domestic Relations Order. 
 
                (c) (1) A Domestic Relations Order meets the requirements of 
this subsection only if such order clearly specifies the following: 
 
                        (A) the name and last known mailing address (if any) of 
the Participant and the name and mailing address of each Alternate Payee covered 
by the order; 
 
                        (B) the amount or the percentage of the Participant's 
benefits to be paid by the Plan to each such Alternate Payee or the manner in 
which such amount or percentage is to be determined; 
 
                        (C) the number of payments or period to which such order 
applies; and 
 
                        (D) each plan to which such order applies. 
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                    (2) A Domestic Relations Order meets the requirements of 
this subsection only if such order does not: 
 
                        (A)  require the Plan to provide any type or form of 
benefit or any option not otherwise provided under the Plan; 
 
                        (B)  require the Plan to provide increased benefits 
(determined on the basis of actuarial value); and 
 
                        (C)  does not require the payment of benefits to an 
Alternate Payee that is required to be paid to another Alternate Payee under 
another order previously determined to be a Qualified Domestic Relations Order. 
 
             (d)    A domestic relations order shall not be treated as failing 
to meet the requirements of section 8.7(c)(2)(A) solely because such order 
requires that payment of benefits be made to an Alternate Payee: 
 
                    (1) in the case of any payment before a Participant has 
separated from service, on or after the date on which the Participant attains 
(or would have attained) the Earliest Retirement Date; 
 
                    (2) as if the Participant had retired on the date on which 
such payment is to begin under such order (but taking into account only the 
present value of the benefits actually accrued and not taking into account the 
present value of any employer subsidy for early retirement); and 
 
                    (3) in any form in which such benefits may be paid under the 
Plan to the Participant (other than in the form of a qualified joint and 
survivor annuity with respect to the Alternate Payee and his or her subsequent 
spouse). 
 
             (e)    A domestic relations order shall not be treated as failing 
to meet the requirements of section 8.7(c)(2)(A) solely because such order 
requires that payment of benefits be made to an Alternate Payee at a date before 
the Participant is entitled to receive a distribution. Such distribution shall 
be made to such Alternate Payee notwithstanding any contrary provision of the 
Plan. 
 
             (f)    The following terms shall have the meanings specified: 
 
                    (1) Alternate Payee. Any spouse, former spouse, child or 
other dependent of a Participant who is recognized by a Domestic Relations Order 
as having a right to benefits under the Plan with respect to such Participant. 
 
                    (2) Domestic Relations Order. A judgment, decree or order 
relating to child support, alimony or marital property rights, as defined in 
section 414(p)(1)(B) of the Code. 
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                    (3) Earliest Retirement Date. The earlier of: 
 
                        (A)  the date on which the Participant is entitled to a 
distribution under the Plan; or 
 
                        (B)  the later of: 
 
                             (i)     the date the Participant attains age fifty 
(50); or 
 
                             (ii)    the earliest date on which the Participant 
could begin receiving benefits under the Plan if the Participant separated from 
service. 
 
                    (4) Qualified Domestic Relations Order. A Domestic Relations 
Order that satisfies the requirements of subsection (c) and section 414(p)(1)(A) 
of the Code. 
 
                (g) If an Alternate Payee entitled to payment under this section 
 is the spouse or former spouse of a Participant and payment will otherwise 
be made in an Eligible Rollover Distribution, then such spouse or former spouse 
may elect that all, or any portion, of such payment shall instead be transferred 
as a Direct Rollover. Such Direct Rollover shall be governed by the requirements 
of section 8.5. 
 
                (h) If a Domestic Relations Order directs that payment be made 
to an Alternate Payee before the Participant's Earliest Retirement Date and such 
Domestic Relations Order otherwise qualifies as a Qualified Domestic Relations 
Order, then the Domestic Relations Order shall be treated as a Qualified 
Domestic Relations Order and such payment shall be made to the Alternate Payee, 
even though the Participant is not entitled to receive a distribution under the 
Plan because he or she continues to be an Employee of the Employer. 
 
                (i) This section shall be interpreted and administered in 
accordance with section 414(p) of the Code. 
 
                (j) Effective on and after February 1, 2001, except as otherwise 
provided in a Qualified Domestic Relations Order, all distributions to an 
Alternate Payee shall commence within a reasonable period of time following the 
determination that the Domestic Relations Order is a Qualified Domestic 
Relations Order. 
 
       8.8      Designation of Beneficiary. 
 
                (a)     A Participant may designate a Beneficiary (including 
successive or contingent Beneficiaries) in accordance with this section 8.8. 
Such designation shall be on a form prescribed by the Administrator, may include 
successive or contingent Beneficiaries, shall be effective upon receipt by the 
Administrator and shall comply with such additional conditions and requirements 
as the Administrator shall prescribe. The interest of any person as Beneficiary 
shall automatically cease on his or her death and any further payments from the 
Plan shall be made to the next successive or contingent Beneficiary. 
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         (b) A Participant may change his or her Beneficiary designation from 
time to time, without the consent or knowledge of any previously designated 
Beneficiary, by filing a new Beneficiary designation form with the Administrator 
in accordance with subsection (a). 
 
         (c) If a Participant dies without a designated Beneficiary surviving, 
the person or persons in the following class of successive beneficiaries 
surviving, any testamentary devise or bequest to the contrary notwithstanding, 
shall be deemed to be the Participant's Beneficiary: the Participant's (1) 
spouse, (2) children and issue of deceased children by right of representation, 
(3) parents, (4) brothers and sisters and issue of deceased brothers and sisters 
by right of representation, or (5) executors or administrators. If no 
Beneficiary can be located during a period of seven (7) years from the date of 
death, the Participant's Account shall be treated in the same manner as a 
forfeiture under section 6.3(a). 
 
         (d) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this section, if a 
Participant is married at the time of his or her death, such Participant shall 
be deemed to have designated his or her surviving spouse as Beneficiary, unless 
such Participant has filed a Beneficiary designation under subsection (a) and 
such spouse has consented in writing to the election (acknowledging the effect 
of the election and specifically acknowledging the nonspouse Beneficiary) and 
such consent was witnessed by either the Administrator (or its delegate) or a 
notary public. Such consent shall not be required if the Participant does not 
have a spouse or the spouse cannot be located. Such consent shall not be 
required if the Participant is legally separated from his or her spouse or the 
Participant has been abandoned (under applicable local law) and the Participant 
has a court order to such effect, unless a Qualified Domestic Relations Order 
provides otherwise. If the Participant's spouse is legally incompetent to give 
consent, the spouse's legal guardian (even if the guardian is the Participant) 
may give consent. 
 
    8.9  Lost Participant or Beneficiary. 
 
         (a) All Participants and Beneficiaries shall have the obligation to 
keep the Administrator informed of their current address until such time as all 
benefits due have been paid. 
 
         (b) If any amount is payable to a Participant or Beneficiary who 
cannot be located to receive such payment, such amount may, at the discretion of 
the Administrator, be forfeited; provided, however, that if such Participant or 
Beneficiary subsequently claims the forfeited amount, it shall be reinstated and 
paid to such Participant or Beneficiary. Such reinstatement may, in the 
Administrator's sole discretion, be made from contributions by one or more 
Adopting Employers, forfeitures or Trust earnings, and shall be treated as a 
special allocation that supersedes the normal allocation rules. 
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         (c) If the Administrator has not, after due diligence, located a 
Participant or Beneficiary who is entitled to payment within three (3) years 
after the Participant's Severance from Service, then, at the discretion of the 
Administrator, such person may be presumed deceased for purposes of this Plan. 
Any such presumption of death shall be final, conclusive and binding on all 
parties. 
 
    8.10 Payments to Incompetents. If a Participant or Beneficiary entitled to 
receive any benefits hereunder is adjudicated to be legally incapable of giving 
valid receipt and discharge for such benefits, the benefits may be paid to the 
duly authorized personal representative of such Participant or Beneficiary. 
 
    8.11 Offsets. Any transfers or payments made from a Participant's Account 
to a person other than the Participant pursuant to the provisions of this Plan 
shall reduce the Participant's Account and offset any amounts otherwise due to 
such Participant. Such transfers or payments shall not be considered a 
forfeiture for purposes of the Plan. 
 
    8.12 Income Tax Withholding. To the extent required by section 3405 of the 
Code, distributions and withdrawals from the Plan shall be subject to federal 
income tax withholding. 
 
    8.13 Common Stock Dividend Distributions. In accordance with section 404(k) 
of the Code, effective on and after August 1, 2000, cash dividends on Common 
Stock and Raytheon Company Class A common stock may be distributed to 
Participants and Beneficiaries no later than ninety (90) days after the close of 
the Plan Year in which the dividends are paid. With respect to any dividends 
paid after July 31, 2000 and before January 1, 2002, the dividends shall be 
distributed to those Participants who elect to have such dividends distributed. 
With respect to any dividends paid after December 31, 2001, and any dividends 
paid during calendar year 2001 which a Participant did not elect to have 
distributed in 2001, each Participant shall be provided with an election under 
section 404(k)(2)(A)(iii) of the Code, as amended by the Economic Growth and Tax 
Relief Reconciliation Act of 2001 ("EGTRRA"), that is intended to permit such 
dividends to qualify as "applicable dividends" under section 404(k)(2) of the 
Code, as amended by EGTRRA, for taxable years of the Company beginning on or 
after January 1, 2002. 
 
    8.14 Put Option and Restrictions on Common Stock. 
 
         (a) Any Common Stock or Raytheon Company Class A common stock 
     (collectively referred to in this section 8.14 as "common stock") 
     distributed under this Plan shall be subject to a put option if the common 
     stock, at the time of distribution, is not then readily tradable on an 
     established market, as defined for purposes of section 409(h) of the Code. 
     The put option shall permit the common stock to be put to the Company at 
     its fair market value. The 
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put option shall be exercisable at any time during the sixty (60) day period 
commencing on the date of distribution of the common stock. If the distributee 
does not exercise the put option within such sixty (60) day period, the put 
option will temporarily lapse. After the close of the Company's taxable year in 
which such temporary lapse occurs and following a determination of the fair 
market value of such common stock as of the end of that taxable year, the 
Company shall notify the distributee of such fair market value. The distributee 
shall then have the right to exercise the put option at any time during the 
sixty (60) day period following such notice. If the distributee does not then 
exercise the put option, such common stock will cease to be subject to the put 
option. Payment upon exercise of the put option shall be made or commence no 
later than thirty (30) days after exercise and, in the discretion of the 
Company, shall be in a lump sum or in substantially equal periodic installments 
(not less frequently than annually) which shall extend over a period not to 
exceed five (5) years from the date of exercise, with interest at a reasonable 
rate, determined by the Company, on the unpaid balance; provided, however, that 
if the common stock was not part of a distribution of the entire Account of the 
Participant within one taxable year of the recipient, payment must be made in a 
lump sum. If payment upon exercise of the put option is to be made by the 
Company in installments, the Company shall deliver to the distributee its 
promissory note which provides to the distributee the right to require full 
payment if the Company defaults in the payment of a scheduled installment. The 
Company shall also deliver to the distributee adequate security for the 
outstanding amount of the promissory note. 
 
         (b) Except as provided in subsection (a) or as otherwise required by 
law, no common stock acquired with the proceeds of an Acquisition Loan may be 
subject to a put, call or other option, or buy-sell or similar arrangements, 
while held by or when distributed from the Plan. 
 
         (c) The provisions of this section 8.14 are nonterminable, and shall 
continue notwithstanding the repayment of any Acquisition Loan the proceeds of 
which were used to acquire common stock and notwithstanding the fact that the 
Plan ceases to be an employee stock ownership plan. 
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                                   ARTICLE IX 
 
                                      Loans 
 
    9.1  Availability of Loans. Participants may borrow against all or a portion 
of the nonforfeitable balance in the Participant's Account, subject to the 
limitations set forth in this ARTICLE. Loans will be made available to all 
Participants on a reasonably equivalent basis and will not be made available to 
Highly Compensated Employees in an amount greater than the amount made available 
to other employees. Participants who have incurred a Severance from Service will 
not be eligible for a Plan loan. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, a 
Participant who is not entitled to a distribution of the entire nonforfeitable 
portion of his or her Account because of the qualified plan distribution rules 
applicable to the Plan and who either (i) transferred employment directly from 
the Employer to Computer Sciences Corporation or Tyco International (or one of 
their affiliates), or (ii) experienced a Severance from Service (or is otherwise 
no longer an Employee of an Employer) on or after January 1, 2001, will remain 
eligible for a Plan loan until the Participant becomes entitled to a 
distribution of the entire nonforfeitable portion of his or her Account under 
such rules, as determined in the sole discretion of the Administrator. 
 
    9.2  Minimum Amount of Loan. No loan of less than five hundred dollars 
($500) will be permitted. 
 
    9.3  Maximum Amount of Loan. No loan in excess of fifty percent (50%) of the 
Participant's nonforfeitable Account balance will be permitted. In addition, 
limits imposed by the Internal Revenue Code and any other requirements of 
applicable statute or regulation will be applied. Under the current requirements 
of the Internal Revenue Code, a loan cannot exceed the lesser of one-half (1/2) 
of the value of the Participant's nonforfeitable Account balance or fifty 
thousand dollars ($50,000) reduced by the excess of (a) the highest outstanding 
balance of loans from the Plan during the one-year period ending on the day 
before the date on which such loan was made over (b) the outstanding balance of 
loans from the Plan on the date on which such loan was made. 
 
    9.4  Effective Date of Loans. Loans will be effective as specified in the 
Administrator's rules then in effect. 
 
    9.5  Repayment Schedule. The Participant may select a repayment schedule of 
one, two, three, four or five (1, 2, 3, 4 or 5) years. If the loan is used to 
acquire any dwelling which, within a reasonable time is to be used (determined 
at the time the loan is made) as the principal residence of the Participant, the 
repayment period may be extended up to fifteen (15) 
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years at the election of the Participant. All repayments will be made through 
payroll deductions in accordance with the loan agreement executed at the time 
the loan is made, except that, in the event of the sale of all or a portion of 
the business of the Employer or one of the Adopting Employers, or other unusual 
circumstances, the Administrator, through uniform and equitable rules, may 
establish other means of repayment. The loan agreement will permit repayment of 
the entire outstanding balance in one lump-sum and the repayment of any portion 
of the outstanding balance at any time (with appropriate adjustment to the 
remaining payment schedule as determined by the Administrator, in its sole 
discretion, on a uniform and nondiscriminatory basis). The repayment schedule 
shall provide for substantially level amortization of the loan. Loan repayments 
will be suspended under this Plan as permitted under section 414(u) of the Code 
and as required to comply with an order issued in a bankruptcy proceeding. 
 
    9.6  Limit on Number of Loans. Except as otherwise provided herein, no more 
than two (2) loans may be outstanding at any time. If a Participant has more 
than two (2) loans outstanding on account of a transfer of assets from another 
plan in accordance with section 4.8, the Participant may not obtain a new loan 
until he or she has less than two (2) loans outstanding. The Administrator may, 
notwithstanding the foregoing provisions, alter the requirements of this Section 
9.6, or Sections 9.2 or 9.5. 
 
    9.7  Interest Rate. The interest rate for a loan pursuant to this ARTICLE 
will be equal to the prime rate published in The Wall Street Journal on the 
first business day in each calendar quarter and such rate will apply to loans 
which are made at any time during each respective calendar quarter. 
 
    9.8  Effect Upon Participant's Account. Upon the granting of a loan to a 
Participant by the Administrator, the allocations in the Participant's Account 
to the respective investment funds will be reduced on a pro rata basis and 
replaced by the loan balance which will be designated as an asset in the 
Account. Such reduction shall be effected by reducing the Participant's Account 
in the following sequence, with no reduction of the succeeding Accounts until 
prior Accounts have been exhausted by the loan: Matching Contribution Account; 
Elective Deferral Account; ESOP Contribution Account, Rollover Contribution 
Account; and Employee After-Tax Contribution Account. Upon repayment of the 
principal and interest, the loan balance will be reduced, the Participant 
Accounts will be increased in the reverse order in which they were exhausted by 
the loan, and the loan payments will be allocated to the respective investment 
funds in accordance with the investment election then in effect. 
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     9.9  Effect of Severance From Service and Nonpayment. 
 
          (a) In the event that a loan remains outstanding upon the Severance 
from Service of a Participant, the Participant will be given the option of 
continuing to repay the outstanding loan. If, as a result of layoff or 
Authorized Leave of Absence, a Participant, although still in a Period of 
Service, is not being compensated through the Employer's payroll system or 
receives a net amount of compensation after income and employment tax 
withholding that is less than the amount of the required loan installments, loan 
payments will be suspended until the earliest of the first pay date after the 
Participant returns to active employment with the Employer, the Participant's 
Severance from Service Date, or the expiration of twelve (12) months from the 
date of the suspension. In the event the Participant does not return to active 
employment with the Employer or, if earlier, the expiration of the twelve (12) 
month period beginning with the date of suspension, the Participant will be 
given the option of continuing to repay the outstanding loan. 
 
          (b) Except as otherwise provided herein, if required payments on an 
outstanding loan are not made when due, the loan shall be treated as in default 
and the amount of the unpaid principal and accrued interest shall be deducted 
from the Participant's Account and reported as a distribution. However, a loan 
will not be treated as in default until the end of the calendar quarter 
following the calendar quarter in which the required loan payment was due (the 
"cure period"). If a Participant makes the required loan payment before the 
expiration of the cure period, the loan will not be considered in default with 
respect to such loan payment. Notwithstanding the preceding sentences of this 
subsection (b), if a Participant, who is still in a Period of Service and is 
being compensated through the Employer's payroll system, has loan repayments 
suspended for more than ninety (90) days pursuant to an order issued in a 
bankruptcy proceeding, the amount of the unpaid principal and accrued interest 
will be deducted from the Participant's Account and reported as a distribution. 
In no event, however, shall the portion of a loan attributable to a 
Participant's Elective Deferral Account be deducted earlier than the date on 
which the Participant experiences a distributable event prescribed in section 
401(k)(2)(B)(i) of the Code. 
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                                    ARTICLE X 
 
                      Contribution and Benefit Limitations 
 
     10.1 Contribution Limits. 
 
          (a) For Limitation Years beginning after December 31, 2001, the Annual 
Additions that may be allocated to a Participant's Account for any Limitation 
Year shall not exceed the lesser of: 
 
              (1)  forty thousand dollars ($40,000); or 
 
              (2) one hundred percent (100%) of the Participant's Compensation 
for that Limitation Year. 
 
          (b) For Limitation Years beginning before January 1, 2002, the Annual 
Additions that may be allocated to a Participant's Account for any Limitation 
Year shall not exceed the lesser of: 
 
              (1) thirty thousand dollars ($30,000); or 
 
              (2) twenty-five percent (25%) of the Participant's Compensation 
for that Limitation Year. 
 
          (c) If the Employer maintains any other Defined Contribution Plans 
then the limitations specified in this section shall be computed with reference 
to the aggregate Annual Additions for each Participant from all such Defined 
Contribution Plans. 
 
          (d) If the Annual Additions for a Participant would exceed the limits 
specified in this section, then the Annual Additions under this Plan for that 
Participant shall be reduced to the extent necessary to prevent such limits from 
being exceeded. Such reduction shall be made in accordance with section 10.3. 
 
     10.2 Annual Adjustments to Limits. The dollar limitation for Annual 
Additions shall be adjusted for cost-of-living to the extent permitted under 
section 415(d) of the Code. 
 
     10.3 Excess Amounts. 
 
          (a) The foregoing limits shall be limits on the allocation that may be 
made to a Participant's Account in any Limitation Year. If an excess Annual 
Addition would otherwise result from an allocation of forfeitures, reasonable 
errors in determining Compensation or other comparable reasons, then the 
Administrator may take any (or all) of the following steps to prevent the excess 
Annual Additions from being allocated: 
 
              (1) return any contributions from the Participant, as long as 
such return is nondiscriminatory; 
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              (2) hold the excess amounts unallocated in a suspense account and 
apply the balance of the suspense account against Matching, ESOP, Qualified 
Nonelective or Employer Contributions for that Participant made in succeeding 
years; 
 
              (3) hold the excess amounts unallocated in a suspense account and 
apply the balance of the suspense account against succeeding year Matching, 
ESOP, Qualified Nonelective or Employer Contributions; 
 
              (4) reallocate the excess amounts to other Participants. 
 
          (b) Any suspense account established under this section shall not be 
credited with income or loss unless otherwise directed by the Administrator. If 
a suspense account under this section is to be applied in a subsequent 
Limitation Year, then the amounts in the suspense account shall be applied 
before any Annual Additions (other than forfeitures) are made for such 
Limitation Year. 
 
     10.4 Definitions. 
 
          (a) The following terms shall have the meanings specified: 
 
              (1) Annual Addition. The sum for any Limitation Year of additions 
(not including Rollover Contributions) to a Participant's Account as a result 
of: 
 
                  (A) Employer contributions (including Matching Contributions, 
ESOP Contributions, Employer Contributions, Qualified Nonelective Contributions 
and Elective Deferrals); 
 
                  (B) Employee contributions; 
 
                  (C) forfeitures; and 
 
                  (D) amounts described in Code sections 415(l)(1) and 419A(d) 
(2). 
 
              (2) Defined Contribution Plan. A plan qualified under section 
401(a) of the Code that provides an individual account for each Participant and 
benefits based solely on the amount contributed to the Participant's Account, 
plus any income, expenses, gains and losses, and forfeitures of other 
Participants which may be allocated to such Participant's account. 
 
              (3) Limitation Year. The Plan Year, until the Employer adopts a 
          different Limitation Year. 
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                                   ARTICLE XI 
 
                                 Top-Heavy Rules 
 
     11.1 General. This ARTICLE shall only be applicable if the Plan becomes a 
Top-Heavy Plan under section 416 of the Code. If the Plan does not become a 
Top-Heavy Plan, then none of the provisions of this ARTICLE shall be operative. 
The provisions of this ARTICLE shall be interpreted and applied in a manner 
consistent with the requirements of section 416 of the Code and the regulations 
thereunder. 
 
     11.2 Vesting. 
 
          (a) If the Plan becomes a Top-Heavy Plan, then amounts in a 
Participant's Account attributable to Matching and ESOP Contributions shall be 
vested in accordance with this section, in lieu of ARTICLE VI, to the extent 
this section produces a greater degree of vesting. This section shall only apply 
to Participants who have at least an Hour of Service after the Plan becomes a 
Top-Heavy Plan. 
 
          (b) If applicable, amounts in a Participant's Account attributable to 
Matching and ESOP Contributions shall vest as follows: 
 
                              Years of 
                           Top Heavy Service         Vested Percentage 
                           -----------------         ----------------- 
                           Fewer than 3                      0% 
                           3 or more                       100% 
 
          (c) If the Plan ceases to be a Top-Heavy Plan then subsection (b) 
shall no longer be applicable; provided, however, that in no event shall the 
vested percentage of any Participant be reduced by reason of the Plan ceasing to 
be a Top-Heavy Plan. Subsection (b) shall nevertheless continue to apply for any 
Participant who was previously covered by it and who has at least three (3) 
Years of Top-Heavy Service. 
 
     11.3 Minimum Contribution. 
 
          (a) For each Plan Year that the Plan is a Top-Heavy Plan, the Adopting 
Employers shall make a contribution to be allocated directly to the Account of 
each Non-Key Employee. 
 
          (b) The amount of the contribution (and forfeitures) required to be 
contributed and allocated for a Plan Year by this section is three percent (3%) 
of the Top-Heavy Compensation for that Plan Year of each Non-Key Employee who is 
both a Participant and an Employee on the last day of the Plan Year for which 
the contribution is made, with adjustments 
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as provided herein. If the contributions (other than Rollover Contributions) 
allocated to the Accounts of each Key Employee for a Plan Year are less than 
three percent (3%) of his or her Top-Heavy Compensation, then the contribution 
required by the preceding sentence shall be reduced for that Plan Year to the 
same percentage of Top-Heavy Compensation that was allocated to the Account of 
the Key Employee whose Account received the greatest allocation of contributions 
(other than Rollover Contributions) for that Plan Year, when computed as a 
percentage of Top-Heavy Compensation. 
 
          (c) The contribution required by this section shall be reduced for a 
Plan Year to the extent of any contributions made and allocated under this Plan 
(as permitted under section 416 of the Code and the regulations thereunder). In 
addition, to the extent a Participant participates in any other plans of the 
Employer for a Plan Year, the contribution required by this section shall be 
reduced by any contributions allocated or benefits accrued under any such plans. 
Elective Deferrals shall be treated as if they were contributions for purposes 
of determining any minimum contributions required under subsection (b). For Plan 
Years beginning after December 31, 2001, the contribution required by this 
section shall be reduced to the extent of any matching contributions under this 
Plan or any other plan of the Employer. 
 
     11.4 Definitions. 
 
          (a) The following terms shall have the meanings specified herein: 
 
              (1) Aggregated Plans. 
 
                  (A) The Plan, any plan that is part of a "required 
aggregation group" and any plan that is part of a "permissive aggregation group" 
that the Adopting Employers treat as an Aggregated Plan. 
 
                  (B) The "required aggregation group" consists of each plan 
of the Adopting Employers in which a Key Employee participates (in the Plan Year 
containing the Determination Date or any of the four (4) preceding Plan Years) 
and each other plan of the Adopting Employers which enables any plan of the 
Adopting Employers in which a Key Employee participates to meet the requirements 
of section 401(a)(4) or section 410(b) of the Code. Also included in the 
required aggregation group shall be any terminated plan that covered a Key 
Employee and was maintained within the five (5) year period ending on the 
Determination Date. 
 
                  (C) The "permissive aggregation group" consists of any plan 
not included in the "required aggregation group" if the Aggregated Plan 
described in subparagraph (A) above would continue to meet the requirements of 
section 401(a)(4) and 410 of the Code with such additional plan being taken into 
account. 
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                         (2) Determination Date. The last day of the preceding 
Plan Year, or, in the case of the first plan year of any plan, the last day of 
such plan year. The computations made on the Determination Date shall utilize 
information from the immediately preceding Valuation Date. 
 
                         (3) Key Employee. 
 
                             (A) For Plan Years beginning after December 31, 
2001,an Employee or former Employee (including any deceased Employee) who at any 
timeduring the Plan Year that includes the Determination Date was an officer of 
one of the Adopting Employers having annual Top-Heavy Compensation for the Plan 
Year greater than one hundred thirty thousand dollars ($130,000) (as adjusted 
under section 416(i)(l) of the Code for Plan Years beginning after December 31, 
2002), a five percent (5%) owner of one of the Adopting Employers, or a one 
percent (1%) owner of one of the Adopting Employers having annual Top-Heavy 
Compensation of more than one hundred fifty thousand dollars ($150,000). The 
determination of who is a Key Employee will be made in accordance with section 
416(i)(l) of the Code and the applicable regulations and other guidance of 
general applicability issued thereunder. 
 
                             (B) For Plan Years beginning before January 1, 
2002, an Employee (or former Employee) who, at any time during the Plan Year 
containing the Determination Date or any of the four (4) preceding Plan Years, 
is: 
 
                                 (i) An officer of one of the Adopting Employers 
with annual Top-Heavy Compensation for the Plan Year greater than fifty percent 
(50%) of the amount in effect under section 415(b)(1)(A) of the Code for the 
calendar year in which that Plan Year ends; 
 
                                 (ii) one of the ten (10) Employees owning (or 
considered as owning under section 318 of the Code) the largest interest in one 
of the Adopting Employers, who has more than one-half of one percent (.5%) 
interest in such Adopting Employer, and who has annual Top-Heavy Compensation 
for the Plan Year at least equal to the maximum dollar limitation under section 
415(c)(1)(A) of the Code for the calendar year in which that Plan Year ends; 
 
                                 (iii) a five percent (5%) or greater 
shareholder in one of the Adopting Employers; or 
 
                                 (iv) a one percent (1%)shareholder in one of 
the Adopting Employers with annual Top-Heavy Compensation from the Adopting 
Employer of more than one hundred fifty thousand dollars ($150,000). 
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                           (C) For purposes of paragraphs (3)(B)(iii) and(3)(B) 
(iv), the rules of section 414(b), (c) and (m) of the Code shall not apply. 
Beneficiaries of an Employee shall acquire the character of such Employee and 
inherited benefits will retain the character of the benefits of the Employee who 
performed services. 
                       (4) Non-Key Employee. Any Employee who is not a Key 
 Employee. 
 
                       (5) Super Top-Heavy Plan. A Top-Heavy Plan in which the 
sum of the present value of the cumulative accrued benefits and accounts for Key 
Employees exceeds ninety percent (90%) of the comparable sum determined for all 
Employees. The foregoing determination shall be made in the same manner as the 
determination of a Top-Heavy Plan under this section. 
 
                       (6) Top-Heavy Compensation.  The term Top-Heavy 
Compensation shall have the same meaning as the term Compensation has under 
section 2.13. 
 
                       (7) Top-Heavy Plan.  The Plan is a Top-Heavy Plan for a 
Plan Year if, as of the Determination Date for that Plan Year, the sum of (i) 
the present value of the cumulative accrued benefits for Key Employees under all 
Defined Benefit Plans that are Aggregated Plans and (ii) the aggregate of the 
accounts of Key Employees under all Defined Contribution Plans that are 
Aggregated Plans exceeds sixty percent (60%) of the comparable sum determined 
for all Employees. For purposes of determining whether the Plan is top-heavy, a 
Participant's accrued benefit in a defined benefit plan will be determined under 
a uniform accrual method which applies in all defined benefit plans maintained 
by the Employer or, where there is no such method, as if such benefit accrued 
not more rapidly than the slowest rate of accrual permitted under the fractional 
rule of section 411(b)(1)(C) of the Code. 
 
                       (8) Years of Top-Heavy Service.  The Period of Service 
with the Adopting Employers that might be counted under section 411(a) of the 
Code, disregarding all service that may be disregarded under section 411(a)(4) 
of the Code. 
 
                   (b) The definitions in this section and the provisions of 
this ARTICLE shall be interpreted in a manner consistent with section 416 of the 
Code. 
            11.5  Special Rules. 
                  (a) (1) For Plan Years beginning before January 1, 2002, for 
purposes of determining the present value of the cumulative accrued benefit for 
any Participant or the amount of the Account of any Participant, such present 
value or amount shall be increased by the aggregate distributions made with 
respect to such Participant under the Plan during the Plan Year that includes 
the Determination Date and the four (4) preceding Plan Years (if such amounts 
would otherwise have been omitted). 
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                    (2) For Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2001, for 
purposes of determining the present value of the cumulative accrued benefit for 
any Participant or the amount of the Account of any Participant, such present 
value or amount shall be increased by the aggregate distributions made with 
respect to such Participant under the Plan during the one (1) year period ending 
on the Determination Date. The preceding sentence shall also apply to 
distributions under a terminated plan which, had it not been terminated, would 
have been aggregated with the Plan under section 416(g)(2)(A)(i) of the Code. In 
the case of a distribution made for a reason other than separation from service, 
death, or disability, this subsection (2) shall be applied by substituting "five 
(5) year period" for "one (1) year period." 
 
               (b)  (1) In the case of unrelated rollovers and transfers, (i) 
the plan making the distribution or transfer is to count the distribution as a 
distribution under section 416(g)(3) of the Code, and (ii) the plan accepting 
the rollover or transfer is not to consider the rollover or transfer as part of 
the accrued benefit if such rollover or transfer was accepted after December 31, 
1983, but is to consider it as part of the accrued benefit if such rollover or 
transfer was accepted before January 1, 1984. For this purpose, rollovers and 
transfers are to be considered unrelated if they are both initiated by the 
Employee and made from a plan maintained by one employer to a plan maintained by 
another employer. 
 
                    (2) In the case of related rollovers and transfers, the plan 
making the distribution or transfer is not to count the distribution or transfer 
under section 416(g)(3) of the Code, and the plan accepting the rollover or 
transfer counts the rollover or transfer in the present value of the accrued 
benefits. For this purpose, rollovers and transfers are to be considered related 
if they are not unrelated under subsection (b)(1). 
 
               (c) If any individual is a Non-Key Employee with respect to any 
plan for any Plan Year, but such individual was a Key Employee with respect to 
such plan for any prior Plan Year, any accrued benefit for such Employee (and 
the account of such Employee) shall not be taken into account. 
 
               (d) Beneficiaries of Key Employees and former Key Employees are 
considered to be Key Employees and Beneficiaries of Non-Key Employees and former 
Non-Key Employees are considered to be Non-Key Employees. 
 
               (e) (1) For Plan Years beginning before January 1, 2002, the 
accrued benefit of an Employee who has not performed any service for the 
Adopting Employer maintaining the Plan at any time during the five (5) year 
period ending on the Determination Date is excluded from the calculation to 
determine top-heaviness. However, if an Employee 
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performs no services, such Employee's total accrued benefit is included in the 
calculation for top-heaviness. 
 
                       (2) For Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2001, 
the accrued benefit of an Employee who has not performed any service for the 
Adopting Employer maintaining the Plan at any time during the one (1) year 
period ending on the Determination Date is excluded from the calculation to 
determine top-heaviness. 
 
               11.6  Adjustment of Limitations. 
 
                    (a) If this section is applicable, then the contribution and 
benefit limitations in section 10.5 shall be reduced. Such reduction shall be 
made by modifying section 10.5(a)(2)(A) of the definition of Defined Benefit 
Fraction to instead be "(i) the product of 1.0 multiplied by ninety thousand 
dollars ($90,000), or" and by modifying section 10.5(a)(4)(A) of the definition 
of Defined Contribution Fraction to instead be "(i) the product of 1.0 
multiplied by thirty thousand dollars ($30,000), or". 
 
                    (b)  This section shall be applicable for any Plan Year in 
 which either: 
                         (1)   the Plan is a Super Top-Heavy Plan, or 
                         (2)   the Plan both is a Top-Heavy Plan (but not a 
Super Top-Heavy Plan) and provides contributions(other than Rollover 
Contributions and forfeitures to the Account of any Non-Key Employee in an 
amount less than four percent (4%) of such Participant's Top-Heavy Compensation, 
as determined in accordance with section 11.3(b). 
 



 
                                      -69- 
 
                                   ARTICLE XII 
 
                                 The Trust Fund 
 
         12.1 Trust. During the period in which this Plan remains in existence, 
the Company or any successor thereto shall maintain in effect a Trust with a 
corporation and/or an individual(s) as Trustee, to hold, invest, and distribute 
the Trust Fund in accordance with the terms of such Trust. 
 
         12.2 Investment of Accounts. The Trustee shall invest and reinvest the 
Participant's accounts in the investment options available under the Plan in 
accordance with ARTICLE V, as directed by the Administrator or its delegate. The 
Administrator shall issue such directions in accordance with the investment 
options selected by the Participants which shall remain in force until altered 
in accordance with Article V. 
 
         12.3 Expenses. Expenses of the Plan and Trust shall be paid from the 
Trust. 
 
          12.4 Acquisition Loans. The Administrator may direct the Trustee to 
incur Acquisition Loans from time to time to finance the acquisition of Common 
Stock or to repay a prior Acquisition Loan. An Acquisition Loan shall be for a 
specific term, shall bear a reasonable rate of interest, and shall not be 
payable on demand except in the event of default. Acquisition loans may be 
secured by the pledge of the Financed Shares so acquired (or acquired with the 
proceeds of a prior Acquisition Loan which is being refinanced). No other Trust 
assets may be pledged as collateral for an Acquisition Loan, and no lender shall 
have recourse against Trust assets other than any Financed Shares remaining 
subject to pledge. If the lender is a party in interest (as defined in ERISA), 
the Acquisition Loan must provide for a transfer of Trust assets on default only 
upon and to the extent of the failure of the Trust to meet the payment schedule 
of the Acquisition Loan. Any pledge of Financed Shares must provide for the 
release of the shares so pledged as payments on the Acquisition Loan are made by 
the Trustee, and such Financed Shares are allocated to Participants' ESOP 
Contribution Accounts under Article IV. Payments of principal and/or interest on 
an Acquisition Loan shall be made by the Trustee (as directed by the 
Administrator) only from Employer contributions paid in cash to enable the Trust 
to repay such Acquisition Loan, from earnings attributable to such Employer 
contributions, and from any cash dividends received by the Trust on such 
Financed Shares. 
 
         12.5 Sale of Common Stock. Subject to the approval of the Senior Vice 
President of Human Resources of the Company or other officer authorized by the 
Board of Directors to give such approval, the Administrator may direct the 
Trustee to sell shares of Common Stock to any person, including the Company and 
any Affiliates, provided such sale must be made at a price 
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not less favorable to the Plan than fair market value. In the event that the 
Trustee is unable to make payments of principal and/or interest on an 
Acquisition Loan when due, the Administrator may direct the Trustee to sell any 
Financed Shares that have not yet been allocated to Participants' ESOP 
Contribution Accounts or to obtain an Acquisition Loan in an amount sufficient 
to make such payments. 
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                                  ARTICLE XIII 
 
                           Administration of The Plan 
 
         13.1 General Administration. The general administration of the Plan 
shall be the responsibility of the Company (or any successor thereto) which 
shall be the Administrator and named Fiduciary for purposes of ERISA. The 
Company shall have the authority, in its sole discretion, to construe the terms 
of the Plan and to make determinations as to eligibility for benefits and as to 
other issues within the "Responsibilities of the Administrator" described in 
this ARTICLE. All such determinations of the Company shall be conclusive and 
binding on all persons. 
 
         13.2 Responsibilities of the Administrator. Except as otherwise 
provided in ERISA, the Administrator (and any other named Fiduciaries) may 
allocate any duties and responsibilities under the Plan and Trust among 
themselves in any mutually agreed upon manner. Such allocation shall be in a 
written document signed by the Administrator (and any other named Fiduciaries) 
and shall specifically set forth this allocation of duties and responsibilities, 
which may include the following: 
 
              (a) Determination of all questions which may arise under the 
Plan with respect to questions of fact and law, including without limitation 
eligibility for participation, administration of Accounts, membership, vesting, 
loans, withdrawals, accounting, status of Accounts, stock ownership and voting 
rights, and any other issue requiring interpretation or application of the Plan. 
 
              (b) Establishment of procedures required by the Plan, such as 
notification to Employees as to joining the Plan, selecting and changing 
investment options, suspending deferrals, exercising voting rights in stock, 
withdrawing and borrowing Account balances, designation of Beneficiaries, 
election of method of distribution, and any other matters requiring a uniform 
procedure. 
 
              (c) Submission of necessary amendments to supplement omissions 
from the Plan or reconcile any inconsistency therein. 
 
              (d) Filing appropriate reports with the government as required by 
law. 
 
              (e) Appointment of a Trustee or Trustees, Recordkeepers, and 
investment managers. 
 
              (f) Review at appropriate intervals of the performance of the 
Trustee and such investment managers as may have been designated. 
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              (g) Appointment of such additional Fiduciaries as deemed 
necessary for the effective administration of the Plan, such appointments to be 
by written instrument. 
 
         13.3 Liability for Acts of Other Fiduciaries. Each Fiduciary shall be 
responsible only for the duties allocated or delegated to said Fiduciary, and 
other Fiduciaries shall not be liable for any breach of fiduciary responsibility 
with respect to any act or omission of any other Fiduciary unless: 
 
              (a) The Fiduciary knowingly participates in or knowingly attempts 
to conceal the act or omission of such other Fiduciary and knows that such act 
or omission constitutes a breach of fiduciary responsibility by the other 
Fiduciary; 
 
              (b) The Fiduciary has knowledge of a breach of fiduciary 
responsibility by the other Fiduciary and has not made reasonable efforts under 
the circumstances to remedy the breach; or 
 
              (c) The Fiduciary's own breach of his or her specific fiduciary 
responsibilities has enabled another Fiduciary to commit a breach. No Fiduciary 
shall be liable for any acts or omissions which occur prior to his or her 
assumption of Fiduciary status or after his or her termination from such status. 
 
         13.4 Employment by Fiduciaries. Any Fiduciary hereunder may employ, 
with the written approval of the Administrator, one or more persons to render 
service with regard to any responsibility which has been assigned to such 
Fiduciary under the terms of the Plan including legal, tax, or investment 
counsel and may delegate to one or more persons any administrative duties 
(clerical or otherwise) hereunder. 
 
         13.5 Recordkeeping. The Administrator shall keep or cause to be kept 
any necessary data required for determining the Account status of each 
Participant. In compiling such information, the Administrator may rely upon its 
employment records, including representations made by the Participant in the 
employment application and subsequent documents submitted by the Participant to 
the Employer. The Trustee shall be entitled to rely upon such information when 
furnished by the Administrator or its delegate. Each Employee shall be required 
to furnish the Administrator upon request and in such form as prescribed by the 
Administrator, such personal information, affidavits and authorizations to 
obtain information as the Administrator may deem appropriate for the proper 
administration of the Plan, including but not limited to proof of the Employee's 
date of birth and the date of birth of any person designated by a Participant as 
a Beneficiary. 
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          13.6    Claims Review Procedure. 
 
                  (a) Except as otherwise provided in this section 13.6, the 
Administrator shall make all determinations as to the right of any person to 
Accounts under the Plan. Any such determination shall be made pursuant to the 
following procedures, which shall be conducted in a manner designed to comply 
with section 503 of ERISA: 
 
                      (1) Step 1. Claims with respect to an Account should be 
filed by a claimant as soon as practicable after the claimant knows or should 
know that a dispute has arisen with respect to an Account, but at least thirty 
(30) days prior to the claimant's actual retirement date or, if applicable, 
within sixty (60) days after the death, Disability or Severance from Service of 
the Participant whose Account is at issue, by mailing a copy of the claim to the 
Raytheon Benefit Center, P.O. Box 4813, Chesapeake, Virginia 23327. 
 
                      (2) Step 2. In the event that a claim with respect to 
an Account is wholly or partially denied by the Administrator, the Administrator 
shall, within ninety (90) days following receipt of the claim, so advise the 
claimant in writing setting forth: the specific reason or reasons for the 
denial; specific reference to pertinent Plan provisions on which the denial is 
based; a description of any additional material or information necessary for the 
claimant to perfect the claim; an explanation as to why such material or 
information is necessary; and an explanation of the Plan's claim review 
procedure. 
 
                      (3) Step 3. Within sixty (60) days following receipt of 
the denial of a claim with respect to an Account, a claimant desiring to have 
the denial appealed shall file a request for review by an officer of the Company 
or a benefit appeals committee, as designated by the Administrator, by mailing a 
copy thereof to the address shown in subsection (a)(1); provided, however, that 
such officer or any member of such benefit appeals committee, as applicable, may 
not be the person who made the initial adverse benefits determination nor a 
subordinate of such person. 
 
                      (4) Step 4. Within thirty (30) days following receipt 
of a request for review, the designated officer or benefit appeals committee 
shall provide the claimant a further opportunity to present his or her position. 
At the designated officer or benefit appeals committee's discretion, such 
presentation may be through an oral or written presentation. Prior to such 
presentation, the claimant shall be permitted the opportunity to review 
pertinent documents and to submit issues and comments in writing. Within a 
reasonable time following presentation of the claimant's position, which usually 
should not exceed thirty (30) days, the designated officer or benefit appeals 
committee shall inform the claimant in writing of the 
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decision on review setting forth the reasons for such decision and citing 
pertinent provisions in the Plan. 
 
                  (b) Except as otherwise provided in subsection (a), the 
Administrator is the Fiduciary to whom the Plan grants full discretion, with the 
advice of counsel, to interpret the Plan; to determine whether a claimant is 
eligible for benefits; to decide the amount, form and timing of benefits; and to 
resolve any other matter under the Plan which is raised by a claimant or 
identified by the Administrator. All questions arising from or in connection 
with the provisions of the Plan and its administration, not herein provided to 
be determined by the Board of Directors, shall be determined by the 
Administrator, and any determination so made shall be conclusive and binding 
upon all persons affected thereby. 
 
             13.7 Indemnification of Directors and Employees. The Adopting 
Employers shall indemnify any Fiduciary who is a director, officer or Employee 
of the Employer, his or her heirs and legal representatives, against all 
liability and reasonable expense, including counsel fees, amounts paid in 
settlement and amounts of judgments, fines or penalties, incurred or imposed 
upon him in connection with any claim, action, suit or proceeding, whether 
civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, by reason of acts or omissions 
in his or her capacity as a Fiduciary hereunder, provided that such act or 
omission is not the result of gross negligence or willful misconduct. The 
Adopting Employers may indemnify other Fiduciaries, their heirs and legal 
representatives, under the circumstances, and subject to the limitations set 
forth in the preceding sentence, if such indemnification is determined by the 
Board of Directors to be in the best interests of the Adopting Employers. 
 
             13.8 Immunity from Liability. Except to the extent that section 
410(a) of ERISA prohibits the granting of immunity to Fiduciaries from liability 
for any responsibility, obligation, or duty imposed under Title I, Subtitle B, 
Part 4, of said Act, an officer, Employee, member of the Board of Directors of 
the Employer or other person assigned responsibility under this Plan shall be 
immune from any liability for any action or failure to act except such action or 
failure to act which results from said officer's, Employee's, Participant's or 
other person's own gross negligence or willful misconduct. 
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                                   ARTICLE XIV 
 
                        Amendment or Termination of Plan 
 
         14.1 Right to Amend or Terminate Plan. The Company reserves the right 
at any time or times, by action of the Board of Directors, to modify, amend or 
terminate the Plan in whole or in part, in which event a certified copy of the 
resolution of the Board of Directors, authorizing such modification, amendment 
or termination shall be delivered to the Trustee and to the other Adopting 
Employers whose Employees are covered by this Plan, provided, however, that no 
amendment to the Plan shall be made which shall: 
 
              (a)  reduce any vested right or interest to which any Participant 
or Beneficiary is then entitled under this Plan or otherwise reduce the vested 
rights of a Participant in violation of section 411(d)(6) of the Code; 
 
              (b)  vest in the Adopting Employers any interest or control over 
any assets of the Trust; 
 
              (c)  cause any assets of the Trust to be used for, or diverted 
to, purposes other than for the exclusive benefit of Participants and their 
Beneficiaries; or 
 
              (d)  change any of the rights, duties or powers of the Trustee 
without its written consent. 
 
              (e)  (1) Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this section 
or any other provisions of this Plan, any modification or amendment of the Plan 
may be made retroactively if necessary or appropriate to conform the Plan with, 
or to satisfy the conditions of, ERISA, the Code, or any other law, governmental 
regulation or ruling. 
 
                   (2)  In the alternative, subject to the conditions 
prescribed in subsections (a) through (e), the Plan may be amended by the Senior 
Vice President of Human Resources of the Company or his or her delegate, or 
other officer to whom authority to amend the Plan is delegated by the Board of 
Directors, provided, however, that any such amendment does not, in the view of 
such officer, materially increase costs of the Plan to the Company or any 
Adopting Employer. 
 
         14.2 Amendment to Vesting Schedule. Any amendment that modifies the 
vesting provisions of ARTICLE VI shall either: 
 
              (a)  provide for a rate of vesting that is at least as rapid for 
any Participant as the vesting schedule previously in effect; or 
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              (b)  provide that any adversely affected Participant with a 
Period of Service of at least three (3) years may elect, in writing, to remain 
under the vesting schedule in effect prior to the amendment. Such election must 
be made within sixty (60) days after the later of the: 
 
                   (1)  adoption of the amendment; 
 
                   (2)  effective date of the amendment; or 
 
                   (3)  issuance by the Administrator of written notice of the 
amendment. 
 
         14.3 Maintenance of Plan. The Adopting Employers have established the 
Plan with the bona fide intention and expectation that they will be able to make 
contributions indefinitely, but the Adopting Employers are not and shall not be 
under any obligation or liability whatsoever to continue contributions or to 
maintain the Plan for any given length of time. 
 
         14.4 Termination of Plan and Trust. 
 
              (a)  The Plan and Trust hereby created shall terminate upon the 
occurrence of any of the following events: 
 
                   (1) Delivery to the Trustee of a notice of termination 
executed by the Company specifying the date as of which the Plan and Trust shall 
terminate; or 
 
                   (2) Adjudication of the Company as bankrupt or general 
assignment by the Company to or for the benefit of creditors or dissolution of 
the Company. 
 
              (b) Upon termination of this Plan, or permanent discontinuance of 
contributions hereunder, with or without written notification, the rights of 
each Participant to the amounts credited to that Participant's Account at such 
time shall be fully vested and nonforfeitable. In the event a partial 
termination of the Plan is deemed to have occurred, each Participant affected 
shall be fully vested in and shall have a nonforfeitable right to the amounts 
credited to that Participant's Account with respect to which the partial 
termination occurred. 
 
         14.5 Distribution on Termination. 
 
              (a) (1) If the Plan is terminated, or contributions permanently 
discontinued, an Adopting Employer, at its discretion, may (at that time or at 
any later time) direct the Trustee to distribute the amounts in a Participant's 
Account in accordance with the distribution provisions of the Plan. Such 
distribution shall, notwithstanding any prior provisions of the Plan, be made in 
a single lump-sum without the Participant's consent as to the timing of such 
distribution. If, however, an Adopting Employer (or an Affiliate) maintains 
another defined contribution plan (other than an employee stock ownership plan), 
then the preceding sentence shall not apply and the Adopting Employer, at its 
discretion, may direct such distributions to be made as a direct transfer to 
such other plan without the Participant's consent, if the Participant does not 
consent to an immediate distribution. 
 



 
 
                                      -77- 
 
                         (2) If an Adopting Employer does not direct 
distribution under paragraph (1), each Participant's Account shall be maintained 
until distributed in accordance with the provisions of the Plan (determined 
without regard to this section) as though the Plan had not been terminated or 
contributions discontinued. 
 
                  (b) If the Administrator determines that it is 
administratively impracticable to make distributions under this section in cash 
or that it would be in the Participant's best interest to make some or all of 
the distributions with in-kind property, it shall offer all Participants and 
Beneficiaries entitled to a distribution under this section a reasonable 
opportunity to elect to receive a distribution of the in-kind property being 
distributed by the Trust. Those Participants and Beneficiaries so electing shall 
receive a proportionate share of such in-kind property in the form (outright, in 
trust or in partnership) that the Administrator determines will provide the most 
feasible method of distribution. 
 
                  (c) (1) Amounts attributable to elective contributions shall 
only be distributable by reason of this section if one of the following is 
applicable: 
 
                          (A) the Plan is terminated without the establishment 
or maintenance of another defined contribution plan (other than an employee 
stock ownership plan); 
 
                          (B) an Adopting Employer has a sale or other 
disposition to an unrelated corporation of substantially all of the assets used 
by the Adopting Employer in a trade or business of the Adopting Employer with 
respect to an Employee who continues employment with the corporation acquiring 
such assets; or 
 
                          (C) an Adopting Employer has a sale or other 
disposition to an unrelated entity of the Adopting Employer's interest in a 
subsidiary with respect to an Employee who continues employment with such 
subsidiary. 
 
                      (2) For purposes of this subsection, the term "elective 
contributions" means employer contributions made to the Plan that were subject 
to a cash or deferred election under a cash or deferred arrangement. 
 
                      (3) Elective contributions are distributable under 
subsections (c)(1)(B) and (C) above only if the Adopting Employers continue to 
maintain the Plan after the disposition. 
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                                   ARTICLE XV 
 
                              Additional Provisions 
 
         15.1 Effect of Merger, Consolidation or Transfer. In the event of any 
merger or consolidation with or transfer of assets or liabilities to any other 
plan or to this Plan, each Participant of the Plan shall be entitled to a 
benefit immediately after the merger, consolidation or transfer, which is equal 
to or greater than the benefit he or she would have been entitled to receive 
immediately before the merger, consolidation or transfer (if the Plan had been 
terminated). 
 
         15.2 No Assignment. 
 
              (a) Except as provided herein, the right of any Participant or 
Beneficiary to any benefit or to any payment hereunder shall not be subject to 
alienation, assignment, garnishment, attachment, execution or levy of any kind. 
 
              (b) Subsection (a) shall not apply to any payment or transfer 
permitted by the Internal Revenue Service pursuant to regulations issued under 
section 401(a)(13) of the Code. 
 
              (c) Subsection (a) shall not apply to any payment or transfer 
pursuant to a Qualified Domestic Relations Order. 
 
              (d) Subsection (a) shall not apply to any payment or transfer to 
the Trust in accordance with section 401(a)(13)(C) of the Code to satisfy the 
Participant's liabilities to the Plan or Trust in any one or more of the 
following circumstances: 
 
                  (1) the Participant is convicted of a crime involving the 
Plan; 
 
                  (2) a civil judgment (or consent order or decree) in an 
action is brought against the Participant in connection with an ERISA fiduciary 
violation; or 
 
                  (3) the Participant enters into a settlement agreement with 
the Department of Labor or the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation over an 
ERISA fiduciary violation. 
 
         15.3 Limitation of Rights of Employees. This Plan is strictly a 
voluntary undertaking on the part of the Adopting Employers and shall not be 
deemed to constitute a contract between any of the Adopting Employers and any 
Employee, or to be a consideration for, or an inducement to, or a condition of 
the employment of any Employee. Nothing contained in the Plan shall be deemed to 
give any Employee the right to be retained in the service of any of the Adopting 
Employers or shall interfere with the right of any of the Adopting Employers to 
discharge or otherwise terminate the employment of any Employee of an Adopting 
Employer at 
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any time. No Employee shall be entitled to any right or claim hereunder except 
to the extent such right is specifically fixed under the terms of the Plan. 
 
         15.4 Construction. The provisions of this Plan shall be interpreted and 
construed in accordance with the requirements of the Code and ERISA. Any 
amendment or restatement of the Plan or Trust that would otherwise violate the 
requirements of section 411(d)(6) of the Code or otherwise cause the Plan or 
Trust to cease to be qualified under section 401(a) of the Code shall be deemed 
to be invalid. Capitalized terms shall have meanings as defined herein. Singular 
nouns shall be read as plural, masculine pronouns shall be read as feminine and 
vice versa, as appropriate. References to "section" or "ARTICLE" shall be read 
as references to appropriate provisions of this Plan, unless otherwise 
indicated. 
 
         15.5 Company Determinations. Any determinations, actions or decisions 
of the Company (including but not limited to, Plan amendments and Plan 
termination) shall be made by its Board of Directors in accordance with its 
established procedures or by such other individuals, groups or organizations 
that have been properly delegated by the Board of Directors to make such 
determination or decision. 
 
         15.6 Continued Qualification. This Plan is amended and restated with 
the intent that it shall continue to qualify under sections 401(a), 401(k) and 
4975(e)(7) of the Code as those sections exist at the time the Plan is amended 
and restated. If the Internal Revenue Service determines that the Plan does not 
meet those requirements as amended and restated, the Plan shall be amended 
retroactively as necessary to correct any such inadequacy. Section 7.2 shall not 
be effective until the date the Internal Revenue Service issues a favorable 
determination letter with respect to the Plan as amended and restated herein 
(including section 7.2). Until section 7.2 becomes effective in accordance with 
the immediately preceding sentence of this section 15.6, a Participant may 
withdraw all or a portion of his or her Employee After-Tax Contribution Account, 
subject to the condition that if a Participant has a Period of Participation of 
less than five (5) years such Participant may not make any Employee After-Tax 
Contributions under the Plan for at least six (6) months after receipt of the 
in-service withdrawal. 
 
         15.7 Governing Law. This Plan shall be governed by, construed and 
administered in accordance with ERISA and any other applicable federal law; 
provided, however, that to the extent not preempted by federal law, this Plan 
shall be governed by, construed and administered under the laws of the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts, other than its laws respecting choice of law. 
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                                    Exhibit B 
 
                 Special Withdrawal and Distribution Provisions 
 
         This Exhibit B describes special withdrawal and distribution provisions 
that apply with respect to certain assets transferred directly from other 
retirement plans to the Plan in accordance with section 4.8 of the Plan. Except 
as otherwise provided herein, the special withdrawal and distribution provisions 
apply only with respect to the assets, together with earnings thereon, 
transferred from the other plans (hereinafter referred to as the "Transferred 
Account Balances"). 
 
I.       Provisions Effective Before April 1, 2002 
 
         This Section I of Exhibit B includes the special withdrawal and 
distribution provisions applicable on and after January 1, 1999 and before April 
1, 2002. Section II of Exhibit B includes the special withdrawal and 
distribution provisions applicable after March 31, 2002. This Section I of 
Exhibit B includes the special provisions applicable to the Transferred Account 
Balances from the following retirement plans: 
 
     A.       Hughes Section 401(k) Savings Plan 
 
     B.       Hughes STX Corporation 401(k) Retirement Plan 
 
     C.       The 401(k) Plan for Employees of MESC Electronic Systems, Inc. 
 
     C.       The 401(k) Plan for Bargaining Unit Employees of MESC Electronic 
              Systems, Inc. 
 
     D.       E-Systems, Inc. Employee Savings Plan 
 
     E.       Serv-Air, Inc. Savings and Retirement Plan 
 
     F.       Savings and Investment Plan of Standard Missile Company, L.L.C. 
 
  A.   This paragraph A describes special withdrawal and distribution provisions 
  applicable to Participants with Transferred Account Balances from the Hughes 
  Section 401(k) Savings Plan: 
 
 (1)   Directed Transfer to Account Plan: Notwithstanding section 8.3 of the 
       Plan, a Participant who meets all of the requirements listed below may 
       elect in writing on a form provided by the Administrator for this 
       purpose to have his Transferred Account Balance transferred to the 
       Hughes Personal Retirement Account Plan ("Account Plan") and applied to 
       the purchase of an immediate annuity, in accordance with the applicable 
       annuity factors and other provisions of the Account Plan. The 
       requirements that must be met are: 
 
       (a)     the Participant has had a Severance from Service; 
 
       (b)     the Participant, as of the Severance from Service Date, was a 
               participant in the Account Plan; 
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          (c)  the Participant is entitled to an immediate distribution of his 
               or her accrued benefits under the Account Plan in the form of an 
               annuity or a lump sum; 
 
          (d)  the Participant has irrevocably elected to receive his accrued 
               benefit under the Account Plan in the form of an immediate 
               annuity; and 
 
          (e)  the Participant was not, immediately prior to such Severance from 
               Service - (i) a union employee whose terms of employment were the 
               subject of a collective bargaining agreement or the subject of 
               negotiation by a labor union or other labor organization, or (ii) 
               an employee of CAE Vanguard Inc. or CAE ScreenPlates, Inc. or any 
               subsidiary thereof. 
 
     (2)  Special Distribution Rules for March 31, 1990 Account Balances: This 
          subsection applies to Participants who had an account in the Hughes 
          Section 401(k) Savings Plan on March 31, 1990 (a "3/31/90 Member"). In 
          addition, the special distribution rules available to 3/31/90 Members 
          apply solely with respect to the value of such account on the March 
          31, 1990 valuation date under the plan (the "3/31/90 Balance"). 
 
          (a)  Additional Methods of Distribution: Notwithstanding section 8.3 
               of the Plan, a 3/31/90 Member shall have the following additional 
               forms of distribution elections available with respect to his 
               3/31/90 Balance: 
 
               (i)  withdrawal in a single lump sum distribution of the amount 
                    credited to the Participant's 3/31/90 Balance attributable 
                    to voluntary after-tax contributions with or without the 
                    deferral of the receipt in a single lump sum distribution of 
                    the Participant's 3/31/90 Balance attributable to pre-tax 
                    contributions and rollover contributions to a date no later 
                    than the April first (1st) following the calendar year 
                    during which the Participant attains age seventy and 
                    one-half (70-1/2); or 
 
               (ii) purchase of an annuity contract from a life insurance 
                    company under tables based on unisex mortality assumptions 
                    with all or any portion of the Participant's 3/31/90 Balance 
                    and taking a single lump sum distribution with respect to 
                    any portion of such 3/31/90 Balance not applied to the 
                    purchase of the annuity. 
 
          (b)  Special Informational Requirement: Information showing the 
               Participant the financial effects of the various distribution 
               options available with respect to the 3/31/90 Balance shall be 
               provided to the Participant at least ninety (90) days prior to 
               the date the Participant becomes eligible for a benefit under the 
               Plan. 
 
          (c)  Special Annuity Contract Requirements: The following rules shall 
               apply with respect to any 3/31/90 Member who elects the annuity 
               contract option: 
 
               (i)  The annuity contract shall provide for periodic annuity 
                    payments for the life of the 3/31/90 Member and the 
                    continuation of fifty percent (50%) of the amount of the 
                    periodic annuity payments the 3/31/90 Member was receiving 
                    (or was entitled to receive at his date of death) to the 
                    3/31/90 Member's spouse on the date the annuity payments to 
                    the 3/31/90 Member commenced (or, if earlier, on the date of 
                    the 3/31/90 Member's death). The 3/31/90 Member may revoke 
                    such election and elect any 
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                    other form of benefit; provided, however, that the 3/31/90 
                    Member may not re-elect the forms of distribution specified 
                    above for a reasonable period of time before the purchase of 
                    the annuity contract, as determined by the Administrator. 
                    Such annuity contract may not contain an "interest only 
                    option" form of distribution. The revocation of an election 
                    to have benefits paid in the form of an annuity must be made 
                    in the form and manner prescribed by the Administrator and 
                    after the Participant shall have been furnished with a 
                    written explanation of (A) the terms and conditions of the 
                    annuity benefit, (B) the Participant's right to revoke an 
                    election of an annuity benefit, (C) the general financial 
                    effect of such an election to revoke, (D) the requirement 
                    that the consent of the Participant's spouse, if any, is 
                    required to make a revocation and (E) the rights of the 
                    Participant's spouse, if any. A Participant's election to 
                    revoke the annuity benefit shall be effective only if it is 
                    accompanied by the written notarized consent of the 
                    Participant's spouse, if any, and shall specify the other 
                    form of benefit and identify the beneficiary, if any, and 
                    shall acknowledge the effect of the election. 
 
              (ii)  The annuity contract must provide that benefits will 
                    commence no later than the April first (1st) following the 
                    calendar year during which the Participant attains age 
                    seventy and one-half (70-1/2) and, if the spouse of the 
                    3/31/90 Member is not the Participant's Beneficiary, 
                    payments under any periodic payment option offered under the 
                    annuity contract to such 3/31/90 Member and his Beneficiary 
                    must be completed during a period not exceeding the life 
                    expectancy of the 3/31/90 Member, or the joint life 
                    expectancy of such Participant and his Beneficiary or, if 
                    the Beneficiary is not treated as a natural person, five (5) 
                    years. The forms of distribution offered under the annuity 
                    contract must otherwise satisfy the minimum distribution 
                    requirements under the Code. 
 
              (iii) An annuity contract that does not provide for immediate 
                    payment of benefits must provide for all other forms of 
                    distribution then available to the 3/31/90 Member under the 
                    Plan at all times prior to the commencement of benefit 
                    payments under such contract. 
 
              (iv)  The annuity contract option shall be available to any 
                    3/31/90 Member with respect to any portion of his 3/31/90 
                    Balance that he has elected to defer. 
 
              (v)   Any 3/31/90 Member who elects the annuity contract option 
                    shall have the annuity contract distributed to him in lieu 
                    of cash or other property for the portion of his 3/31/90 
                    Balance that was applied to the purchase of the annuity 
                    contract. 
 
(3)      In-Service Distributions of Matching Contributions After Age 70-1/2: 
         Notwithstanding section 7.3 of the Plan, with respect to Participants 
         who attain age seventy and one-half (70-1/2) prior to January 1, 1999, 
         such Participants may withdraw, after attaining age seventy and 
         one-half and subject to a minimum withdrawal amount of two hundred 
         fifty dollars ($250), all or a part of the Participants' Transferred 
         Account Balances attributable to Matching Contributions, regardless of 
         whether the Participants have completed a Period of Participation of 
         five (5) years. 
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B.   This paragraph B describes special withdrawal and distribution provisions 
applicable to Participants with Transferred Account Balances from the Hughes STX 
Corporation 401(k) Retirement Plan: 
 
(1)  Five (5)-Year Installment Distribution Option: Notwithstanding section 8.3 
     of the Plan, Participants can elect to receive their Transferred Account 
     Balances in accordance with one of the following distribution options: 
 
     (a)  Payment in a single sum; or 
 
     (b)  Payment in substantially equal annual installments over a period not 
          to exceed five (5) years. 
 
(2)  In-Service Distributions of Matching Contributions After Age 70-1/2: 
     Notwithstanding section 7.3 of the Plan, with respect to Participants who 
     attain age seventy and one-half (70-1/2) prior to January 1, 1999, such 
     Participants may withdraw, after attaining age seventy and one-half and 
     subject to a minimum withdrawal amount of two hundred fifty dollars ($250), 
     all or a part of the Participants' Transferred Account Balances 
     attributable to Matching Contributions, regardless of whether the 
     Participants have completed a Period of Participation of five (5) years. 
 
C.   This paragraph C describes special withdrawal and distribution provisions 
applicable to Participants with Transferred Account Balances from The 401(k) 
Plan for Employees of MESC Electronic Systems, Inc. or The 401(k) Plan for 
Bargaining Unit Employees of MESC Electronic Systems, Inc.: 
 
(1)  Special Distribution Provisions for Philips Participants: This paragraph 
     describes special withdrawal and recordkeeping requirements applicable to 
     Participants whose Transferred Account Balances include assets transferred 
     from the North American Philips Corporation Employee Savings Plan effective 
     as of October 23, 1993 (hereinafter referred to as "Philips Participants" 
     and "Philips Assets"). 
 
     (a)  Notwithstanding section 7.3 of the Plan to the contrary, with respect 
          to Matching Contributions attributable to Philips Assets, Philips 
          Participants may withdraw, subject to a minimum withdrawal amount of 
          two hundred fifty dollars ($250), all or a portion of such Matching 
          Contributions, regardless of whether the Participants have completed a 
          Period of Participation of five (5) years. 
 
     (b)  The portion of a Philips Participant's Transferred Account Balance 
          attributable to after-tax contributions under the Philips Plan shall 
          be maintained in two separate sub-accounts under the Plan - (i) one 
          sub-account for after-tax contributions made prior to January 1, 1987, 
          together with earnings thereon, and (ii) a second sub-account for 
          after-tax contributions made after December 31, 1986, together with 
          earnings thereon. 
 
(2)  In-Service Distributions of Matching Contributions After Age 70-1/2: 
     Notwithstanding section 7.3 of the Plan, with respect to Participants who 
     attain age seventy and one-half (70-1/2) prior to January 1, 1999, such 
     Participants may withdraw, after attaining age seventy and one-half and 
     subject to a minimum withdrawal amount of two hundred fifty dollars ($250), 
     all or a part of the Participants' Transferred Account Balances 
     attributable 
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     to Matching Contributions, regardless of whether the Participants have 
     completed a Period of Participation of five (5) years. 
 
D.   This paragraph D describes special withdrawal and distribution provisions 
applicable to Participants with Transferred Account Balances from the E-Systems, 
Inc. Employee Savings Plan: 
 
(1)  Insured Annuity Distribution Option: Notwithstanding section 8.3 of the 
     Plan, Participants can elect to receive their Transferred Account Balances 
     in accordance with one of the following distribution options: 
 
     (a)  Payment in a single, lump-sum; or 
 
     (b)  Payment in the form of an annuity contract purchased from an insurance 
          company. The election of an annuity and the distribution of the 
          annuity contract shall be subject to the requirements imposed by 
          sections 401(a)(11) and 417 of the Code. 
 
(2)  Pre-April 1, 1995 Death Beneficiaries: Notwithstanding section 8.2(c) of 
     the Plan, Beneficiaries of Participants who died prior to April 1, 1995 can 
     defer the commencement of distributions in accordance with the provisions 
     of section 401(a)(9) of the Code. 
 
E.   This paragraph E describes special withdrawal and distribution provisions 
applicable to Participants with Transferred Account Balances from the Serv-Air, 
Inc. Savings and Retirement Plan: 
 
(1)  Installment Distribution Option: Notwithstanding section 8.3 of the Plan, 
     Participants can elect to receive their Transferred Account Balances in 
     accordance with one of the following distribution options: 
 
     (a)  Payment in a single, lump-sum; or 
 
     (b)  Payment in substantially equal installments over a period certain 
          designated by the Participant, which period shall not exceed the life 
          expectancy of the Participant or the joint life expectancies of the 
          Participant and his or her Beneficiary. 
 
F.   This paragraph F describes special withdrawal and distribution provisions 
applicable to Participants with Transferred Account Balances from the Savings 
and Investment Plan of Standard Missile Company, L.L.C.: 
 
(1)  Installment Distribution Option: Notwithstanding section 8.3 of the Plan, 
     Participants can elect to receive their Transferred Account Balances in 
     accordance with one of the following distribution options: 
 
     (a)  Payment in a single, lump-sum; or 
 
     (b)  Payment in substantially equal installments over a period certain 
          designated by the Participant, which period shall not exceed the life 
          expectancy of the 
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          Participant or the joint life expectancies of the Participant and his 
          or her Beneficiary. 
 
(2)  In-Service Distributions of Employer Contributions: Notwithstanding ARTICLE 
     VII of the Plan, subject to the terms and conditions of section 7.7, after 
     completing a Period of Participation of five (5) years or more, a 
     Participant may withdraw all or a portion of his or her Transferred Account 
     Balance attributable to employer contributions under the Savings and 
     Investment Plan of Standard Missile Company, L.L.C. 
 
(3)  Full Vesting Following Layoff: Notwithstanding ARTICLE VI, a Participant 
     shall have a nonforfeitable right to all amounts in the Participant's 
     Transferred Account Balance following a layoff. For this purpose, the term 
     "layoff" shall mean an involuntary interruption of service due to reduction 
     of work force with or without the possibility of recall to employment when 
     conditions warrant. 
 
II.  Provisions Effective After March 31, 2002 
 
     This Section II of Exhibit B includes the special withdrawal and 
distribution provisions applicable after March 31, 2002. Section I of Exhibit B 
includes the special withdrawal and distribution provisions applicable on and 
after January 1, 1999 and before April 1, 2002. This Section II of Exhibit B 
includes the special provisions applicable to the Transferred Account Balances 
from the following retirement plans: 
 
  A.   Hughes Section 401(k) Savings Plan 
 
  B.   The 401(k) Plan for Employees of MESC Electronic Systems, Inc. 
 
  B.   The 401(k) Plan for Bargaining Unit Employees of MESC Electronic Systems, 
       Inc. 
 
  C.   E-Systems, Inc. Employee Savings Plan 
 
A.   This paragraph A describes special withdrawal and distribution provisions 
applicable to Participants with Transferred Account Balances from the Hughes 
Section 401(k) Savings Plan: 
 
(1)  Directed Transfer to Account Plan: Notwithstanding section 8.3 of the Plan, 
     a Participant who meets all of the requirements listed below may elect in 
     writing on a form provided by the Administrator for this purpose to have 
     his Transferred Account Balance transferred to the Hughes Personal 
     Retirement Account Plan ("Account Plan") and applied to the purchase of an 
     immediate annuity, in accordance with the applicable annuity factors and 
     other provisions of the Account Plan. The requirements that must be met 
     are: 
 
     (a) the Participant has had a Severance from Service; 
 
     (b) the Participant, as of the Severance from Service Date, was a 
         participant in the Account Plan; 
 
     (c) the Participant is entitled to an immediate distribution of his or her 
         accrued benefits under the Account Plan in the form of an annuity or a 
         lump sum; 
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     (d)  the Participant has irrevocably elected to receive his accrued benefit 
          under the Account Plan in the form of an immediate annuity; and 
 
     (e)  the Participant was not, immediately prior to such Severance from 
          Service - (i) a union employee whose terms of employment were the 
          subject of a collective bargaining agreement or the subject of 
          negotiation by a labor union or other labor organization, or (ii) an 
          employee of CAE Vanguard Inc. or CAE ScreenPlates, Inc. or any 
          subsidiary thereof. 
 
(2)  Special Distribution Rules for March 31, 1990 Account Balances: This 
     subsection applies to Participants who had an account in the Hughes Section 
     401(k) Savings Plan on March 31, 1990 (a "3/31/90 Member"). In addition, 
     the special distribution rules available to 3/31/90 Members apply solely 
     with respect to the value of such account on the March 31, 1990 valuation 
     date under the plan (the "3/31/90 Balance"). 
 
     (a)  Additional Methods of Distribution: Notwithstanding section 8.3 of the 
          Plan, a 3/31/90 Member shall have the following additional forms of 
          distribution elections available with respect to his 3/31/90 Balance: 
 
          (i)  withdrawal in a single lump sum distribution of the amount 
               credited to the Participant's 3/31/90 Balance attributable to 
               voluntary after-tax contributions with or without the deferral of 
               the receipt in a single lump sum distribution of the 
               Participant's 3/31/90 Balance attributable to pre-tax 
               contributions and rollover contributions to a date no later than 
               the April first (1st) following the calendar year during which 
               the Participant attains age seventy and one-half (70-1/2). 
 
B.   This paragraph B describes special withdrawal and distribution provisions 
applicable to Participants with Transferred Account Balances from The 401(k) 
Plan for Employees of MESC Electronic Systems, Inc. or The 401(k) Plan for 
Bargaining Unit Employees of MESC Electronic Systems, Inc.: 
 
(1)  Special Distribution Provisions for Philips Participants: This paragraph 
     describes special withdrawal and recordkeeping requirements applicable to 
     Participants whose Transferred Account Balances include assets transferred 
     from the North American Philips Corporation Employee Savings Plan effective 
     as of October 23, 1993 (hereinafter referred to as "Philips Participants" 
     and "Philips Assets"). 
 
     (a)  Notwithstanding section 7.3 of the Plan to the contrary, with respect 
          to Matching Contributions attributable to Philips Assets, Philips 
          Participants may withdraw, subject to a minimum withdrawal amount of 
          two hundred fifty dollars ($250), all or a portion of such Matching 
          Contributions, regardless of whether the Participants have completed a 
          Period of Participation of five (5) years or attained age fifty-nine 
          and one-half (59-1/2). 
 
     (b)  The portion of a Philips Participant's Transferred Account Balance 
          attributable to after-tax contributions under the Philips Plan shall 
          be maintained in two separate sub-accounts under the Plan - (i) one 
          sub-account for after-tax contributions made prior to January 1, 1987, 
          together with earnings thereon, and (ii) a second sub-account for 
          after-tax contributions made after December 31, 1986, together with 
          earnings thereon. 
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C.   This paragraph C describes special withdrawal and distribution provisions 
applicable to Participants with Transferred Account Balances from the E-Systems, 
Inc. Employee Savings Plan: 
 
(1)  Pre-April 1, 1995 Death Beneficiaries: Notwithstanding section 8.2(c) of 
     the Plan, Beneficiaries of Participants who died prior to April 1, 1995 can 
     defer the commencement of distributions in accordance with the provisions 
     of section 401(a)(9) of the Code. 
 



 
 
                                    Exhibit C 
 
            Designation of Prior Year Method for ADP and ACP Testing 
                  (Plan sections 1.3(b) and 4.11(c)(1) and (2)) 
 
     Except as otherwise provided below, for Plan Years beginning after December 
31, 1996, the Administrator shall use the "Current Year Method" for complying 
with the nondiscrimination requirements in sections 401(k) and (m) of the Code: 
 
Testing Plan *                                                      Plan Year(s) 
- ------------                                                        ------------ 
 
 
 
*    The "Testing Plan" can be the entire Plan, or one or more disaggregated 
"Testing Plans" as permitted under the applicable regulations or other guidance. 
 



 
                                                                      Exhibit 12 
 
                                RAYTHEON COMPANY 
                       STATEMENT REGARDING COMPUTATION OF 
                   RATIO OF EARNINGS TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES 
                          AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS 
                  (dollar amounts in millions except for ratio) 
    (excludes RE&C for all periods except for interest, which includes RE&C) 
          (excludes AIS for all periods except for 1997, includes AIS 
                          interest for all periods) (1) 
 
 
 
                                                             FISCAL YEAR ENDED                            SIX MONTHS ENDED 
                                               1997      1998      1999      2000       2001       June 30, 2002    July 1, 2001 
                                             --------- --------- --------- ---------  ----------   ---------------  -------------- 
                                                                                                
Income from continuing operations before 
   taxes per statements of income            $    760  $  1,579  $    961  $    837   $     112    $          533   $         400 
 
Add: 
Fixed charges                                     429       813       859       876         807               346             420 
Amortization of capitalized interest                2         2         2         2           2                 1               1 
 
Less: 
Capitalized interest                                4         2         2         2           1                 -               - 
                                             --------- --------- --------- ---------  ----------   ---------------  -------------- 
       Income as adjusted                    $  1,187  $  2,392  $  1,820  $  1,713   $     920    $          880   $         821 
                                             ========= ========= ========= =========  ==========   ===============  ============== 
 
Fixed charges: 
Portion of rents representative of 
   interest factor                           $     28  $     72  $    117  $     95   $      92    $           46   $          46 
Interest costs                                    397       739       740       779         714               300             374 
Capitalized interest                                4         2         2         2           1                 -               - 
                                             --------- --------- --------- ---------  ----------   ---------------  -------------- 
       Fixed charges                              429       813       859       876         807               346             420 
                                             --------- --------- --------- ---------  ----------   ---------------  -------------- 
 
Equity security distributions                       -         -         -         -          78 (2)             7               3 
                                             --------- --------- --------- ---------  ----------   ---------------  -------------- 
 
Combined fixed charges and preferred 
   stock dividends                           $    429  $     813 $    859  $    876   $     885    $          353   $         423 
                                             ========= ========= ========= =========  ==========   ===============  ============== 
 
Ratio of earnings to combined fixed 
   charges and preferred stock dividends          2.8       2.9       2.1       2.0         1.0               2.5             1.9 
                                             ========= ========= ========= =========  ==========   ===============  ============== 
 
 
 
(1)     The ratios for all periods presented, except for 1997, have been 
        restated to exclude AIS, which was sold in the first quarter of 2002 and 
        is included in discontinued operations. The Company determined that it 
        was impracticable to exclude AIS in 1997 due to the significant 
        acquisitions, divestitures, and reorganizations that occurred during 
        1997. 
 
(2)     Earnings of $78 million were required to cover $7 million of equity 
        security distributions because the Company's effective tax rate for the 
        year ended December 31, 2001 was 91.1 percent. 
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                            CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
                             18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 
                      AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF 
                         THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Raytheon Company (the "Company") on 
Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2002 as filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Daniel P. Burnham, 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 
U.S.C. ss. 1350, as adopted pursuant to ss.906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 
2002, that: 
 
     (1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 
 
     (2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all 
material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the 
Company. 
 
/s/ Daniel P. Burnham 
 
Daniel P. Burnham 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
August 14, 2002 
 
 
 



 
 
 
                                                                  Exhibit 99.2 
 
 
 
                            CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 
                             18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 
                      AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF 
                         THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
 
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Raytheon Company (the "Company") on 
Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2002 as filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Franklyn A. Caine, 
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. ss. 1350, as adopted pursuant to ss.906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 
 
     (1)  The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 
 
     (2)  The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all 
material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the 
Company. 
 
/s/ Franklyn A. Caine 
 
Franklyn A. Caine 
Senior Vice President and 
Chief Financial Officer 
August 14, 2002 
 


